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Movant Jussie Smollett, by his attorneys, respectfully requests that the Court enter a stay
of the proceedings against Movant in the matter 20 CR 03050-01, until its disposition of Movant’s
Motion for Supervisory Order. In further support of the Emergency Motion for Stay, Plaintiffs
state as follows:

INTRODUCTION

Movant has sought a Supervisory Order from the Court to vacate the Orders of June 21,
2019 and Order of August 23, 2019, entered by Respondent, Honorable Michael Toomin, that
appointed a special prosecutor and subsequently appointed Daniel Webb as the special prosecutor
with an overly broad delegation of authority and contrary to the requirements of Illinois law. See
55 ILCS 5/3-9008. The Orders that are subject of the Motion for Supervisory Order have led to
the second indictment of Movant and the filing of additional charges against him in the matter, 20
CR 03050-01. Mr. Smollett faces an arraignment on February 24, 2019.

As set forth in the Motion for Supervisory Order and Suggestions in Support, the law is
clear that Respondent exceeded its authority by appointing a special prosecutor so that the resulting
indictment of Mr. Smollett, on the same charges that were dismissed by the State’s Attorney, are
improper. Thus, any and all actions resulting from the improper appointment of a special
prosecutor are void so that the charges in matter No. are also improper. A stay is necessary to
prevent the unlawful, second prosecution of Movant, based on the improper appointment of a
special prosecutor, while the Court considers Movant’s Motion for Supervisory Order.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On January 29, 2019, Mr. Smollett was the victim of a racist and homophobic attack by
two masked men. Although Mr. Smollett was initially treated as the victim of a hate crime, the
Chicago Police Department later accused Mr. Smollett of staging the hate crime and filing a false
police report and on March 7, 2019, a felony indictment was filed against Mr. Smollett in the

Circuit Court of Cook County, case number 19 CR 3104, alleging 16 counts of disorderly conduct,
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namely filing a false police report in violation of Chapter 720, Act 5, Section 26-1(a)(4) of the
Illinois Compiled Statutes Act of 1992, as amended.

Subsequently, on March 26, 2019, the State's Attorney's Office moved to nolle pros all 16
counts. The Honorable Steven G. Watkins granted the motion and dismissed the case against
Movant. The $10,000.00 bond Movant had posted was forfeited, as agreed by the parties.

On April 5, 2019, Sheila M. O'Brien, in pro se,! filed a Petition to Appoint a Special
Prosecutor to preside over all further proceedings in the matter of the People of the State of Illinois
v. Jussie Smollett (hereafter “Petition”). SR12. On May 10, 2019, Judge Martin “transferred” the
matter to Judge Michael Toomin of the Juvenile Justice Division.?

On June 21, 2019, Respondent issued a written order granting the appointment of a special
prosecutor "to conduct an independent investigation of any person or office involved in all aspects
of the case entitled the People of the State of Illinois v. Jussie Smollett, No. 19 CR 0310401, and
if reasonable grounds exist to further prosecute Smollett, in the interest of justice the special
prosecutor may take such action as may be appropriate to effectuate that result. Additionally, in
the event the investigation establishes reasonable grounds to believe that any other criminal offense
was committed in the course of the Smollett matter, the special prosecutor may commence the
prosecution of any crime as may be suspected." SR51. On July 19, 2019, Movant Jussie Smollett

filed four motions: (1) Motion for the Substitution for Cause of the Honorable Michael P. Toomin,

! Ms. O'Brien had no relation to the case; rather, she asserted standing based on her status as a
resident of Cook County who was unsatisfied with the unexplained dismissal of charges against
Mr. Smollett..

2 Citations here are to the Supporting Record filed herewith.

> On May 2, 2019, the parties appeared before Judge LeRoy Martin, Jr. on the various motions that
had been filed. During the hearing, Ms. O'Brien filed a suggestion of recusal based on recent
media reports that Judge Martin's son works for the Cook County State's Attorney's Office as an
Assistant State's Attorney. After argument by Ms. O'Brien and counsel, the court adjourned the
hearing until May 10, 2019 so Judge Martin could read and consider Ms. O'Brien's suggestion of
recusal and any response the State's Attorney's Office chose to file. The court subsequently found
that recusal was unnecessary, but transferred the matter "in the interest of justice."

2
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Judge Presiding, and for Appointment of Another Cook County Judge to Hear Concurrently Filed
Motions; (2) Motion to Intervene Instanter; (3) Motion for Reconsideration of the June 21, 2019
Order Granting the Appointment of a Special Prosecutor; and (4) Motion to Disclose Transcripts
of Grand Jury Testimony. SR74, SR83, SR93, SR246. The four motions were opposed by
Petitioner Sheila O'Brien, SR265-SR309, and replied to by Mr. Smollett. SR315. On July 31,
among other matters, Respondent denied Movant for leave to intervene. In its denial of the motion

to intervene, Respondent stated:

Post-judgment intervention is limited to situations where it is the only way of
protecting the rights of the intervenor.’

That is not applicable here for the reasons I earlier expressed, that it's not the -- has
no direct effect upon the rights of the intervenor. These issues could be raised at
any time if, in fact, Mr. Smollett was prosecuted.

SR364 (emphasis added).

On August 23, 2019, over Movant’s objection, Respondent appointed Dan K. Webb, a
private attorney as the special prosecutor to preside over further proceedings in this matter. On
February 11, 2020, pursuant to an investigation led by Mr. Webb, a special grand jury indicted
Movant of six counts of disorderly conduct, namely filing a false police report in violation of
Chapter 720, Act 5, Section 26-1(a)(4) of the Illinois Compiled Statutes Act of 1992, as amended.
Movant's arraignment on the new indictment is scheduled on February 24, 2020.

ARGUMENT

Movants respectfully request that this Court stay proceedings in matter No. 20 CR 03050-
01 pending the Court’s consideration of the Motion for Supervisory Order. Subjecting Movant to
a criminal prosecution that stems from an unlawful appointment of the special prosecutor will

clearly create undue harm to Movant.
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Typically, the issue of a stay arises when a stay is sought pending an appeal. In such cases,
there is no exhaustive list of factors for a court to consider because “[t]here are numerous different
factors which may be relevant when the court makes its determination and, by necessity, these
factors will vary depending on the facts of the case.” Stacke v. Bates, 138 1l1. 2d 295, 305 (1990).
There is no “ritualistic formula” for a court to determine whether to grant a stay because “the court,
of necessity, is engaged in a balancing process as to the rights of the parties, in which all elements
bearing on the equitable nature of the relief sought should be considered.” /d. at 308-09. “Factors
to be considered in reaching a decision on a motion to stay include the orderly administration of
justice and judicial economy.” Cullinan v. Fehrenbacher, 2012 IL App (3d) 120005, q 10.

Here, subjecting Movant to a second criminal prosecution creates a clear harm that,
although not a controlling factor, “should be considered in light of the other factors.” Stacke, 138
I1l. 2d at 307. Moreover, “the most persuasive factor ... to which other courts often look, is the
movant’s likelihood of success on the merits.” Stacke, 138 111. 3d at 306.

Respondent clearly exceeded its authority by appointing a special prosecutor so that the
resulting charges against Movant are improper and the Court should enter a stay of the criminal
proceedings pending resolution of the Motion for Supervisory Order. As set forth in the Motion
for Supervisory Order, and incorporated herein by reference, Movant is likely to succeed on the
merits of his Motion for a Supervisory Order. Respondent exceeded its authority by appointing a
special prosecutor in violation of 55 ILCS 5/3-9008(a-15) because despite the clear requirements
of subsection (a-15), the State’s Attorney did not file a petition to recuse herself from the initial
prosecution of Movant so that a special prosecutor could not lawfully be appointed on that basis.
For this reason alone, the appointment of a special prosecutor was improper. In addition,
Respondent ruled that the entire initial prosecution of Mr. Smollett was conducted without proper
authority and therefore void. Such a ruling was without basis in fact or law. Movant is likely to

succeed on the merits of its Motion for Supervisory Order.
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Further, a stay will promote the administration of justice and judicial economy. In the
event the Court grants the Motion for Supervisory Order, any resources expended in the criminal
matter will be unnecessary. Thus, a stay would promote judicial economy.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, Movant respectfully requests that the Court
enter a stay of the proceedings in matter No 20 CR03050-01 pending its disposition of the Motion
for Supervisory Order and enter any other relief the Court deems fair and just.

Dated: February 24, 2020 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ William J. Quinlan

William J. Quinlan

Lisa H. Quinlan

David Hutchinson

THE QUINLAN LAW FIRM, LLC
Willis Tower

233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 6142
Chicago, Illinois 60606

(312) 883-5500
wijg@quinlanfirm.com
lquinlan@gquinlanfirm.com
dhutchinson@gquinlanfirm.com

Tina Glandian, Rule 707 Admitted
GERAGOS & GERAGOS, APC
256 5th Avenue
New York, NY 10010

(213) 625-3900
tina(@geragos.com

Attorneys for Jussie Smollett
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No.

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF ILLINOIS

JUSSIE SMOLLETT, Appeal from the Circuit Court of Cook
County, Illinois, County Department,

Movant, Criminal Division

Circuit Court No.

)
)
)
)
)
V. ) No. 19 MR 00014
)
)
)
)
)

THE HON. MICHAEL P. TOOMIN, The Honorable
Michael P. Toomin,

Respondent. Judge Presiding.

NOTICE OF FILING
To:  See Certificate of Service
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on February 24, 2020, I caused the foregoing Motion to

Stay Proceedings; Supporting Record; and [Proposed] Order to be electronically submitted
with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Illinois by using the Odyssey eFilelL system.

Dated: February 24, 2020 THE QUINLAN LAW FIRM

/s/ William J. Quinlan

William J. Quinlan

THE QUINLAN LAW FIRM

Willis Tower

233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 6142
Chicago, Illinois 60606

(312) 629-6012
wjq@quinlanfirm.com
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No.

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF ILLINOIS

JUSSIE SMOLLETT, Appeal from the Circuit Court of Cook
County, Illinois, County Department,

Movant, Criminal Division

Circuit Court No.

)
)
)
)
)
V. ) No. 19 MR 00014
)
)
)
)
)

THE HON. MICHAEL P. TOOMIN, The Honorable
Michael P. Toomin,

Respondent. Judge Presiding.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

William J. Quinlan, an attorney, certifies that on February 24, 2020, he caused the Motion
to Stay Proceedings; Supporting Record; and [Proposed] Order to be electronically submitted
to the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Illinois, by using the Odyssey eFileIL system.

He further certifies that on February 24, 2020, he caused the above-named filings to be
served on the following parties as indicated below.

The Hon. Michael P. Toomin Dan K. Webb

Leighton Criminal Court Court Appointed Special Prosecutor

2600 S. California Ave., Rm. 400 WINSTON & STRAN LLP

Chicago, Illinois 60608 35 W. Wacker Drive

(service via hand delivery) Chicago, IL 60601-9703
DWebb@winston.com

(service via electronic mail)
Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801 Cathy McNeil Stein

Chicago, IL 60601 Assistant State’s Attorney Chief
sobrien368@aol.com Civil Actions Bureau

(service via electronic mail) 500 Richard J. Daley Center

Chicago, IL 60602
cathymcneil.stein@cookcountyil.gov
(service via electronic mail)
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Valerie L. Hletko

Buckley LLP

353 N. Clark St., Suite 3600

Chicago, IL 60654 vhletko@buckleyfirm.com
(service via electronic mail)

Risa Lanier

Assistant State’s Attorney

Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office
2650 S. California Avenue, 11D40
Chicago, IL 60608
risa.lanier@cookcountyil.gov

(service via electronic mail)

Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the Code of Civil
Procedure, the undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this instrument are true and

correct.

/s/ William J. Quinlan

William J. Quinlan
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No.

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF ILLINOIS

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Cook
County, Illinois, County Department,
Criminal Division

JUSSIE SMOLLETT,
Movant,

Circuit Court No.
No. 19 MR 00014

THE HON. MICHAEL P. TOOMIN, The Honorable
Michael P. Toomin,

Respondent. Judge Presiding.

N’ N N N N N N N N N N N

ORDER

This matter coming to be heard on Movant’s Emergency Motion to Stay Proceedings, and
the Court having been fully advised in the premises, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that further
proceedings in matter No 20 CR03050-01 are immediately stayed pending disposition of the
Motion for Supervisory Order.

Hereby entered the day of February, 2020:

JUSTICE JUSTICE

JUSTICE JUSTICE

JUSTICE JUSTICE
JUSTICE

Prepared By:

THE QUINLAN LAW FIRM, LLC

Willis Tower

233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 6142
Chicago, Illinois 60606
wjq@quinlanfirm.com

il
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AFFIDAVIT OF WILLIAM J. QUINLAN

William J. Quinlan, being duly sworn, states as follows:

1. Iam a principal of The Quinlan Law Firm, LLC, counsel for Movant Jussie Smollett,
in the matter styled People of the State of Illinois v. Smollett, Case No. 20 CR 03050-01, pending
in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois, County Department, Criminal Division and the
instant action.

2. I submit this Affidavit in support of the Emergency Motion for Supervisory Order and
Emergency Motion to Stay Proceedings filed by Movant. This Affidavit is submitted to
authenticate the documents in the Supporting Record in accordance with Supreme Court Rules
328 and 383(a). I have personal knowledge of the matters stated below and would testify
competently thereto if called as a witness

3. Included in the Supporting Record at SR1-SR28 is a true and correct copy of the
Petition for the Appointment of Special Prosecutor, filed by Sheila O’Brien on April 5, 2019.

4.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR29-SR36 is a true and correct copy of Jussie
Smollett’s Opposition to Petition to Appoint a Special Prosecutor and Motion to Petition the
Supreme Court to Appoint an Out-of-County Judge to Hear the Petition, filed on April 18, 2019.

5. Included in the Supporting Record at SR37-SR50 is a true and correct copy of the Cook
County State’s Attorney’s Objection to the Petition to Appoint a Special Prosecutor, filed on April
30, 2019.

6. Included in the Supporting Record at SR51-SR73 is a true and correct copy of the Order
Granting the Appointment of a Special Prosecutor, entered on June 21, 2019.

7. Included in the Supporting Record at SR74-SR82 is a true and correct copy of Jussie
Smollett’s Motion for Substitution of Judge for Cause and for Appointment of Another Cook
County Judge to Hear Concurrently Filed Motions, filed on July 19, 2019.

8.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR83-SR92 is a true and correct copy of Jussie

Smollett’s Motion to Intervene Instanter, filed on July 19, 2019.
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9.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR93-SR245 is a true and correct copy of Jussie
Smollett’s Motion for Reconsideration of the June 21, 2019 Order Granting the Appointment of a
Special Prosecutor, filed on July 19, 2019.

10.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR246-SR264 is a true and correct copy of Jussie
Smollett’s Motion to Disclose Transcripts of Grand Jury Testimony, filed on July 19, 2019.

11.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR265-SR268 is a true and correct copy of
Petitioner’s Response to Motion for Substitution of Judge for Cause, filed on July 25, 2019.

12.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR269-SR302 is a true and correct copy of
Petitioner’s Response to Motion to Intervene filed on July 25, 2019.

13.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR303-SR306 is a true and correct copy of
Petitioner’s Response to Motion for Reconsideration filed on July 25, 2019.

14.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR307-SR309 is a true and correct copy of
Petitioner’s Response to Motion to Disclose Transcripts of Grand Jury Testimony filed on July 25,
2019.

15. Included in the Supporting Record at SR310-SR314 is a true and correct copy of
Petitioner’s Information to Spread of Record filed on July 25, 2019.

16.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR315-SR336 is a true and correct copy of Jussie
Smollett’s Joint Reply to Information to Spread of Record Concerning Pleadings Filed on July 19,
2019 and Petitioner’s Responses to Motions, filed on July 30, 2019.

17.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR337-SR369 is a true and correct copy of the
Circuit Court Report of Proceedings in case number 19 MR 00014 on July 31, 2019.

18.  Included in the Supporting Record at SR370-SR372 is a true and correct copy of the
Order Appointing Dan K. Webb as the Special Prosecutor, entered on August 23, 2019.

Under penalties as provided by law pursuant to Section 1-109 of the Code of Civil Procedure,

the undersigned certifies that the statements set forth in this instrument are true and correct.

Dated: February 24, 2020
/s/ William J. Quinlan
William J. Quinlan
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IN THE CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

CRIMINAL DIVISION

)

)

)
IN RE APPOINTMENT OF ) 19 MR 00014
SPECIAL PROSECUTOR ) Hon. LeRoy Martin, Jr.

)

)

NOTICE OF FILING i

To:  Patricia Holmes (pholmes@rshe-law.com) : R
Brian O’Connor Watson (bwatson(@rshe-law.com) L R
Raley Safer Holmes & Cancila, LLP. S oy
70 West Madison Street, Suite 2900 v Ry
Chicago, Illinois 60602 S

Sheila M. O’Brien

Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
Chicago, Illinois 60601

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on April 30, 2019, I caused to be filed with the Clerk of the
Circuit Court, Criminal Division, COOK COUNTY STATE’S ATTORNEY’S OBJECTION
TO THE PETITION TO APPOINT A SPECIAL PROSECUTOR, a copy of which is
attached and hereby served upon you.

KIMBERLY M., FOXX
State’s Attorney of Cook County

By:  /s/ Cathy McNeil Stein
Cathy McNeil Stein
Assistant State’s Attorney
Chief, Civil Actions Bureau
500 Richard J. Daley Center
Chicago, 1llinois 60602
(312) 603-5365

cathymeneil.stein@cookcountyil.gov

'SR037
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Cathy McNeil Stein, Assistant State's Attorney, hereby certify that I caused an exact
copy of the above notice, together with the document referenced herein, to be sent via email to -
Patricia Holmes and Brian O’Connor Watson and to be hand delivered to Sheila M. O’ Brien on
April 30, 2019 before 5:00 p.m.

/s/ Cathy McNeil Stein
Cathy McNeil Stein, ASA

SR038
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY

COUNTY DEPARTMENT-CRIMINAL DIVISION

No. 19 MR 00014
The Hon. Leroy Martin, Jr.

IN RE APPOINTMENT OF A
SPECIAL PROSECUTOR

COOK COUNTY STATE’S ATTORNEY’S OBJECTION TO
THE PETITION TO APPOINT A SPECIAL PROSECUTOR

Now comes KIMBERLY M, FOXX, State’s Attorney of Cook County, Illinois, through

her Assistant, Cathy McNeil Stein, to object to the petition for the appointment of a §5§pial

-\‘ - e
prosecutor. In support of her objection, the State’s Attorney states as follows: -+ o

The petition fails because the standard for the appointment of a special prosecutor — the:

existence of an actual conflict of interest, as demonstrated by “sufficient facts an_d_, c{'r,:i_,d'énce,”@

has not been met. Further, petitioner is not an “interested person” under the specigl prosecutor
statute and therefore lacks standing to file this petition, Fundamentally, what petitioner seeks is
an inquiry into the State’s Attorney’s Office’s handling of the matter. While such an inquiry is
an improper basis for a special prosecutor appointment, that does not mean it will not occur,
because the very type of review that petitioner seeks is already being conducted by the Cook

County Office of the Independent Inspector General, at the State’s Attorney’s request. The

appointment of a special prosecutor would only duplicate or interfere with that review.

For these reasons, the petition should be denied.
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BACKGROUND
1 Petitioner Sheila O’Brien seeks the appeintment of a special prosecutor

purportedly to “investigate and prosecute [the case of] the People of the State of Tllinois v. Jussie
Smollett;” to “investigate the actions of any person and/or office involved in the investigation,
prosecution and dismissal of [the case of the] People of the State of Illinois v. Jussie Smollett;”
and to investigate the procedures of the Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office regarding
charging decisions, bond, deferred prosecution and recusals._(Petition at 16-18) Specifically,
petitioner claims that State’s Attorney Foxx should be disqualified under 55 ILCS 5/3—9008(&-5)
because she was “unable to fulfill her duties” in the Smollett maiter due to a potential conflict of
interest (Petition at 13) and because she announced she had recused herself from the matter,
indicating a subjective belicf that she had a disabling conflict and was therefore unable to fulfill
her duties, but never filed a formal motion of recusal with the court or sought the appointment of
a special prosecutor. (Petition at 14-15) Petitioner also claims that the appointment of a special
prosecutor isA necessary because State’s Attorney Foxx herself has called for an “outside,
nonpolitical review” of the State’s Attorney’s Office’s conduct in handling the Smollett matter.
(Petition at 15-16) Finally, petitioner claims that she has sufficient standing to bring the petition
because she is “a resident of the State of Illinois, the County of Cook and the City of Chicago and is
a taxpayer in each jurisdiction,” and because she is a former Cook County Circuit Court Judge
and Illinois Appellate Court Justice who “has been associated with the Illinois justice system for
her entire career” and whose “personal reputation as a member of that system is being harmed

and questioned” based what occurred in the Smollett case. (Petition at 3-4)

SR040
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ARGUMENT

2. Petitioner does not — and cannot — meet the standard for the appointment of a

special prosecutor, because the State’s Attorney had no actual conflict in this case, nor has
petitioner brought forth any facts or evidence of such a conflict. What petitioner truly seeks — an
independent inquiry into the decisions that were made by the State’s Attorney’s Office in this

matter — has already been called for by the State’s Attorney herself, and is underway.

3. As the .Illinois Supreme Court has long recognized, “the State’s Attorney is a
constitutional officer who represents the people in matters affected with a public interest.”
County of Cook ex rel. Rifkin v. Bear Stearns & Co., 215 111, 2d 466, 475 (2005) (quoting In re
C.J., 166 111. 2d 264, 269 (1995)); see aiso Ill. Const. 1970, Art. VI, § 19. Thus, each elected or
appointed State’s Attorney is vested with constitutional and common law authority which cannot
be transferred to another attorney. People ex rel. Alvarez v. Gaughan, 2016 1L 120110, 1% 26-30;
People ex rel. Kuntsman v. Nagano, 389 1ll. 231, 249-50 (1945). Inherent in this constitutional
and common law authority is “the exclusive discretion to decide which of several charges shall
be brought, or whether to prosecute at all.” People v. Jamison, 197 Ill. 2d 135, 161-62 (2001).
See also People v. Novak, 163 111.2d 93, 113 (1994) (“It is settled *that the State’s Attorney, as a
member of the executive branch of government, is vested with exclusive discretion in the
initiation and management of a criminal prosecution. That discretion includes the decision
whether to prosecute at all, as well as to choose which of several charges shall be brought.”)
(quoting People ex rel. Daley v. Moran, 94 T, 2d 41, 45-46 (1983)). See also 55 ILCS 5/3-

9005(a)(1) (“The duty of cach State's attorney shall be . . . [tjo commence and prosecute all

3
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actions, suits, indictments and prosecutions, civil and criminal, in the circuit court for [her]

county, in which the people of the State or county may be concerned.”)

4. Furthermore, it has long been recognized that a State’s Attorney’s authority to
prosecute, or not prosecute, necessarily encompasses the ability “to nol-pros a charge when, in
his judgment, the prosecution should not continue.” People v. DeBlieck, 181 Tll. App. 3d 600,
603 (2nd Dist. 1989). See also People v. Norris, 214 111, 2d 92, 104 (2005) (“A nolle prosequi is
the formal entry of record by the prosecuting attorney which- denotes that he or she is unwilling
to prosecute a case.”); People v. Baes, 94 1. App. 3d 741, 746 (3rd Dist. 1981) (“The prosecutor
has broad discretion to file a nolle prosequi, and the court is required to enter same absent a clear

abuse of discretion.”).

5. Finally, because “‘the State’s Attorney has always enjoyed a wide discretion in
both the initiation and the management of criminal litigation,*” it is well settled that a prosecutor
cannot “be required by a court to justify its discretionary decision|.]” In re Derrico G., 2014 IL
114463, % 62-63 (quoting People ex rel. Carey v. Cousins, 77 1ll. 2d 531, 539 (1979)). See also
People v. Stewart, 121 1ll. 2d 93, 111 (1988) (“‘[Tlhe policy considerations behind a
prosecutor’s traditionally ‘wide discretion’ suggest the impropriety of our requiring prosecutors
to defend their decisions . . . [T]he capacity of prosecutoriél discretion, to provide individualized
justice is “firmly entrenched in American law.’”) (quoting MeCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279,

296, 311-12 (1987)).

6. Nevertheless, because there are circumstances when a duly-elected State’s

Attorney is incapable of performing her duties, the legislature has provided a limited mechanism

4
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for the appointment of a special prosecutor. Specifically, Section 3-9008 provides in pertinent

part:

(a-5) The court on its own motion, or an interested person in a cause or
proceeding, civil or criminal, may file a petition alleging that the State’s
Attorney is sick, absent, or unable to fulfill his or her duties, The court
shall consider the petition, any documents filed in response, and if
necessary, grant a hearing to determine whether the State’s Attorney is
sick, absent, or otherwise unable to fulfill his or her duties. If the court
finds that the State’s Attorney is sick, absent, or otherwise unable to
fulfill his or her duties, the court may appoint some competent attorney
to prosecute or defend the cause or proceeding,

(a-10) The court on its own motion, or an interested person in a cause or
proceeding, civil or criminal, may file a petition alleging that the State’s
Attorney has an actual conflict of interest in the cause or proceeding.
The court shall consider the petition, any documents filed in response,
and if necessary, grant a hearing to determine whether the State’s
Attorney has an actual conflict of interest in the cause or proceeding. If
the court finds that the petitioner has proven by sufficient facts and
evidence that the State’s Attorney has an actual conflict of interest in a
specific case, the court may appoint some competent attorney to
prosecute or defend the cause or proceeding.

(a-15) Notwithstanding subsections (a-5) and (a-10) of this Section, the
State's Attorney may file a petition to recuse himself or herself from a
cause or proceeding for any other reason he or she deems appropriate

and the court shall appoint a special prosecutor as provided in this
Section,

55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (West 2016).

7. Under the plain language of this provision — which was extensively rewritten by
the Illinois General Assembly in 2015 (see Public Act 99-352, eff. Jan, 1, 2016) — it is clear that
a duly-clected State’s Attorney may only be removed from a particular matter over her objection
if she is “sick, absent, or otherwise unable to fulfill his or her duties” (Subsection (a-5)), or “has

an actual conflict of interest in the cause or proceeding.” (Subsection (a-10) (emphasis added)).

5
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8. None of the statutory prerequisites for removal exist in this case. As the Appellate
Court recently held, a special prosecutor can only be appointed over the State’s Attorney’s
objection under Section 3-9008 if she is physically unable to appear on a particular matter or she
suffers from an “actual conflict of interest.” Farmer v. Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office (In
re Appointment of Special Prosecutor), 2019 1L App (Ist) 173173, 97 33, 39. Importantly,
petitioner here does not claim that Steite’s Attorney Foxx is physically unable to appear. As such,
there is no basis for appointment under section 3-9008(a-5). Id. at § 31 (“Because [the petitioner|
makes no argument that the state’s attorney is physically unable to fulfill her duties in this case
due to sickness, absence, or otherwise, the circuit court did not err in denying the petition under
subsection (a-5).”).

9. Moreover, although petitioner claims that appointment of a special prosecutor was
required under subsection (a-15) because the State’s Attorney’s Office publicly announced that
State’s Attorney Foxx was recusing herself from the Smollett matter out of an “abundance of
caution,” it is clear that that statutory provision places the decision to file (or not file) a formal
recusal motion squarely within her exclusive discretion.

10.  Even if there were an appearance of impropriety, it would not provide a valid
basis to grant the petition because the Appellate Court has made clear that such an appearance is
not sufficient to meet the requisite burden under subsection (a-10) of establishing that an “actual
conflict of interest” exists. Farmer, 2019 IL App (1st) 173173, 1 36 (noting that earlier appellate
court decistons allowing for the appointment of a special prosecutor in the absence of proof of an
actual conflict of interest are inconsistent with the language of the newly amended statute and

accepting with approval the argument that “the insertion of the term ‘actual conflict of interests’
6
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forecloses the possibility of a special prosecutor being appointed where there is merely ‘the
appearance of impropriety’™). See also In re Marriage of O'Brien, 2011 IL 109039, | 43
(holding that a motion for substitution of judge must be granted upon a showing of “actual
prejudice,” but rejecting the argument that a showing of an appearance of impropriety is
sufficient because “[t]o so hold would mean that the mere appearance of impropriety would be
enough to force a judge’s removal from a case.”) (emphasis in original)).

11.  Further, as the Farmer court recognized, an “actual conflict” under the statute
only exists where the State’s Attorney is “interested [in the matter] as a private individual or as
an actual party to the proceedings.” Id. at § 39 (citing Environmental Protection Agency v.
Pollution Control Board, 69 1l1. 2d 394, 400-01 (1977)). This has long been the rule in Illinois.
See e.g., People v. Moretti, 415 111. 398, 402-03 (1953) (special prosecutor properly appointed to
investigate and prosecute a double murder because the elected Statefs Attorney was a potential
witness before the grand jury); People v. Doss, 384 Ill. 400, 404-05 (1943) (appointment. of
special prosecutor proper in a criminal libel case where the libelous and defamatory statements
were directed at the elected State’s Attorney); People v. Courtney, 288 111, App. 3d 1025, 1031-
34 (3rd Dist, 1997) (special prosecutor necessary where the defendant in an aggravated criminal
sexual assault case was represented by a lawyer for 14 months who was subsequently elected
State’s Attorney while his trial was still pending); Pebple v. Morley, 287 Ill. App. 3d 499, 503-04
(2nd Dist. 1997) (appointment of special prosecutor not required in an attempt first degree

murder case even though the victim was an employee of the State’s Attorney’s Office).
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12, As petitioner offers no evidence that State’s Attorney Foxx is a party to the -
litigation or was personally interested in the Smollett matter as a private individual, the petition
must be denied.

13, Moreover, petitioner’s status as a taxpayer and an “active member of her
community” (Petition at 3) is not sufficient to render her an “interested person” under Section 3-
9008, If taxpayer status were sufficient to confer standing, anyone could demand the
appointment of special prosecutor. However, Section 3-9008(a-10) limits standing only to
“interested persons,” Petitioner is merely a casual observer and should not be permitted, absent
some showing of particularized interest, to intervene here. In this sense, the question of standing
here melds with the burden of proof. Appointment of a special prosecutor is only appropriate
when “the petitioner has proven by sufficient facts and evidence that the State’s Attorney has an
actual conflict of interest.” 55 ILCS 5/3-9008. Petitioner has not brought forth any facts or
evidence of an actual conflict, because she has none.

14.  Finally, even if petitioner’s abstract concern for the “Ilinois justice system” were
sufficient to confer standing to seek a special prosecutor in this case - which it is not —
petitioner’s concerns were already being proactively addressed by the State’s Attorney herself,
As soon as questions were raised regarding the handling of the Smollett case, State’s Attorney
Foxx issued a public call for an “outside nonpolitical review of how [the Office] handled this
matter.” (“Kim Foxx: I welcome an outside review of how we handled the Jussie Smollett case,”
Chicago Tribune, March 29, 2019,

https://www.chicagotribune.com/news/opinion/commentary/ct-perspec-kim-foxx-jussie-smollett-

20190329-story.html.) The State’s Attorney requested that the Cook County Office of the
8
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Independent Inspector General conduct a review of “the circumstances surrounding the
resolution of criminal charges formerly pending against Jussie Smollett,” and on April 11, 2019,
Inspector General Patrick Blanchard agreed to do so. (4/17/19 letter from Patrick M. Blanchard,

Inspector General, attached hereto as Ex. A),

15.  Because the Independent Inspector General is already investigating the State’s
Attorney’s Office’s actions in the Smollett case, it is clear that the appointment of a special
prosecutor for the purpose of conducting a similar inVestigation would be not only duplicative,
but might even interfere with Mr. Blanchard’s efforts. Specifically, the Inspector General’s
statutory mandate is “to detect, deter and prevent corruption, fraud, waste, mismanagement,
unlawful political discrimination or misconduct in the operation of County government.” Cook

County Ordinance § 2-283,

16.  Further, upon completion of his investigation, the Inspector General is required to
submit a report summarizing his findings to both the State’s Attorney and the President of the
County Board (Cook County Ordinance § 2-288), and to notify an “appropriate law enforcement
authority” if he “determines or suspects that possible criminal conduct has occurred” (Cook
C(‘)unty Ordinance § 2-284(6)). This is precisely the type of investigation that petitioner
anticipates would be conducted by a special prosecutor. As such, there is no need for this Court
to make such an appointment, See Farmer, 2019 IL App (1st) 173173, 920 (noting that Section
3-9008 permits the court ““to exercise its discretion in reviewing the circumstances to determine
the need for such [an appointment]’”) (quoting Sommer v. Goetze, 102 1ll. App. 3d 117, 120 (3rd

Dist. 1981)).
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3-9008 to establish a basis for disqualifying the State’s Attormey or for appointing a special
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CONCLUSION

prosecutor. As such, this Court should deny the petition.
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Respectfully submitted,

KIMBERLY M. FOXX
State's Attorney of Cook County

/s/ Cathy McNeil Stein

Cathy McNeil Stein-

Assistant State’s Attorney

Chief, Civil Actions Bureau

500 Richard J. Daley Center
Chicago, IL 60602

(312) 603-5365
cathymeneil.stein@cookcountyil. gov
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EXHIBIT A
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. THE BOARD QF COMMISSIONERS
TONI PRECKWINKLE PATRICK M. BLANCHARD

PRESIDENT INSPECTOR GENERAL
BRANDONIGHNSON  1eDiaw. PETERNSTIESTRI” 4 e, ‘ y
DENNIS DEER Rl i SRIDGET SAINER ST 69 WEStSWu?t?;%t{;m Street
BILLLOWRY i3 Py JOHN 1L DALEY 1A% Drgn e
STANLEYMOORE 4 Disty BRIDGET DEGNEN 2 P Chicago, [llinois 60662
DEBORAH SIMS £M-DisT LARRYSUFFREDIN 13 Da PHONE (312)-603-0350
DONNAMILLER & DysT. SEOTTR IRITTON 149 s FAX (312).603-9948
ALMAEANAYA T Biey. KEViNT:MORRISON: 137 D i
LUISARROYGIK, gD JEFPREFR.TOBULSKS 1 IsT,

SEANM,.MORRISON 171 Dyer.

April 11,2019

Conﬁdentf'al Via Electronic Mail

Honorable Toni Preckwinkle
and Hororable Members of the Cook County
Board of Commissioners

118 North Clark Street

Chicago, Illinois 60602

Re:  OIIG SAQ Review
Dear President Preckwinkle and Members of the Board of Commissioniers:

‘This letter is written to infotm you that this office has received a request by State’s Attorney
Kim Foxx ‘to conduct an Office of the Independent Inspector General (OIIG) review of the
circumstances surrounding the resofution of criminal charges formerly pending against Jussie
Smollet. As you mayrecall, the Office of the Cook County State’s Attorney (SAQ) has previously
objected to the exercise of jurisdiction by this office over the SAO in relation to other unrelated
issues, State’s Attorney Foxx has stated that her office will cooperate during the course of this
review notwithstanding prior objections to OIIG jurisdiction. Aceordingly, this office will proceed
with this review in accordance with the terms of the Independent Inspector General Ordinance,
Coeok County, 111, Ordinances 07-0-52 (2007).

Thank you for your time and attention fo these issues, Should you have any questions or
wish to discuss this letter further, please-do not hesitate to contact me.

Very truly yours,

A /j’cv‘.ﬁ_.,_{
Patrick M. Blanchard
Independent Inspector General

cc:  Honorable Kim Foxx __
Ms. Lanetta Haynes Turner, Chief of Staff, Office of the President
Ms. Laura Lechowicz Felicione, Special Legal Counsel to the President
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CRIMINAL DIVISION

)
) :
: ) No. 19 MR 00014
IN RE APPOINTMENT OF SPECIAL PROSECUTOR )
)
) - Michael P. Toomin
) Judge Presiding
)
)
) .

ORDER

Petitioner, Sheila O’Brien, 'seeks the appointment of a special prosecutor to reinstate and
further prosecute the case of the People of the State of Illinois v. Jussic Smollett, No. 19 CR
0310401, to investigate the dctiorls of any person or office involved in the investigation,
prosecution and dismissal of that mat‘rer, and to also investigate the procedures of the Cook
County State’d Attorney’s Office regarding charging decisions, bonds, deferred prosecutions and _
recueals.- Respondent, Kim Foxx, State’s Attorney of Cook County, denies that that the Smollett |

- prosecution was compromised, impeded or undermined by -any illegal or improper action and

further cont_ends that petitieﬁer cannot meet the standards for appointment of a special
_prosecutor. Accordingly, respondent maintains the'"_petition should be denied. -

The issue; have been joined by the pleadings and exhibits and following oral arguinerﬁ

the matter was taken under advisement. The court will now address the merits of the petition.
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BACKGROUND

The instant petition has its genesis in a story unique to the anals of the Criminal Court.
The principal character, Jussie Smollett, is an acclaimed actor known to the public from his
performances in the television series, “Empire.” But his talents were not destined to be confined
to that production. Rather, in perhaps the most prominent d_isplay of his acting potential,
Smollett conceived a fantr;,lsy that propelled him from the role of a sympathetic victim of a
vicious homophobic attack to that of la charlatan who fomented a hoax the equal of any twisted
television intrigue. |

Petitioner’s factual allegations stem from a number of articles published in the Chicago
Tribune, the Chicago Sun-times and other newspapers as well as local broadcasts, together with
redacted Chicago Police Department reports and materials recently released by the State’s
Attorney’s Office. Although the court recognizes that portions of these sources may contain
hearsay rather than “facts” within the semblance of a trial record, the materials provide a
backdrop for consideration of the legal issues raised by the petitionl.l

The story begins on January 22, 2019, when Smollett first sought the aid of the Chicago
Police Department. Smollett reported that he was the recipient of an envelope delivered to the
“Empire” studio on Chicago’s West Side. Inside, was an unsettling note with letters apparently
cut out from an unidentifiable publication, forming what appeared to be a racial and homophobic

message that Smollett perceived as a threat. His fear was further heightened by the stick figure

! Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted therein, its value depending upon

the credibility of the declarant. People v. Murphy, 157 TlL. App. 3d 115, 118, (1987); see also I1l. R. Evid. 801 (a)-
(c) (eff. Jan. 1,2011). Yet, certain of such statements may be admissible for other purposes (People v. Davis, 130
Ili. App. 3d 41, 53, (1984), including to simply show that a statement was made, to characterize an act, to show its
effect on the listener, or to explain the steps in an investigation. See M. Graham, Graham’s Handbook of Illinois
Evidence § 801.5, at 763-78 (10th ed. 2010); and IlI. R. Evid. 803 and 804. Admissions and prior inconsistent
statements, which appear prominently in the parties’ submissions, are likewise not considered hearsay. Graham, §§
801.9 and 801.14; and Il. R. Evid. 801(d)(1), (2).
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displayed on the note, holding a gun pointed at the ﬁgufe’s head. Additionally, the envelope
contained a white powder substance that the police later determined to be aspirin. |

“A week later, on January 29, 2019, Smollett’s production manager éalled 911 to report
that Jussie had been attacked by tw6 men outside a local sandwich shop at two o’clock that
morning, Smollett, who is black and gay, later told the police he was physically attagked as he
returned home from an early morning stop at the nearby Subway store. Smollett claimed that
two masked men shouted homophobic and raciél sturs, and as they beat him yelled “This is
MAGA country.” After looping a rope around his neck, the offenders who reportedly Wéré
white, poured “an unknown substance” on him before running away.

When news of the attack was released to the public, members of the United Sates

Congress, television talk show hosts and other public figures expressed outrage. This included

| even the President of the United States who after viewing this story declared, “It doesn’t get
worse, as far as I’m concerned.”

Acting on the belief that what had transpired was potentially a hate crime, the response of
- .law enforcement was swift and certain. On the day following the attack, at least a dozen
detectives combed hundreds of hours of surveillance camera footage in the area Smollett
designated as the scene of the attack. None of the footage revealed anything resembling the
attack. Howéver, detectives did observe iinages of two people in the area, but their faces were
indistinguishable.

As the investigation progressed the police began to focus on two brothers lwho soon came
to be viewed as suspects. On February 13, 2019, as they returned from Nigeria, the brothers

were taken into custody and questioned. The following day their apartment was searched.
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Smollett’s story then began to unravel, Detectivés eventually coﬁc_luded that he had lied
about the attack. The investigation shifted to whether Smollett orchestrated the scenario, paying’
the Nigerians to stage the event. The police learned that both brothers had ac_:tu_ally worked with
Smollett at his television studio. Smollett had now become a suspect, well on his way to
becoming an accused.

On February 21, 2019, in the carly morning, Smollett turﬁed himself in to custode at
Chicago Police Headqﬁarters where he was arrested and charged with filing a false police report,
a form of disorderly conduct. The offense is a Class 4 felony, carrying a potential sentence of up
to three years imprisonment. That same day, Police Superintendent, Eddie Johnson, held a press |
conference where he essentially confirmed what anonymous SOurces had been leaking to the
media; that Smollétt had staged the attack becaﬁse he was dissatisfied with his “Empire” salary
and that he had sent the threatening letter to himself,

On March 8, 2019, a Cook County grand jury indicted Smollett on 16 felony counts of

™~

disorderly conduct. A plea of not guilty was entered at his arraignment and the cause was
continued to April 17, 2019. However, that date never materialized; rather, at an emergency'
court appearance on March 26, 2019, the case was nolle prossed, a disposition that shocked
officialdom as well as the community. The State’s Attorney’s Office then issued the following
statement.:

“After reviewing all the facts and c¢ircumstances of the case

including Mr. Smollett’s volunteer service in the

community and his agreement to forfeit his bond to the City

of Chicago, we believe the outcome is a just disposition
" and appropriate resolution of this case”
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- The State’s Attorney’s revelation was widely condemned. The secrecy shrouding the
disposition prompted a backlash from both Superintendent Johnson as well as Mayor Rahm
Emanuel, who derided the decision as a “whitewash of justice.” President Trump again weighed
in, announcing that the F.B.I and the Department 6f Justice wouid review the case, which he
called “an embarrassment to our nation.”

Internal documents recently released by the State’s Attofney’s Office and fhe Chicago
Police Department contradict the impression that the sudden disposition was only recently
conceivéd. In reality, negotiations extended back to Fenruary 26, 20-1.9, a date close to.the initial
charges when First Assistant Magats wrote:

“We nan offer the diversion program and restitution. If we

can’t work something out, then we can indict him and go

from there.” '

 On February 28, 2019, the Chief of the Criminal Division, Risa Lanier, told detectives that they

could no longer investigate the crime; she felt the case would be settled with Smollett paying
$10,000 in restitution and doing community _.service. Although the detectives assumed the
diSposit_ion would include a guilty plea, there was no. admission of guilt or plea when the
agreement was consummated. The public also found unsettiing that the prosecutors had left
open the question of Smollett’s wrongdoing.

As with many unwinding plots, thié case has a back story offering further insight into the
workings behind the scenes. The details of that story became public over the course of the
prosecution and was éupplemented on May 31, 2019 through the release of reports, text
messages and other internal documents released by the State "s Attorney’s Office and the Chicago
Police Department and reported by the media.

On February 1, 2019, two days after Jussie Smollett reported his staged hate crime,

State’s Attorney Kim Foxx was contacted by Tina Tchen, a local attorney who previously served
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as Michelle Obama’s Chief of Staff. Tchen, é Smollett family friend, informed Foxx of the
family’s conceml(')ver the investigétion and particularly, leaks from the police department to the
media.

In turn, Foxx reached out to Superintendent Johnson, seeking to have the investigation
taken over by the F.B.l. She later exchanged text messages with a member of the Smollett
family who was grateful for Foxx’s efforts.

The. same day, Ms. Foxx discussed the likelihood of the F.B.L. taking over the
investigation with her Chief Ethics Officer, April Perry. On Februafy 3, 2019, Foxx told Perry to
“impress upon them [the FBI] this is good.” Perry later responded that she had spent 45 minutes
giving her “best sales pitch” to the F.B.I, but they would likely want to hear more from
Superintendent Johnson.

In another text, Ms. Foxx wondered if it was worth the effort and the transfer never
materialized:

“I don’t want to waste any capital on a celebrity case that
doesn’t involve us. I’m just trying to move this along,
since it’s a distraction and people keep calling me.”

On February 13, 2019, Foxx quietly announced that she was leaving the case. April
Perry sent an internal email informing staff:

“Please note that State’s Attorney Foxx is recused from the
investigation involving Jussie Smollett. First Assistant

State’s Attorney, Joe Magats is serving as the Acting
State’s Attorney for this matter.”
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Six days later, the recusal was confirmed by Foxx’s spokewoman, Tandra Simonton:

“Out of an abundance of caution, the decision to recuse
herself was made to address potential questions of
1mpropr1ety based upon familiarity with potential wﬂnesses
in the case.’

Additionally, an ABC 7-I-Team press release recounted that Alan Spellberg, supervisor
of the State’s Attorney’s Appeals Division, had sent a four-page memo to office brass indicating
that the appointment of Magats was against legal precedént:

“My conclusion from all of these authorities is that while
the State’s Attorney has the complete discretion to recuse
herself from the matter, she cannot simply direct someone
(even the First Assistant) to act in her stead”

Mounting questions over Foxx’s withdrawal pfompted various responses from her office.
Foxx, they explained, did not legally recuse herself. from the Smollett case; she did so only
“colloquially.” According to Foxx’s spokewoman, Keira Ellis: |

“Foxx did nof formally -recuse herself or the [State’s
‘Attorney] Office based on any actual conflict of interest.
‘As a result she did not have to seek the.appointment of a
spe01a1 prosecutor”

The confusion continued, as well as the widespread doubt. On May 31,
2019, the State’s Attorney added yet another explanation for her recusal:

“False rumors circulated that I was related or somehow
connected to the Smollett family, so [ removed myself from

all aspects of the investigation and prosecution...so as to -
avoid even the perception of a conflict.”
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ANALYSIS

Petitioner, Sheila O’Brien, seeks the appointment of a special prosecutor to reinstate and
further prosecute the charges in the matter entitled the People of the State of Illinois v. Jussie
Smollett, dismissed by the Cook County State’s Attorney on March 26, 2019, and inter alia, to
investigate the actions of any berson or office involved in the investigation, prosecution and
dismissal of that matter. Petitioner asserts that appointment of a special prosecutor is appropriate
where, as here, the State’s Attorney is unable to fulfill her duties, has an actual conflict of
interest or has recused herself in the proceedings.

State’s Attorney, Kim Foxx, denies that petitioner has the requisite standing to bring this
aétidn, Ms; Foxx further maintains that petitioner .cannot meet the standard for the appointment
of a special prosecutor as she had no actual in conflict in this case, and at no time filed a formal
recusal motion as the law requires. Additionally, the State’s Attorney posits that appointment of
a special prosecutor would be duplicative of the inquiry she requested into her handling of the
matter, currently being conducted by the Cook County Inspector.General.

Any analysis must be prefaced by reference to govérning legal principles. As a threshold
matter it is generally recognized that section 3-9005 of the Counties Code, 55 ILCS 5/3-9005
(West 2018), cloaks the State’s Attorney with the duty to commence and prosecute all actions;
civil or criminal, in the circuit court for the county in which the people of the State or county
may be concerned. People v. Pankey, 94 1ll. 2d 12, 16 (1983). As a member of the executivé
branch of government, the public prosecutor is vested with exclusive discretion in the initiation
and management of a criminal prosecution. People v. Novak, 163 TlI. 2d 93, 113 (1994).
Essentially, it is the responsibility of the State’s Attorney to evaluate the evidence and other

pertinent factors to determine what offenses, if any, can and should properly be charged. People
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ex rel. Daley v. Moran, 94 111. 24 41, 51 (1983).

It is well-settled that prosecutorial discretion is an essential component of our criminal
justice system. As noted, the State’s Attorney is cloaked with broad prosecutorial power in
decisions to bring charges or decline prosecution. Novak, 163 111. 2d at 113. Conirol of criminal
investigations is the prerogative of the executive branch, subject only to‘ judicial intervention to

protect rights. Dellwood Farms, Inc. v. Cargill, Inc., 128 F. 3d 1122, 1125 (1997).

In derogation of these long-standing principles, our legislature has codified certain -

limitations on the powers and duties of our elected State’s Attorneys. Thus, the current iteration
of Section 3-.9008 of the Counties Code, 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (West 2018) provides in relevant
parts:

(a- 5) The court on its own motion, or an interested person
in a cause or proceeding,...may file a petition alleging that the
State’s Attorney is sick, absent, or unable to fulfill his or her
duties. The court shall consider the petition, any documents filed
in response, and ... If the court finds that the State’s Attorney is
sick, absent, or otherwise unable to fulfill his or her duties, the
court may appoint some competent attorney to prosecute or defend
the cause or proceeding.

(a-10) The court on its own motion, or an interested person
in a cause-or proceeding,...may file a petition alleging that the
State’s Attorney has an actual conflict of interest in the cause or
proceeding. The court shall consider the petition, any documents
filed in response, and... If the court finds that the petitioner has
proven by sufficient facts and evidence that the” State’s Attorney
has an actual conflict of interest in a specific case, the court may
appoint some competent attorney to prosecute or defend the cause
or proceeding, '

(a-15) Notwithstanding subsections (a-5) and (a-10) of this
Section, the State’s Attorney may file a petition to recuse himself
or herself from a cause or proceeding for any other reason he or
she deems appropriate and the court shall appoint a special
prosecutor as provided in this Section.
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This limitation upon the public prosecutor’s statutory powers has endured for more than
170 years, providing the sole standards for determining when a State’s Attorney should be
disqualified from a paﬁicular cause or proceeding. See Laws 1847, §1, p. 18; People v. Lang,
346 1. App. 3d 677, 680 (2004). The abiding purpose of the enactment is‘tc.) “prevent any
influence upon the discharge of the duties of the State’s Attorney by reason of personal interest.”
fn re Harris, 335 I1l. App. 3d 517, 520 (2002), quoting People v. Morley, 287 1il. App. 3& 499,
.5_03-04 (1997). The term “interested” as used in the former statute was interpretedA by our
supreme court to mean that the State’s Attorney must be interested as: (1) a private individual; or
2) an actual party to the action. Environmental Protection Agency v. Pollution Control Board,
.69 111. 2d 394, 400-01 (1977).
Over time, the reach of Secti.on 3-9008 was expanded to include situations in which the
State’s Attorney has a per se conflict of interest in the case. Guidance as to what may constitute
~a per se conilict may be found in an unbroken line of pfecedent. In People v. DoSs, 382 11l. 307
(1943) and People v. Moretti, 415 111, 398 (1953), where the State’s Attorneys were potential
witnesses before the grand jury, appointment of a special prosecutor was the regular and proper
procedure to be followed. Likewise, in Sommer v. Goeize, 102 I1l. App. 3d 117 (1981), a special
prosecutor was mandated in a civil prdceeding where an assistant State’s Attorney was both the
complaiﬁant and key witness. See also People v. Lanigan, 353 IIl. App. 3d 422 (2004) (State’s
Attorney’s representation of deputy sheriffs on their fee i)etitions contemporaneously with their
prosecution created a per se conflict of interest). .
Prevailing precedent dictates that the decision to appoint a special prosecutor under
section 3-9008 is not mandatory, but rather within the sound discretion of the circuit court. I re

Appointment of Special Prosecutor, 388 111. App. 3d 220, 232, (2009); Harris, 335 1ll. App. 3d at

10
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520 and People v. Arrington, 297 1ll. App. 3d 1, 3 (1998).. Even whel-'e a disqualifying ground is
found, “the appointment of a special state’s attorney is not mandatory, the statute only requiring
that.such an appqintmént may bé made.” Lanigan, 353 Ill. App. 3dl at 429-30, quoting Sommer,
102 111. App. 3d at 120.
Moreover, the authority of a special state’s attorney is strictly limited to the spécial
matter for which\he was appointed. Franzen v. Birkett (In re Special State’s Attorney, 305 IlL.
App. 3d 749, 761 (1999). His powers are restricted to those causes ér proceedings in which the
State’s Attorney is disqualiﬁed. (“As to all other matters. the State’s Attorney continues to

exercise all of the duties and enjoys all of the emoluments of his office.”) Aiken v. County of

Will, 321 11L. App. 171, 178 (1943). Additionally, the appointment of a special prosecutor is |

appropriate only where the petition_er pleads and proves specific facts showing that the State’s
: Atthr'ley would not zealously represent the People 11_1 a given case. Harris, 335 Ill. App. 3d at
522, citing Baxter v. Peterlin, 156 1ll. App. 3d 564, 566 (1987).

Standing to seek appointment of a special prosecutor may also be at issue. Under two
provisi;)ns of the current statute, commencement of actions to disqualify the State’s Attorney are
limited to motions brou;ght by the court or by an interested person in a cause or proceeding.
Section 3-9008 (a-5) and (a-10).

The issue was earlier addressed by our supreme court in People v. Howarth, 415 Tl1. 499,
513 (1953), where the court concluded that citizens associated with the Good Government
Council could properly invoke the court’s jurisdiction. See also, Lavin v. Board of
Commissioners of Cook County, 245 1l1. 496, 502 (1910), where the court recognized that “the
filing of a petition by the State’s attorney setting up facts... to appoint a épecial State’s attorney |

gave the court jurisdiction of the subject matter....” Similarly, in People ex rel. Baughman v.

Eaton, 24 111. App. 3d 833, 834 (1974), the Fourth District found it was appropriate for a private

11
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citizen to seek a special prosecutor to call the court’s attention to circumstances that may warrant
that appointment. Nor is it necessary that a private citizen petitioning to invoke the .
disqualification statute be a party fo the action. In re Appointment of Special Prosecutor, 388 Il1.
App. 3d 220, 229 (2009); Franzen, 305 I1l. App. 3d at 758.

With these principles inmind-, consideration will be given to the merits of the case at
hand. Petitioner first asserts that she is an “interested person™ within the purview of Section 3-
9008 by reason of her professional ba_ckground. and personal attributes. As a member of the
judiciary from 1985 to 2011, petitioner alleges that she has sustained personal harm from the
derogatory rﬁanner in which the Smollett case was handled; that she and all residents of the
community have been subjected to ridicﬁlé and disparaging media commentary to the extent that

~ her ability to .live peacefully has been diminished.

The State’s Attorney denies that petitioner’s status as a taxpayer and active member of

her community is sufficient to confer standing. Rather, petitioner is merely a casual observer
who should not be allowed to invoke the jurisdiction of Séctioﬁ 3-9008 absent some showing of
particular pecuﬁiary interest to intervene.

Although the State’s Attorney’s argument has a degree of merit, the authorities
previously discussed do not foreclose the application of petitioner’s personal attributes and
feelings in determining her status as an interested person. There is no requirement that she be a
party to the action nor need she have any financial interest in this cause. Her assertion of !
standing will be sustained.

Petitioner next contends that State’s Attorney Foxx was unable to fulfill her duties‘ in the
Smollett case because Foxx’s recusal indicated her acknowledgement of a potential conflict of
interest stemming from her “familiarity with potential witnesses in the case.” Petitioner’s

- argument appears (o be grounded on the first basis for appointment of a special prosecutor |
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providing that an inferested persoh in a cause or proceeding Iﬁay file a petition where the State’s
Afttorney is sick, absent or unable to'ﬁﬂﬁll his or her duties. 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (a-5).
An identical argument was recently rejeCted.in In re. Appointment of Special Prosecutor
(Emmett Farmer), 2019 IL. App. (1*) 173173, where the First District determined that subsection
(a-5) is limited to situations where the State’s Attorney is physically unable to perform due to
sickness, absence or similar circumstances beyond her control: |
“By grouping ‘sick, absent or unable to fulﬁll his or her
duties’ together in subsection (a-5), the legislature
indicated that the inability to fulfill one’s duties is of a
kind with sickness and absence” 928

Accordingly, petitioner’s argument on subsection (a-5) must fail.

In‘hér second ground of disqualification, petitioner' submits that Ms. Foxx’s use of the
word “recuse” reflects her subjecti\}e belief that “she had a conflict with prosecuting Jﬁssie
Smollett and thus was unable to perform her duties as defined.” Although the existence of an
actual conflict of interest is indeed a recognized ground of disqualification under subsection (a;
10), petitioner essential_ly'fails to plead and prove specific facts identifying the interest or the
conflict.

In petitioner’s “Fact Timeline” one might perhaps discern that the conflicting interest of
~ which petitioner speaks was a- manifest desire to aid and assist Mr. Smollett. If so, adherence to
that motive would certainly intersect with and be in derogation of the State’s Attorney’s statutory
duties and responsibilities. Petitioﬁer’s Timeline, togethe;r with other facts established-during the
course of the proceedings, might offer some supp(')rt for a claim of interest. First, Ms. Foxx’s
recgipt of text messages requesting her éssistance when Smollett was a purported victim in the

early stages of the case, coupled with the series of conversations with Smollett’s family could be

indicative of a desire to help. Likewise, Foxx’s request that Police -Superintendent, Eddie

13
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Johnson facilitate the transfer of the case to the F.B.I. could manifest a desire té aid. Again, after
Smollett had been indicted, Foxx’s approval of the dismissal on an unscheduled court date in
return for the favor;able disposition Smollett received might also be indicative of bias. Finally,
Foxx’s public statemehts, first upholding the strength of the State’s case, thén justifying the.
agreement because the evidence turned out to be weaker than was initially presented were
additional factors showing favor,

Although petitioner;s allegations raise some disquicting concerns they do not rise to a
clear showing of interest. To be sure, other facts such as the initial charging of Smollett, the
engagement of the grand jury, the return' of the indictment, the arraignment and ongoing
prosecution of Smollett are opposing facts that tend to undermine a claim of interest. Petitioner
has failed to show the existence of an actual conflict of interest in the Smollett proceeding.

Finally, petitioner posits that this court must appoint a special prosecutor because Kim

Foxx recused herself in the Smollett case. Petitioner grounds this assertion on staff’s public

statement on Febi'uary 19, 2019 that Foxx had decided to recuse herself “out of an abundance of ‘

caution” because of her “familiarity with potential witnesses in the case.” The announcement

mirrored the internal acknowledgement, of February 13, 2019 that Foxx “is recused” from the
Smollett investigations.

Although the statutory authority relied upon by Ms. Foxx was not articulated, a

reasonable assumption exists that it was bottomed on subsection 3-9003 (a-15), authority for the:

proposition that permissive recusals can be invoked by the State’s Attorney for “any other reason
he or she deems appropriate.” However, Foxx did not file a petition for recusal, nor did she alert
the court of her recusal, thereby depriving the court of notice that appointment of a special
prosecutor was mandated. Instead, she simply turned the Smollett case over to her First

Assistant, Joseph Magats. As will be shown, her ability to bypass the mandate of the statute was
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in opposition to wéll-established authority,

Curiously, public announcements that flowed from the State’s Attorney’s Office offered .
the rather novel view that the recusal was not actually a recusal. Rather, in an exercise of
creative lawyering, staff opined that Foxx did not formally recuse herself in a legal sense; that
the recusal was only in a colloquial sense. Under that rubric, Foxx could carry oﬁ -as_ public
prosecutor, unhampered by her contradictory stateﬁents. However, discerning members of thé
pubﬁc have come to realize that the “recusal that reélly wasn’t” was purely an exercise in
sophistry. In this regard, the court takes judicial nétice of the recently released memo penned by
Chief Ethics Qfﬁcer, April Perry, under the title, Stat;:’s Attorney Recusal, dated February 13,
2019:

“Please note that State’s Attorney Kim Foxx is
recused from the investigation involving victim
Jussie Smollett. First Assistant Joe Magats is
serving as the Acting State’s Attorney for this
matter. - '

Experience confirms that the term “recusal” is most often used to signify a voluntary
action to remove oneself as a judge. Black’s Law Dictionary, 4" Ed. p.1442 (1951). Howe{fer,
recusals are not the sole province of the judiciary, but may be invoked by most public officials.
Thus, recusals are a species of the disqualification process éourts typically encounter in
processing motions for substitutioﬁ of judges or change of venue. In Brzowski v Brzowski, 2014
IL. App. 3d 130404, the Third District held tﬁat the same rules should apply when a judge is
disqualified from a case, either by recusal or through a petition for substitution:

“...it is a generally accepted rule in both state and
federal courts that once a judge recuses, that judge
should have no further involvement in the case

outside of certain ministerial acts.” §19.

- A review of the record confirms our understanding that what was intended by Ms. Foxx,
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and what indeed occurred, was an unconditional legal recusal. Her voluntary act evinced a
relinquishment of any .futqre‘standing .or éuthority over the Smollett proceeding. Essentially, she
announced that she was giving up all of the authority' or power she possessed as the duly elected
chief prosecutor; she was no longer involved.

The procedure invoked by the State’s 'Attorney necessarily raises problematic concerns.
Particularly so, as they relate to the prdsecution of Jussie Smollett and the ultimate dispositioh of
his case. Under subsection 3-9008 {(a-15), there is no doubt Ms. Foxx was vested with the
authority to recuse herself ﬁdm any cause or proceeding for “any other reason” than those
enumerated in subsection (a-5) and (a-10). Notably, this statutory grant appearing as it does in
the Counties Code, is the sole legislative authority that enables a duly elected State’s Attorney to
voluntarily step down from a particular case for any reason., |

Gtven Ms. Foxx’s earlier involvement with the Smollett family when Jussic occupied the
status of victim, her decision to recuse was understandable. But once that decision became a
reality, section 3-9008 was the oﬁly road she could traverse and that statute unequivocally
requires that a special prosecutor be appointed by the court. Yet, for reasons undisclosed even to
this day, Foxx instead chose to detour from that mandated course, instead appointing Mr. Magats
as “the Acting State’s Attorney for this matter,” |

The State’s Atiorney’s decision not only had far reaching consequences but also, quite
likely, unintended results. Not because of her choice of Joe Magats, an experienced and capable
prosecutor, but rather because his appointment was to an entity that did not exist. There was and
is no legally cognizable office of Acting State’s Attorney known to our statutes or to the
common law. Its existence was only in the eye or imagination of its creator, Kim Foxx. But, she
was possessed of no authority, constitutionally or statutorily, to create that office. That authority

reposes solely in the Cook County Board pursuant to section 4-2003 of the Counties Code, 55
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ILCS 5/4.—20037 (2018), People v. Jennings, 343 TIl, App. 3d 717; 724 (2003), People ex rel.
 Livers . Hanson, 290 111. 370, 373 (1919). |
The State’s Attorney is a constitutional ofﬁcer, (1ll. Const. 1970, Art. 6, §19). Although
reposing in the judic{al article, the office is a part of the executive branch of State quernment
and the powers exercised by that office are executive powers. People v. Vaughn, 49 Ill. App. 3d
37,39 (1977);

It is axiomatic that the State’s Attorney is endowed with considerable authority under the

Counties Code, 55 ILCS 5/3-9005 (a) (West 2018), yet none of the 13 enumerated powérs and

duties vests her with the power to create subordinate offices or to appoint prosecutors following
disqualification or recusal. Pursuant to the statute, in addition to those enumerated duties, the

State’s Attorney has the power:

1) To appoint special investigators to serve subpoenas,
make returns... and conduct and make investigations
which assist the State’s Attorney. 55 ILCS 5/3-9005(b);

2) To secure information concerning putative fathers and
non-custodial ~parents for the purpose of
establishing...paternity  or = modifying  support
obligation; 55 ILCS 5/3-9005 (c);

3) To seek appropriations.... for the purpose of providing
assistance in the prosecution of capital cases...in post-
conviction proceedings and in ...petitions filed under
section 2-1401 of the Code of Civil Procedure. 55
ILCS 5/3-9005(d); and, '

4) To enter into ...agreements with the Department of
Revenue for pursuit of civil liabilities under the Illinois
Criminal Code. 55 ILCS 5/3-9005 (e).

Nor do decisions of our reviewing courts offer any hint of approval for the unprecedented

exercise of power witnessed in the Smollett prosecution. Rather, attention is directed to a series
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of cases arising from the practice in downstate countiecs whereby agency attorneys appeared to

assist county prosecutors in specific cases pursuant to section 4-01 of the State’s Attomeys

Appellate Prosecutors Act, 725 ILCS 210/4.01 (West 2018). Indeed, this was a common practice
in couhties_ containing less than 3,000,000 inhabitants. In each instance, the common thread
connecting the cases involved appearances on crimes not specifically enuinerated in the enabling
Act, coupled with the abs;:nce of court orders authorizing the appointments mandated under 55

ILCS 5/3-9008.

In People v. Jennings, 343 Ill. App. 3d 717 (2003), the record showed that appointed

counsel actually displaced the eclected State’s Attorney, with total résponsibility for the
prosecution. Counsel acted pursuant to the State’s Attorney’s order naming him as a special
assistant State’s Attorney and an oath of office was taken. Yet, no order was entered by the trial
court appointing him as a duly authorized prosecutor in the case. In disapproving this procedure,
the Jennings court stated: “This type of appointment cannot be condoned. State’s Attorneys are
clearly not meant to have such unbridled authority in the appointment of spécial prosecutors.”
Jennings, 343 1lL. App. 3d at 724,

Similarly, in People v. Woodall, 333 1IL. App. 3d 1146 (2002), the court having found no
legitimate basis for any of the agency attorneys to conduct the prosecution on the State’s behalf
cautioned:

“The use of special assistants is limited by statute. They
can be appointed by circuit court order only after a judicial
determination that the clected State’s Attorney is ‘sick or
absent, or [is] unable to attend, or is interested in any cause
or proceeding’ 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (West 1998).” Woodall,
333 1. App. 3d at 1154

The Woodall court was also troubled by the State’s Attorneys effrontery in professing

they were at liberty to create the assistant State’s Attorney positions in derogation of the
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authority of the County Board:

The position of “special assistant State’s Attorney” is a

position unknown to our laws. The Statc asks us to

recognize an appointment process that would create a new

hybrid office, an assistant State’s Attorney who is special in

several ways, but not in the way that the adjective ‘special’

normally defines the office of special prosecutor...the

assistant would hold a special position never authorized by

the county board.” See 55 ILCS 5/4-2003 (West 1998).” .

Woodall, 333 1ll. App. 3d-at 1153-54.

Earlier, in People v. Ward, 326 1ll. App. 3d 897 ‘(2002), the Fifth District sounded the

death knell for prosecutions conducted by attorneys who ‘lackedlegitimacy:

“If a case is not prosecuted by an attorney properly acting

as an assistant State’s Attorney, the prosecution is void and

the cause should be remanded so that it can be brought by a

proper prosecutor. Ward, 326 Ill. App. 3d at 902

The specter of a void prosecution is surely not confined to Ward. Our jurisprudence

speaks to many cases, civil and crirrﬁnal, where the nullity or voidness rule has caused
judgements to be vacated on collateral review. Most prominent perhaps are challengesr directed
to the standing of unlicensed attorneys to attend or conduct the proceedings. For example, In
People v. Munson, 319 I11. 596 (1925}, the sui)reme court considered the effect of participation in
the securing of an indictment by one elected as State’s Attorney but not licensed to practice law.
In quashing the indictment, the court reasoned:

“If one unauthorized to practice law or appear in courts of

record may assist the grand jury in returning an indictment

merely because he has been elected to the office of State’s

Attorney, no reason is seen why one not so elected and not

otherwise qualified may not do the same. Munson, 319 Ill.
App. 3d at 605.” :

An identical result obtaineld in People v Dunson, 316 11l. App. 3d 760 (2000), where the
defendant, who was prosecuted by an unlicensed attorney, sought post-conviction relief from two

disorderly conduct convictions. Although the court recognized the prejudice that inured to the
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defendant, it likewise condemned the deception practiced upon the court and upon the public.
Relying on Munson, the court held that “the paﬂicipatién in the trial by a prosecuting assistant
State’s Attorney who was not licensed to pracﬁce law under the laws of Illinois requires that the
trial be deemed null and void ab initio and that the resulting final judgment is also void” Dunson,
316 I1l. App. 3d at 770.
CONCLUSION

In summary, Jussie Smollett’s case is truly unique among the countless prosecutions
heard in this building. A case that purported to have been brought and supervised by a
prosecutor serving in the stead of our duty elected State’s Attorney, who in fact was appointed to
a fictitious office having no legal existence. It is also a case that deviated from the statutory
ﬁ1andate requiring the appointment of a special prosecutor in cases where the State’s Attorney is
recused. And finally, it is a case where based upon similar factual scenaribs, resulting
dispositions and judgments have Been deemed void and held for naught.

Here, the ship of the State ventured from its proiected harbor without the guiding hand of
its captain. There was no master on the bridge to guide the ship as it floundered through
unchartered waters. And it ﬁltirnately lost ij:s bearings. As with that ship, in the case at hand:

There was no duly elected State’s Attorney when Jussie
Smollett was arrested;

There was no State’s Attorney when Smollett was initially
charged; :

There was no State’s Attorney when Smollett’s case was
presented to the grand jury, nor when he was indicted;

There was no State’s Attorney when Smollett was
arraigned and entered his plea of not guilty; and

There was no State’s Attorney in the courtroom when the
proceedings were nolle prossed.
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Adherence to the long-standing princii)les discussed herein mandates that a special
prosecutor be appointed to conduct an independent investigation of the actions of any person or
office involved in all aspects of the case entitled the People of the State of Illinois v. Jussie
Smollett, No. 19 CR 0310401, and if reasonable grounds exist to further prosecute Smollett, in
the interest of justice the special prosecutor may take such action as may be appropriate to
effectuate that result. Additionally, in the event the investigation establishes reasonable grounds
to believe that any other criminal offense was committed in the course of the Smollett matter, the
special prosecutor niay commence the prosecution of any crime as may be suspected. |

Although disqualification of the duly elected State’s Attorney necessarily impacts
constitutional concerns, the unpreced.ented- irregularities identified in this case warrants the

appointment of ihdependent counsel to restore the public’s confidence in the integrity of our

criminal justice system.

INTEREDS LAt

Michael P. Toomin,
Judge of the
Circuit Court of Cook County
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Rather, the court was required to determine whether the evidence in support of the petition
established the statutory criteria for the appointment of a special prosecutor. As explained
below, it did not. To compound matters, there was no evidence in the record on which the court
could have made factual findings regarding Mr. Smollett's guilt." Indeed, the court admitted to
relying heavily on media reports as support for the factual allegations in the petition. As Judge
Toomin acknowledged, this information is unreliable hearsay” and is, in fact, inaccurate in many
instances.

Aside from improperly and prejudicially asserting that Mr. Smollett is guilty of the
charges that were dismissed against him, the court also misapprehended the law in several key
respects. The court erred in granting the appointment of a special prosecutor under 55 ILCS 5/3-
9008 (a-15) because the statutory prerequisite for the appointment, namely the filing of a petition
for recusal by the State's Attorney, was not met. The court also erred in ruling that the County
State’s Attorney lacked the power to delegate her authority to one individual, her first
assistant, to be exercised in a particular, individual, criminal prosecution. Kim Foxx was well
within her rights to do so and such a delegation has previously been sanctioned by Illinois courts.

The court further misapprehended the law when it ruled that Ms. Foxx's informal
"recusal" rendered the entirety of the proceedings--from Mr. Smollett's arrest to the dismissal of
the charges against him--null and void. Indeed, even if there was no valid authority to prosecute
Mr. Smollett, this would not nullify the prior proceedings because the right to be prosecuted by

someone with proper prosecutorial authority is a personal privilege and Mr. Smollett has not

! Ms. O'Brien admitted that “[t]he evidence for this petition is what is reported in the press, not traditional evidence
under oath.” Exhibit B [Petition at 16].

* Judge Toomin noted that "Petitioner's factual allegations stem from a number of articles published in the Chicago
Tribune, the Chicago Sun-Times and other newspapers as well as local broadcasts, together with Chicago Police
Department reports and materials recently released by the State's Attorney's Office. Although the court recognizes
that portions of these sources may contain hearsay rather than 'facts' within the semblance of a trial record, the
materials provide a backdrop for consideration of the legal issues raised by the petition." Exhibit A [Order at 2].
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challenged the allegedly defective commission to prosecute. On the contrary, the record supports
the conclusion that the People of the State of Illinois were properly represented by an Assistant
State's Attorney acting with the permission and authority of the State's Attorney at all times
during the proceedings.

Finally, the court misapplied the law because its appointment of a special prosecutor is
vague and overbroad. The Order fails to limit the investigation in any way or specify a date or
event that would terminate the special prosecutor's appointment. = Moreover, the broad
prescription of authority to the special prosecutor, namely that the special prosecutor may
"further prosecute" Mr. Smollett if reasonable grounds exist, is vague and overbroad.

Accordingly, this Court should (1) grant the Motion for Reconsideration, (2) vacate the
June 21, 2019 Order, and (3) deny the Petition for the Appointment of a Special Prosecutor, or
alternatively, schedule this cause for a full hearing for a determination as to whether there is
sufficient cause to justify the appointment of a special prosecutor. In the event the Court is not
inclined to grant the Motion, the Court should modify the Order to clarify that the special
prosecutor may investigate and prosecute potential misconduct only, and may not further
prosecute Mr. Smollett for charges that were previously brought and dismissed against him.

Procedural History

On March 7, 2019, a felony indictment was filed against Mr. Smollett in the Circuit Court
of Cook County, case number 19 CR 3104, alleging 16 counts of disorderly conduct, namely
filing a false police report in violation of Chapter 720, Act 5, Section 26-1(a)(4) of the Illinois

Compiled Statutes Act of 1992, as amended.

SR095

SUBMITTED - 8595448 - William Quinlan - 2/24/2020 12:34 PM



125790

On March 26, 2019, the State's Attorney's Office moved to nolle pros all 16 counts. The
Honorable Steven G. Watkins granted the motion and dismissed the case against Mr. Smollett.
Judge Watkins also ordered the records in this matter sealed.’

On April 5, 2019, movant Sheila M. O'Brien, in pro se, filed a (1) Petition to Appoint a

Special Prosecutor to preside over all further proceedings in the matter of the People of the State

of Illinois v. Jussie Smollett, filed in the Circuit Court of Cook County (hereafter “Petition”); (2)

Instanter Motion to Petition the Supreme Court to Appoint an Out-of-County Judge to Hear
Petition to Appoint a Special Prosecutor and Conduct Further Proceedings; and (3) Request of
Kim Foxx State's Attorney of Cook County to Admit Facts. A copy of the Petition is attached
hereto as Exhibit B.

Ms. O'Brien thereafter also served a number of subpoenas to various parties for their
appearance and production of documents. Mr. Smollett and Ms. Foxx both separately opposed
Ms. O'Brien's Petition and they each filed motions to quash Ms. O'Brien's attempts to compel
their appearance at the next hearing.

On May 2, 2019, the parties appeared before Judge LeRoy Martin, Jr. on the various
motions that had been filed. During the hearing, Ms. O'Brien filed a suggestion of recusal based
on recent media reports that Judge Martin's son works for the Cook County State's Attorney's
Office as an Assistant State's Attorney. After argument by Ms. O'Brien and counsel, the court
adjourned the hearing until May 10, 2019 so Judge Martin could read and consider Ms. O'Brien's
suggestion of recusal and any response the State's Attorney's Office chose to file.

On May 10, 2019, Judge Martin ruled that recusal was unnecessary, but in the interest of

justice, he “transferred” the matter to Judge Michael Toomin of the Juvenile Justice Division.

? On May 23, 2019, Judge Watkins granted the Media Intervenors' "Emergency Motion to Intervene for Purposes of
Objecting to and Vacating the Sealing Order," which had been filed on April 1, 2019. Mr. Smollett's records were
unsealed on a rolling basis following the Court's May 23, 2019 Order.
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On May 17, 2019, the parties appeared before Judge Toomin for a status hearing. The matter
was thereafter adjourned until May 31, 2019 for oral argument before Judge Toomin, which
proceeded as scheduled on that date.

On June 21, 2019, Judge Toomin issued a written order granting the appointment of a
special prosecutor "to conduct an independent investigation of any person or office involved in
all aspects of the case entitled the People of the State of Illinois v. Jussie Smollett, No. 19 CR
0310401, and if reasonable grounds exist to further prosecute Smollett, in the interest of justice
the special prosecutor may take such action as may be appropriate to effectuate that result.
Additionally, in the event the investigation establishes reasonable grounds to believe that any
other criminal offense was committed in the course of the Smollett matter, the special prosecutor
may commence the prosecution of any crime as may be suspected." Exhibit A [Order at 21].

The Evidence in this Case

Judge Toomin's reliance on inaccurate media reports to presume Mr. Smollett guilty of
charges that were dismissed against him was wholly improper and prejudicial. Given his
improper "factual findings" in the Order, it is necessary to set forth some of the actual evidence
in this case to rebut the unfair presumption of guilt against Mr. Smollett imposed by the court.

The actual evidence demonstrates that Abimbola and Olabinjo Osundairo (hereafter
collectively "the Osundairo brothers") attacked Mr. Smollett on January 29, 2019. The only
"evidence" that the attack was a hoax and perpetrated at the behest of Mr. Smollett was the
Osundairo brothers' statements made reportedly after at least 47 hours in police custody, in the
face of overwhelming evidence of their involvement in the attack, and upon advice by their
counsel. But other than the Osundairo brothers' self-serving statements which resulted in their

release from custody with no criminal charges being filed against them, not a single piece of
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evidence independently corroborates their claim that the attack was a hoax. Moreover, the actual
evidence demonstrates that the Osundairo brothers lied to police and were acting with at least
one other person who was not Mr. Smollett.

All of the Key "Evidence" that Police Initially Claimed Existed
Have Been Shown to Be Demonstrably False.

In the Order, Judge Toomin noted that on February 21, 2019, Police Superintendent
Eddie Johnson "held a press conference where he essentially confirmed what anonymous sources
had been leaking to the media; that Smollett had staged the attack because he was dissatisfied
with his ‘Empire’ salary and that he had sent the threatening letter to himself." Exhibit A [Order
at 4]. During that same press conference, Superintendent Johnson also claimed that the $3,500
check from Smollett to Abimbola Osundairo was for the staged attack. (Press conference
available at https://finance.yahoo.com/video/chicago-police-press-conference-arrest-162040267.
html.) All three public statements by Johnson were proven to be false.

First, following Superintendent Johnson's press conference, Fox executives and
producers explicitly rejected the notion that Mr. Smollett was unhappy with his pay. On the
contrary, they explained that Mr. Smollett was in the middle of a long-term contract with Fox for
the series, ‘Empire,” and that neither he nor his agents had attempted to renegotiate his salary.
See ‘EMPIRE’ EXECS DON'T BELIEVE ‘Attack’ Staged Over Salary Issues (Feb. 26, 2019),
available at https://www.tmz.com/2019/02/26/jussie-smollett-empire-money-contract-staged-
attack/.

Second, following the press conference, the FBI promptly disputed Superintendent
Johnson's assertion that Mr. Smollett sent himself the threatening letter. Rather, federal agents
noted that their investigation was still ongoing and that they had not yet determined who sent the

letter. See FEDS DISPUTE POLICE SUPERINTENDENT... Not Certain Jussie Wrote Letter
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(Feb. 22, 2019), available at https://www.tmz.com/ 2019/02/22/jussie-smollett-letter-police-
chief-superintendent-fbi/.

Third, in a number of interviews a few weeks after the press conference, the Osundairo
brothers' attorney, Gloria Schmidt, contradicted Superintendent Johnson and confirmed that the
$3,500 check paid by Mr. Smollett to Abimbola Osundairo, was in fact, for training and
nutrition.  See, e.g., https://abcnews.go.com/amp/news/story/osundairo-brothers-advantage-
empire-actor-jussie-smollett-lawyer-61605822. This was consistent with the memo line of the
check, which read, "5 week Nutrition/Workout program (Don't Go Video)," and was
corroborated by numerous text messages in which Mr. Smollett and Abimbola Osundairo
discussed training and nutrition.

Moreover, a review of the recently unsealed discovery reveals further false and
misleading statements by the police. As one article notes:

Eddie Johnson, the police superintendent, said after Mr. Smollett’s arrest that one

of the Osundairo brothers had spoken with the actor on the phone about an hour

after the attack. But the search warrant records show their next phone call was

actually about 18 hours later. (A police spokesman, Anthony Guglielmi, said last

week that the superintendent had misspoken.)

Julia Jacobs, "Jussie Smollett Case: What Do We Know, and What’s Left to Investigate?," The
N.Y. Times (July 1, 2019), available at https://www.nytimes.com/2019/07/01/arts/jussie-

smollett-video-case.html.

The Actual Evidence Demonstrates that the '"Need Your Help on the Low"
Text Was Taken Out of Context and Misconstrued.

As noted above, the State's case against Mr. Smollett was based entirely on the
uncorroborated and self-serving statements of the Osundairo brothers. While the bulk of the text

messages between Mr. Smollett and Abimbola ("Abel") during the relevant time period discuss

* "Don't Go" was an upcoming music video shoot scheduled for February 23, 2019, in which Mr. Smollett had to be
shirtless.
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training and nutrition, there was a single text message which was susceptible of an incriminating
interpretation, which the Osundairo brothers, and in turn prosecutors, seized on. The State's
Bond Proffer, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C, provided:

Text messages generated by Defendant Smollett to Abel, specifically starting on

the morning of January 25, 2019, reveal Defendant Smollett asking Abel when he

would be leaving on his upcoming trip to Nigeria. This trip was scheduled to take

place on the evening of January 29, 2019, and it had been planned by Abel and his

brother Olabinjo "Ola" Osundairo (27 years old) two months prior. After Abel

confirmed the date and time of his trip, Defendant Smollett texted Abel stating

"Might need your help on the low. You around to meet up and talk face to

face?"

Exhibit C [Proffer at 1].

The Proffer then goes on to state that when Mr. Smollett met with Abel that afternoon, he
told Abel that he wanted to stage an attack where Abel and his brother would appear to batter
him. Id. [Proffer at 1-2].

In a podcast on April 6, 2019--months before the defense had seen the newly unsealed
discovery--Mr. Smollett's attorney, Tina Glandian, explained that the "need your help on the
low" text was completely taken out of context and misconstrued. Ms. Glandian explained that
when Mr. Smollett first spoke to Abel about the training/nutrition plan and his desire to lose
about 20 pounds for his upcoming music video shoot, Abel told him that there are herbal steroids
which are illegal in the United States but which he could get in Nigeria which would help Mr.
Smollett shed weight fast. On January 25, 2019, during a text message conversation about Mr.
Smollett's meal plan and his projected fat loss, Mr. Smollett asked Abel to meet face to face so

that he could ask him to get him the herbal steroids while in Nigeria.

1/25/2019 2:19:17PM (UTC+0) - Abel texts Smollett: "This is the meal plan and the
breakdown of macronutrients. Also includes projected fat loss."

1/25/2019 3:08:37PM (UTC+0) - Smollett responds to Abel: "Cool i can't pull up on
phone so gotta check on my computer. When do you leave town?"
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1/25/2019 3:18:47PM (UTC+0) - Abel responds to Smollett: "I leave Tuesday
night." Abel also texts Smollett a chart with a meal plan.

1/25/2019 3:18:56PM (UTC+0) - Smollett responds to Abel: "What time Tuesday
night?"

1/25/2019 3:19:14PM (UTC+0) - Abel responds to Smollett: "9:30pm"
1/25/2019 3:31:06PM (UTCH0) - Abel texts Smollett: "Why what's up?"

1/25/2019 3:34:44PM (UTC+0) - Smollett responds to Abel: ""Might need your
help on the low. You around to meet up and talk face to face?"'

1/25/2019 3:34:52PM (UTC+0) - Smollett texts Abel: "Later like after 4"
1/25/2019 3:38:29PM (UTC+0) - Abel responds to Smollett: "Yea, I can do that."
Exhibit D (emphasis added).

On April 25, 2019, the Osundairo brothers sued Mr. Smollett's attorneys for defamation,
false light, and respondeat superior based, in part, on the statements made during the Reasonable
Doubt podcast on April 6, 2019. The civil complaint alleges, in pertinent part, that the
Osundairo brothers' brand, "Team Abel," "advises and demonstrates how to strengthen and build
muscle while maintaining a healthy, steroid-free diet and fitness regimen." Complaint, q 45,
available at https://dig.abclocal.go.com/wls/documents/2019/042319-wls-smollett-suit.pdf. The
complaint further alleges that Ms. Glandian's statements have caused the Osundairo brothers
substantial financial harm because such an offer to obtain steroids for a client would render
"Team Abel" a sham enterprise, since they advertise that their business is "all natural." Id., § 73.

Newly released discovery contradicts the Osundairo brothers' position in their lawsuit and
supports Mr. Smollett's explanation of the "need your help on the low" text message.
Specifically, the web history of one of the Osundairo brothers obtained by the police shows the
following relevant search history from January 25 and 27, 2019:

1/25/2019 5:48:48AM (UTC+0): "rad 140 landmark."
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1/25/2019 5:49:12AM (UTC+0): "The Truth About RAD140 In 3 Minutes
- Read before you buy Testolone," found at https://www.mynvfi.org/
testolone-rad140/.

1/25/2019 5:55:11AM (UTCH0): "rad 140 labs."

1/25/2019 5:55:27AM (UTC+0): "RADI140 - U.S. Diesel Labs," found at
https://usdiesellabs.com/product/rad140/.

1/25/2019 5:56:29AM (UTCH+0): "ANDARINE - U.S. Diesel Labs," found at
ahttps://usdiesellabs.com/product/andarine/.

1/25/2019 5:57:52AM (UTC+0): "YKI11 - U.S. Diesel Labs," found at
https://usdiesellabs.com/product/yk11/.

1/25/2019 5:58:19AM (UTC+0): "Tamoxifen Citrate - U.S. Diesel Labs," found
at https://usdiesellabs.com/product/tamoxifen-citrate/.

1/27/2019 at 12:28:02PM (UTC+0): "Banned Substances - Natural
Bodybuilding.com" found at https://naturalbodybuilding.com/banned-substances/.

1/27/2019 at 12:28:38PM (UTC+0): "Prohibited List Documents | World Anti-

Doping Agency," found at https://www.wada-ama.org/en/resources/science-

medicine/prohibited-list-documents.
Exhibit E.

The web history above from the precise time period in question demonstrates that not
only were the Osundairo brothers interested in steroids and steroid alternatives to aid in losing
weight and increasing muscle mass, but they were also specifically interested in what substances
were banned two days before their trip to Nigeria. And when considered in the context of the
other text messages regarding macronutrients and projected fat loss, it is far more reasonable that
Mr. Smollett's text message about meeting on the low was in regards to banned steroids which

Abel could obtain for him in Nigeria, as opposed to soliciting his trainer, and his older brother

who Mr. Smollett had only met a few times, to stage a hate crime on him three days later.’

> The Osundairo brothers claimed the attack was originally scheduled for the night of January 28, 2019 but
postponed until 2:00 a.m. on January 29, 2019 due to Mr. Smollett's flight delay.
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The Actual Evidence Demonstrates that the Osundairo Brothers Lied
When They Claimed They Are Not Homophobic.

After admitting they were involved in the attack on Mr. Smollett, on February 19, 2019,
the Osundairo brothers released the following statement: "We are notracist. We are not
homophobic, and we are not anti-Trump. We were born and raised in Chicago and are American
citizens.” See, €.g., Victor Morton, 'We are not anti-Trump': Brothers arrested in Jussie Smollett
case break silence, The Washington Times (Feb. 18, 2019), available at
https://www.washingtontimes.com/news/2019/feb/18/olabinjo-and-abimbola-osundairo-brothers-
jussie-sm/. However, the newly unsealed records flatly contradict the brothers' assertion that
they are not homophobic. Specifically, text messages by both Olabinjo ("Ola") and Abel
Osundairo demonstrate a strong homophobic sentiment by both brothers only a few weeks before
the attack on Mr. Smollett.

Specifically, on January 12, 2019, Ola sent an individual identified as "OD" several
images of what appear to be emails from a gay man, followed by a text message: "Your
homeboy is mentally disturbed." This text exchange is attached hereto as Exhibit F. After OD
responded by laughing at the emails, Ola texted: "Dude ass a fruit." Exhibit F. When asked by
OD if "fruity folks ever say anything back," Ola responded: "I never replied to his fruity ass after
that. I haven't been replying to him on ig° either. I'm done with Gaylord ass." ld. After OD
continued to laugh at Ola's remarks, Ola added: "I don't even care no more. Just tired of down
low niggas tryna sneakily be on some gay shit like niggas is stupid." Id.

Ola also forwarded these emails to his brother, Abel, with a text stating: "This man is a
sicko." This text exchange is attached hereto as Exhibit G. After commenting on the emails,

Abel texted back, "Help the man" and "Lock him up," to which Ola responded, "Sicko." Exhibit

6 "Ig" is a reference to the social media application "Instagram."
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G. Police apparently recognized the significance of these messages during their investigation, as
evidenced by the marking of asterisks next to the homophobic text messages with handwritten
notations on the top of these pages as to the "gay references." See id.

Furthermore, in their civil lawsuit filed against Mr. Smollett's attorneys on April 23,
2019, the Osundairo brothers, who are of Nigerian descent, have family in Nigeria, and enjoy
visits to Nigeria, allege that "[s]ame-sex sexual activity is illegal in Nigeria, which can result in
14 years of imprisonment," and "99% of Nigerians believe homosexuality should not be
tolerated." Complaint, 9 63-64, available at https://dig.abclocal.go.com/wls/documents/2019/
042319-wls-smollett-suit.pdf. Thus, not only does the evidence demonstrate that the Osundairo
brothers lied when they publicly professed that they are not homophobic, but their own court
filing demonstrates a specific motive for their January 29, 2019 attack on Mr. Smollett hours
before their scheduled trip to Nigeria.

The Actual Evidence Demonstrates that the Attack Was Not a Hoax.

The text messages released by the Chicago Police Department include one significant text
message from Abel to Mr. Smollett sent around noon on January 29, 2019 (about 10 hours after
the attack and after news of the attack had been made public) in which Abel writes: "Bruh say it
ain't true, I'm praying for speedy recovery. Shit is wild." Exhibit D. It is significant that in none
of their statements to police did the Osundairo brothers claim that Mr. Smollett told them to send
such a text after the attack or otherwise claim that this text was pretextual. On the contrary, Abel

texted Mr. Smollett feigning concern for him to conceal his involvement in the attack.

12
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The Actual Evidence Demonstrates that the Osundairo Brothers Lied to Police
and that They Were Not Acting Alone During the Attack on Smollett.

Based on statements by the Osundairo brothers, the State took the position that Mr.
Smollett instructed the Osundairo brothers not to bring their cell phones to the attack and that the
brothers complied. The State's Bond Proffer provided:

On the late morning of Sunday January 27, 2019, Smollett drove his vehicle back
to the Lakeview neighborhood to pick up the brothers and show them the scene
where he wanted the staged attack to take place. Smollett then drove the brothers
to the corner of New Street and North Water Street in Chicago where the staged
attack was to take place. This was just outside Smollett's apartment building. . .
Smollett also instructed the brothers not to bring their cell phones with them.”

Exhibit C [Proffer at 2] (emphasis added.)

However, two independent witnesses both contradict the Osundairo brothers' claim that
they did not bring cell phones with them to the attack. Specifically, the Uber driver who picked
up the Osundairo brothers from their home at around 1:00 a.m. on January 29, 2019 related the
following to police:

R/D refreshed [REDACTED] memory of the 29th of Jan 2019 and stated he was
working and pulled up his rides on his cell phone for that day. [REDACTED]
stated he vividly remembers getting a ride where he picked up two African
American Males at the location of 41[REDACTED] N Ashland. [REDACTED]
pulled up the Ride ID Number [REDACTED.] The rider was ordered at 12:56 on
the 29th of Jan and he arrived at 1:02 hours. [REDACTED)] stated rider #1 (Male
Black 30-32 Taller Dark Clothing) came to his vehicle at 1:02 and greeted the
driver with "HEY BROTHER" as he entered on the curb side of the vehicle and
then sat in the rear passenger seat. Rider #1 asked the driver to wait a minute that
another passenger was coming. A minute later Rider #2 entered in the rear driver
side door (Male Black 507/508 Larger build and 29/30 Dark Clothing).
[REDACTED] thought that Rider #1 had placed the UBER order. [REDACTED]
stated both riders had hoods under their jackets but neither had their hoods up.
[REDACTED] thought one of the riders may have had a knit hat or maybe a
baseball hat. [REDACTED] stated Rider #1 received a phone call while inside
his vehicle and stayed on the phone most of the ride.

7 Concurrent with this Motion, Mr. Smollett is filing a Motion to Disclose the Transcripts of the Grand Jury
Testimony of Abimbola and Olabinjo Osundairo.

13
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[REDACTED] stated the two offenders did not make conversation with him and
whispered to each other during the ride. The Uber application listed the drop off
location was to be on the 1400 block of N WIELAND but has been shielded on
[REDACTED] UBER application interface. Rider #1 was on his cell phone for
most of the ride.

Exhibit H at 5 (emphases added).
Similarly, the Yellow Cab driver who drove the Osundairo brothers after the attack
specifically noted that at least one of the brothers had a cell phone that night:

On the morning of January 29th [REDACTED] had pulled up in front of the Hyatt
Regency and stated that he got out of his car to clean the windows and then was
sitting in his car waiting to see if a fare would show up. After a few minutes the
doors opened startling [REDACTED.] He explained that he would lock the doors
so he could get a look at a person before they entered his taxi. [REDACTED]
thinks he forgot to lock his doors after cleaning the window. He said he could see
the one that got in on the passenger side of the car pretty well and [REDACTED]
described him as a dark skinned black male with a goatee 25 to 30 years old. This
person said "Hey brother" when he got into the cab and was wearing all black
with a big jacket and a hat pulled back. [REDACTED] said the person had a big
build. [REDACTED] said he could not see the second person who sat behind
him. When the second person got in he said "Hey boss". [REDACTED] felt the
second person sounded "black". [REDACTED] stated that he was nervous and
said "if they say they want to go south I tell them no" and then "but they say they
want to go to Lake Shore Drive and Belmont so I think ok". [REDACTED] said
he saw the person on the passenger side on a cell phone "only text no talk™.

Exhibit I at 6-7 (emphasis added).

Since Mr. Smollett's phone records demonstrate that he did not have any communication

with the brothers during this time, it begs the question, who were the Osundairo brothers

communicating with right before and after the attack on Jussie Smollett? In the newly

unsealed discovery, one police report notes that "another phone number suspected of belonging
to Olabinjo OSUNDAIRO was discovered [REDACTED] Phone records show this phone to be
in communication with a phone number [REDACTED] belonging to [REDACTED] before and a

phone number [REDACTED] belonging to [REDACTED] after the incident on 29-JAN-2019."
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Exhibit J at 7. Who were these communications with and where are these pertinent phone

records?

Moreover, in the State's Bond Proffer, the prosecutors argued that Mr. Smollett lied to
police because he indicated that the one attacker who he got a glimpse of was white.
Specifically, the Proffer provided:

Smollett also told the police that the initial and primary attacker (now known to
be Abel Osundairo) was wearing a ski mask which covered his entire face, with
the exception of his eyes and the area all around his eyes. Smollett stated to the
police that he could see that the area around this person's eyes was white-skinned.

Exhibit C [Proffer at 4].

The newly unsealed discovery reveals that two independent witnesses both identified a
young white male near the scene of the attack during the relevant time period. Specifically, the
police reports recount a neighbor's statement as follows:

[REDACTED] was watching a movie with her friend in her residence. At around
0030 hours, she went outside to walk her dogs. As she walked her dogs, she
observed a person which she described as a male, white, mid 30s, wearing
glasses, having reddish-brown hair and slight facial hair, average height and build,
wearing a blue and yellow stocking hat with a ball on top, a navy blue sweatshirt,
blue jeans, gray and red socks, and brown laced shoes, which appeared wet to her.
This man was smoking a cigarette and standing on New St. near Lower North
Water St. (underneath the building as she described) near the loading dock
between the resident entrance and resident garage door

[REDACTED] further related that the man looked at her, and upon doing so,
turned away. [REDACTED] described the man as appearing to be waiting for
something. As the man turned away, [REDACTED] could see hanging out
from underneath his jacket what appeared to be a rope. [REDACTED] went
back into her building and did not see the man afterwards. [REDACTED] had
nothing further to add at this time.

Exhibit K at 12-13 (emphasis added).
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In addition to the independent witness who saw a suspicious white male lingering outside

Mr. Smollett's building carrying a rope shortly before the attack, another independent witness

gave the exact same description of one of the attackers that Mr. Smollett gave to police:

On the night of the attack, 29 JAN 2019, [REDACTED] was working in his
official capacity as a Loss Prevention Agent for the Sheraton Grand Hotel.
[REDACTED] has been employed by the hotel for the past several months.
[REDACTED] was conducting "tours" of the property, a normal function of his
position. During his "tours", he scans bar codes located throughout the premise
with a tablet in order to document that he checked on that particular location. At
approximately 0200 hours, [REDACTED] was conducting a "tour" of the
Chicago Burger Company restaurant, a restaurant located within the Sheraton
Grand Hotel on the southeast corner of the ground floor level of the building.
[REDACTED] walked outside the Chicago Burger Company restaurant exterior
door onto the Riverwalk area where one of the bar codes was located. As soon as
[REDACTED] exited the building, he heard the sounds of footsteps approaching
quickly from the north, and then observed a male, approximately 6' tall, wearing
all black with a hood or hat and a facemask. [REDACTED] could only see the
skin area near the male's eyes where the facemask had cutouts, and believed the
male to be white, in his 20s. [REDACTED] shined his flashlight towards the
male and asked what he was doing. The male stated that it was cold out and
continued running past [REDACTED] and then W/B along the Riverwalk.
Immediately afterwards, a second male, stockier than the first and also wearing all
dark clothing ran past [REDACTED] pointing to the first male as he ran. This
second male laughed as he ran past [REDACTED] could not make out this male's
race, as he had his arm up, covering his face, as he pointed and ran past
[REDACTED] believed this male may have been in his 20s as well.
[REDACTED] continued on his "tour", walking N/B on the west sidewalk of
New St. to where one of the bar codes was located that he needed to scan. As
[REDACTEDY] looked N/B up New St., he observed a third male at the bottom of
the staircase that leads from lower to upper North Water St. [REDACTED]
described this third male as a younger looking male, unknown race, bent over as if
he was picking up something off the street. [REDACTED] completed his tour
and went back inside the building.

[REDACTED] further related that the first male to run past him was not holding
anything. [REDACTED] was unsure if the second male to run past him was
holding anything or not. [REDACTED] believed that the three subjects may have
just been goofing around, throwing snow balls at one another.

Exhibit L at 6 (emphasis added).
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In a supplemental report written after a follow-up statement was taken from the Loss
Prevention Agent at the police station, this witness again confirmed having seen a white male in
a ski mask leaving the scene of the attack, after he shone a flashlight on the subject's face:

On 27 February, 2019 at 0747 hours, R/D Calle #20177 and Det. Campos
#21017 met with [REDACTED] at Area Central. [REDACTED] related that on
29 January, 2019 he was working security and was making his rounds and was
at CBC (Chicago Burger Company).

[REDACTED] related that while at CBC he heard footsteps and was startled by

a subject. [REDACTED] described this subject as being tall and dressed in all

black clothing which including a face mask. [REDACTED] related that he

shined a flashlight on the subject's face and was able to see white skin around

the eye area. [REDACTED] heard the subject say in essence it's cold it's cold

as the subject continued away. A second subject was also observed. The second

subject did not say anything but as the subject passed he was pointing at the first

subject. [REDACTED] related that he was unable to get a look at the subjects

face. [REDACTED] described the second subject as being shorter and stocky.

[REDACTED related that he viewed a photo lineup. As he inspected the lineup

his attention was drawn to one individual. This individual had the lightest

colored skin compared to the other individuals in the lineup, but was not the

individual at CBC.
Exhibit M at 6 (emphasis added).

Thus, the actual evidence in this case demonstrates that the Osundairo brothers lied to
police and were acting with at least one other person (who was not Mr. Smollett).

Legal Standard

The purpose of a motion for reconsideration is to inform the trial court of (1) newly
discovered evidence previously unavailable at the time of the original hearing, (2) changes that
have occurred in the law since the original hearing, or (3) errors in the court's earlier application

of the law. Williams, 273 Tll.App.3d 893, 903 (1995); Farley Metals, Inc. v. Barber Colman

Co., 269 Ill.App.3d 104, 116 (1994).
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As the Seventh Circuit has explained, “in any given opinion, [a court] can misapprehend
the facts . . . or even overlook important facts or controlling law.” Olympia Equipment v.
Western Union, 802 F.2d 217, 219 (7th Cir.1986). Thus, "motions for reconsideration can serve
a valuable function by helping, under appropriate circumstances, to ensure judicial accuracy."
Mosley v. City of Chicago, 252 F.R.D. 445, 447 (N.D. I11. 2008); see also Canning v. Barton, 264
1. App. 3d 952, 956 (1994) ("The purpose of a motion for reconsideration is to inform the court
of any errors it has made and to provide an opportunity for their correction.").

Section 2-1203(a) allows any party, within 30 days after the entry of judgment, to file a
motion for a rehearing, retrial, or modification of the judgment, to vacate the judgment, or for
other relief. 735 ILCS 5/2-1203(a). This statute allows circuit courts in both criminal and civil
cases to reconsider judgments and orders within 30 days of their entry. See People v. Heil, 71 Ill.
2d 458, 461 (1978); Weilmuenster v. Ill. Ben Hur Const. Co., 72 I1l. App. 3d 101, 105 (1979). A
timely filed motion for reconsideration stays enforcement of the order. In re Marriage of
Simard, 215 I11. App. 3d 647, 650 (1991).

Whether to grant a motion for reconsideration is a determination resting within the trial
court's discretion, subject to reversal only upon an abuse of discretion. Greer v. Yellow Cab Co.,
221 Ill.App.3d 908, 915 (1991). Here, because the court erred in his application of existing law
in several key respects, as explained below, it would be an abuse of discretion not to grant this
motion for reconsideration.

Argument

A. The Court Erred in Finding that Kim Foxx Formally Recused Herself,
Requiring the Appointment of a Special Prosecutor.

In the Order, the court first rejected Petitioner's argument that Kim Foxx was unable to

fulfill her duties stemming from her "familiarity with potential witnesses in the case." See
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Exhibit A [Order at 12-13]. The court also recognized that "Petitioner has failed to show the
existence of an actual conflict of interest in the Smollett proceeding." 1d. [Order at 14].
However, based on public statements and an internal memorandum by her Chief Ethics Officer
stating that Kim Foxx had "recused" herself from this matter, the court found that "a reasonable
assumption exists" that Ms. Foxx had invoked a permissive recusal under 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (a-
15) which can be done for "any other reason he or she deems appropriate." 1d. The court
misapplied the law in so holding.

As the court notes in the Order, Kim Foxx never filed a petition for recusal or otherwise
alerted the court of her recusal. Id. And in opposition to the Petition, Ms. Foxx unambiguously
stated that she did not intend to formally or legally recuse herself. But the court nonetheless
concluded that "[a] review of the record confirms our understanding that what was intended by
Ms. Foxx, and what indeed occurred, was an unconditional legal recusal. Her voluntary act
evinced a relinquishment of any future standing or authority over the Smollett proceeding.
Essentially, she announced that she was giving up all of the authority or power she possessed as
the duly elected chief prosecutor; she was no longer involved." Exhibit A [Order at 15-16]. The
court cites no authority for its holding that the informal use of the term "recusal" in a public
statement and internal memorandum was necessarily an unconditional legal recusal which
stripped the County State’s Attorney of any future standing or authority in the matter. The
court's analysis is also deficient for the reasons outlined below.

1. The statutory prerequisite for the appointment of a special prosecutor
was not met.

In granting the appointment of a special prosecutor, the court misapplied the law because

the statutory prerequisite for the appointment of a special prosecutor was not met. Specifically,
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the statute which the court relied on in granting the appointment of a special prosecutor, 55 ILCS
5/3-9008 (a-15), provides:

Notwithstanding subsections (a-5) and (a-10) of this Section, the State's Attorney

may file a petition to recuse himself or herself from a cause or proceeding for

any other reason he or she deems appropriate and the court shall appoint a special

prosecutor as provided in this Section.

55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (a-15) (emphasis added). However, it is undisputed that State’s Attorney
Foxx never filed any such petition for recusal in this case.

In interpreting a statute, the primary rule of statutory construction to which all other rules
are subordinate is to ascertain and give effect to the true intent and meaning of the
legislature. Village of Cary v. Trout Valley Ass'n, 282 I1l. App. 3d 165, 169 (1996). In order to
determine the legislative intent, courts must read the statute as a whole, all relevant parts must be
considered, and each section should be construed in connection with every other
section. 1d. Courts should look to the language of the statute as the best indication of legislative
intent, giving the terms of the statute their ordinary meaning. Id. A statute is to be interpreted
and applied in the manner in which it is written, when it is permissible to do so under the
Constitution, and is not to be rewritten by a court in an effort to render it consistent with the
court's view of sound public policy. Kozak v. Retirement Board of the Firemen's Annuity &
Benefit Fund, 95 I11. 2d 211, 220 (1983).

Here, 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (a-15) provides that the State's Attorney may file a petition for
recusal "for any other reason" he or she deems appropriate. The plain and unambiguous
language of the statute indicates that the State's Attorney is not required to file such a petition but
may do so in his or her discretion. In other words, the filing of such a petition is permissive, not

mandatory. See In re Estate of Ahmed, 322 Ill. App. 3d 741, 746 (2001) ("As a rule

of statutory construction, the word 'may' is permissive, as opposed to mandatory.").
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Here, not only did State’s Attorney Foxx not file such a petition, but she has expressly
stated that she did not intend to formally and legally recuse herself. Judge Toomin's conclusion
that notwithstanding her stated intent and the fact that a petition for recusal was not filed, "a
reasonable assumption exists" that Ms. Foxx invoked a permissive recusal under section 3-9008
(a-15), Exhibit A [Order at 14], ignores the permissive language of the statute and violates
principles of statutory construction. By deeming the use of the word "recusal" in a public
statement and internal memorandum as the equivalent of filing a petition for recusal under
section 3-9008 (a-15), Judge Toomin effectively re-wrote the statute and deprived Ms. Foxx the
discretion which the statute expressly grants her. And contrary to the court's finding, any such
informal statements did not effectuate a legal recusal by Ms. Foxx. See, e.g., People v.
Massarella, 72 111. 2d 531, 538 (1978) ("At two separate arraignments, assistant State's Attorneys
made noncommittal statements that the Attorney General was in charge of the case. These
comments do not express, as the defendant urges, exclusion of or objection by the State's
Attorney.").

The filing of a petition for recusal is a statutory prerequisite to the appointment of special
prosecutor under 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (a-15). Because the statutory prerequisite was not met here,
the court misapprehended the law in granting the appointment of a special prosecutor.

2. Ms. Foxx had the power to delegate her authority to her first assistant.

Judge Toomin incorrectly asserts that by recusing herself and appointing Joe Magats as
"the Acting State's Attorney for this matter," Ms. Foxx attempted to create an office which she
did not have the authority to create. Exhibit A [Order at 16]. But Ms. Foxx did not attempt to
create a new office nor did she appoint Joe Magats as a special prosecutor in this case. Rather,

Ms. Foxx delegated her authority to one individual, her first assistant, to be exercised in a
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particular, individual, criminal prosecution. Such a delegation has previously been sanctioned by
Ilinois courts. See, e.g., People v. Marlow, 39 Ill. App. 3d 177, 180 (1976) ("As illustrated by
the evidence, the request procedure used in this case fully observed the ‘strict scrutiny’
admonition set forth in Porcelli. The State's Attorney of Cook County delegated his authority to
one individual, his first assistant, to be used only when he himself was not available. This
delegated power was exercised with discretion and care."); see also Scott v. Ass'n for Childbirth
at Home, Int'l, 88 I1l. 2d 279, 299 (1981) ("Where a statute vests power in a single executive
head, but is silent on the question of subdelegation, the clear majority view is that the legislature,
'understanding the impossibility of personal performance, impliedly authorized the delegation of
authority to subordinates.") (quoting 1 A. Sutherland, Statutory Construction § 4.14 (4th ed.
1972).)

None of the cases cited by Judge Toomin support his contention that Ms. Foxx could not
delegate her authority to her first assistant. People v. Munson, 319 Il1. 596 (1925), and People v.
Dunson, 316 Ill. App. 3d 760 (2000), are totally inapplicable, as these cases involve the
delegation of authority to unlicensed prosecutors. Here, Ms. Foxx turned the Smollett case over
to her first assistant, Joe Magats, who Judge Toomin describes as "an experienced and capable
prosecutor." Exhibit A [Order at 16].

The court cites to People v. Jennings, 343 I1l. App. 3d 717 (2003), People v. Ward, 326
I11. App. 3d 897 (2002), and People v. Woodall, 333 Tll. App. 3d 1146 (2002) as support for its
position; however, those cases are also inapplicable. All of those cases involved the delegation
of power to attorneys from the State's Attorneys Appellate Prosecutor's office--not the first
assistant, as was the case here. Unlike assistant state attorneys, "[a]ttorneys hired by the [State

Attorney's Appellate Prosecutor's Office] are not constitutional officers; their powers are derived
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from the statute that created them, and those powers are strictly limited by the authority
conferred upon the Agency by our state legislators." Woodall, 333 I1l. App. 3d at 1149 (citing
Siddens v. Industrial Comm'n, 304 I1l. App. 3d 506, 510-11 (1999)). As one court explained,
"the State's Attorneys Appellate Prosecutor's Act (Act) (725 ILCS 210/4.01 (West 1998))
provides specific instances in which attorneys employed by the State's Attorneys Appellate
Prosecutor's office may represent the State, with the most obvious instance being when a case is
on appeal." Ward, 326 Ill. App. 3d at 901. In each of these cases, attorneys from the appellate

prosecutor's office exceeded their authority to prosecute as prescribed by statute. See, e.g., id.

at 902 (because "[t]he Cannabis Control Act, under which defendant was prosecuted, is not
expressly listed, . . . prosecution under this Act [was not] allowed by attorneys from the State's
Attorneys Appellate Prosecutor's office"); Jennings, 343 I1l. App. 3d at 725 ("Section 4.01 of the
Act does not specifically include a murder prosecution as an instance in which an employee of
the appellate prosecutor's office may assist a county State's Attorney in the discharge of his or
her duties."); Woodall, 333 Ill. App. 3d at 1149 (noting that the Act limits the types of cases in
which attorneys from the State's Attorneys Appellate Prosecutor's office may assist local
prosecutors in the discharge of their constitutionally based duties and concluding that the
appointment process relied on by the State was flawed).

In contrast to attorneys hired by the State Attorney's Appellate Prosecutor's office, the
Illinois Supreme Court has explained that Assistant State's Attorneys are "officers for the
performance of the general duties of the offices of state's attorney." People ex rel. Landers v.
Toledo, St. L. & W.R. Co., 267 Ill. 142, 146 (1915). Accordingly, "[a]n Assistant State's
Attorney is generally clothed with all the powers and privileges of the State's Attorney; and all

acts done by him in that capacity must be regarded as if done by the state's attorney himself."
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People v. Nahas, 9 Tll. App. 3d 570, 575-76 (1973) (citing 27 C.J.S. District and Pros. Attys. Sec.
30(1).) Indeed, "the legislative purpose in creating the office of Assistant State's Attorney (Sec.
18, c. 53, Ill.Rev.Stat.) was to provide an official who should have full power to act in the case of
the absence or sickness of the State's Attorney, or in the case of his being otherwise engaged in
the discharge of the duties of office, in the same manner and to the same extent that the State's
Attorney could act, and we also believe that the General Assembly in using the term, ‘a State's
Attorney’ did intend that an assistant could act." Nahas, 9 I1l. App. 3d at 576.

In Office of the Cook County State's Attorney v. Ill. Local Labor Relations Bd., 166 I11.2d
296 (1995), the Illinois Supreme Court specifically discussed the statutory powers and duties of
the Cook County State's Attorney and Assistant Cook County State's Attorneys. The Court held
that the assistants were vested with the authority to exercise the power of the State's Attorney,
played a substantial part in discharging the statutory mission of the State's Attorney's office, and
acted as “surrogates for the State's Attorney” in performing the statutory duties of
the State's Attorney. Id. at 303.

The Illinois legislature intended, and the cases have long held, that an Assistant State's
Attorney legally has the same power to act on behalf of the State's Attorney either by virtue of
the office of Assistant State's Attorney, or as specifically authorized by the State's Attorney,
pertaining to (1) initiating criminal prosecutions against a person; (2) intercepting private
communications; and (3) procedures that may result in a person being deprived of his or her
liberty for life. See, e.g., People v. Audi, 73 Ill. App. 3d 568, 569 (1979) (holding that an
information signed by an Assistant State's Attorney rather than the State's Attorney himself was
not defective); People v. White, 24 T1l. App. 2d 324, 328 (1960), aff'd, 21 IIl. 2d 373 (1961)

(rejecting defendant's argument that an Assistant State's Attorney does not have the power or
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authority to prosecute by information in his own name in the county court); Nahas, 9 Ill. App. 3d

at 575-76 (holding that the authorization of an eavesdropping device by a First Assistant, rather

than the State's Attorney, was proper because "[a]n Assistant State's Attorney is generally
clothed with all the powers and privileges of the State's Attorney; and all acts done by him in that
capacity must be regarded as if done by the State's Attorney himself"); Marlow, 39 Ill. App. 3d at

180 (holding that the State's Attorney can delegate his authority to give eavesdropping consent to

a specifically indicated individual); People v. Tobias, 125 I1l. App. 3d 234, 242 (1984) (holding

that an Assistant State's Attorney has the authority to sign a petition to qualify the defendant for a

life sentence under the habitual criminal statute, which provides that such petition be "signed by

the State's Attorney").

As such, the court misapplied the law in holding that Ms. Foxx did not have the power to
delegate her authority in the Smollett matter to her first assistant, Joe Magats, and that by doing
so, she invoked a permissive recusal under 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (a-15), authorizing the
appointment of a special prosecutor.

B. Even if There Was No Valid Commission to Prosecute Mr. Smollett, This Would
Not Render the Prior Proceedings Null and Void Because Mr. Smollett Has Not
Challenged the Allegedly Defective Commission to Prosecute.

The court misapprehended the law when it ruled that Kim Foxx's informal "recusal"
rendered the entirety of the proceedings--from Mr. Smollett's arrest to the dismissal of the
charges against him--null and void. In the Order, the court concludes that because Ms. Foxx
could not delegate her authority to her first assistant:

There was no duly elected State's Attorney when Jussie Smollett was arrested;

There was no State's Attorney when Smollett was initially charged;

There was no State's Attorney when Smollett's case was presented to the grand
jury, nor when he was indicted,
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There was no State's Attorney when Smollett was arraigned and entered his plea
of not guilty; and

There was no State's Attorney in the courtroom when the proceedings were nolle
prossed.

Exhibit A [Order at 20].

In trying to nullify the arrest, prosecution, and dismissal of charges against Mr. Smollett,
Judge Toomin relies on five cases: People v. Jennings, 343 Ill. App. 3d 717 (2003), People v.
Ward, 326 Ill. App. 3d 897 (2002), People v. Woodall, 333 1Il. App. 3d 1146 (2002), People v.
Munson, 319 I11. 596 (1925), and People v. Dunson, 316 Ill. App. 3d 760 (2000). However, none
of these cases support the court's conclusion that the prior proceedings against Mr. Smollett are
null and void. In the Order, the court quoted the following passage from Ward:

If a case is not prosecuted by an attorney properly acting as an assistant State's

Attorney, the prosecution is void and the cause should be remanded so that it can

be brought by a proper prosecutor.
Ward, 326 Ill. App. 3d at 902. However, the court in Woodall, also relied upon by Judge

Toomin, actually distinguished Ward and Dunson and held that the defective appointment of

special assistant prosecutors did not nullify the defendant's judgment of conviction in that case.

Woodall, 333 1lI. App. 3d at 1161.

The Woodall court began its analysis by explaining that "[t]here are only two things that
render a judgment null and void. A judgment is void, and hence, subject to attack at any time,
only when a court either exceeds its jurisdiction or has simply not acquired jurisdiction." Id. at
1156 (citing People v. Johnson, 327 I11. App. 3d 252, 256 (2002)). The court also noted that it
failed "to comprehend how the prosecutors' flawed station in this case could serve to deprive the
court of jurisdiction and thus void the defendant's convictions, when the prosecutorial pursuit of

people actually placed twice in jeopardy could not." Woodall, 333 Ill. App. 3d at 1157. The
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court then went on to explain why neither Ward nor Dunson supports the proposition that a
prosecution championed by attorneys who lacked the legal authority to act on the State's behalf
would render the proceedings null and void. Id.

First, the Woodall court explained that Ward does not, in fact, stand for such a
proposition: "The author of the Ward opinion cited the aged decision in a manner that warned
that it did not exactly stand for the proposition stated. . . . [T]he term 'void' was not used in
conjunction with a jurisdictional analysis, and a question over whether or not the trial court
acquired jurisdiction was not raised." Woodall, 333 Ill. App. 3d at 1157. The court further
noted:

Ward should not be read as the source of a novel jurisdictional rule that would

void all convictions procured by licensed attorneys who, for whatever reason,

mistakenly believe that they are authorized to act on the State's behalf and who

are permitted to do so by those being prosecuted. Any defect in an attorney's

appointment process or in his or her authority to represent the State's interests on

a given matter is not fatal to the circuit court's power to render a judgment. The

right to be prosecuted by someone with proper prosecutorial authority is a

personal privilege that may be waived if not timely asserted in the circuit court.
Id. at 1159.

Second, the Woodall court distinguished Dunson, in which the court held that a
prosecution by a prosecutor who did not hold an Illinois law license rendered the convictions
void as a matter of common law. Id. at 1160. The Woodall court explained: "Our case is not one
where the assistance rendered, even though it was beyond the statutory charter to assist, inflicted
any fraud upon the court or the public. The State was represented competently by attorneys who

earned the right to practice law in this state. There was no deception about their license to appear

and represent someone else's interests in an Illinois courtroom." 1d. at 1160-61.
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The court in Dunson relied heavily on Munson, an older case from 1925. Although the
Woodall court did not separately address Munson, that case also involved the unauthorized
practice of law and is distinguishable for the same reasons as Dunson.

As noted above, the Woodall court held that "the right to be prosecuted by someone with
proper prosecutorial authority is a personal privilege that may be waived if not timely asserted in
the circuit court." Woodall, 333 Ill. App. 3d at 1159 (emphasis added). Thus, if there, in fact,
had been a defect in the authority to prosecute Mr. Smollett, the only person who could properly
challenge the validity of the proceedings would be Mr. Smollett--and he has not done so.

Although the Woodall court found that the State's Attorney did not have the authority to
unilaterally create a special assistant office by appointing attorneys employed by State's
Attorney's Appellate Prosecutor's office to conduct trial on his behalf without county board
approval, it nonetheless found that the defective appointment of the special assistant prosecutors
did not nullify the defendant's judgment of conviction. Woodall, 333 1ll. App. 3d at 1161. The
court explained:

The defendant has not attempted to demonstrate the harm visited upon him by his

prosecutors' defective commission to prosecute. For that matter, he does not even

claim that anything evil or wrong occurred in the process to verdict other than that

defect. To the extent that the Agency attorneys' lack of proper authority to

prosecute somehow inflicted injury, it was a wound that the defendant invited by

allowing their presence to go unchallenged. We find no reason to overturn the
defendant's convictions.
Id. Here, like in Woodall, because any such defect has gone unchallenged by Mr. Smollett, there
is no basis on which the court can void the proceedings in this case.
Similarly, in Jennings, relied on by Judge Toomin, the court held that although the

attorney who tried the case for the State did not have the authority to prosecute the defendant, the

defendant waived his right to challenge the defective commission of the attorney. People v.
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Jennings, 343 I1l. App. 3d 717, 727 (2003). The Jennings court explained: "The defendant does
not argue and the record does not indicate that he was harmed by Lolie's prosecution. At no time
in the proceedings did the defendant object to the trial court's recognition of Lolie as a
prosecutor. The defendant, therefore, waived his right to challenge Lolie's defective commission
to prosecute." 1d.

An analysis of the cases which the court relied on in its Order reveals that Judge Toomin
misapplied the law in concluding that the entirety of the proceedings--from Mr. Smollett's arrest
to the dismissal of the charges against him--are null and void. On the contrary, the record
supports the conclusion that the People of the State of Illinois were properly represented by an
Assistant State's Attorney acting with the permission and authority of the State's Attorney at all
times during the proceedings.

If the court’s conclusions were to be accepted, the City of Chicago has committed an
egregious violation of Mr. Smollett's civil rights by depriving him of his liberty and property
without due process of law in violation of the Fourth Amendment and the Due Process Clause of
the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. In fact, the City of Chicago is still
in possession of the $10,000 bail that was paid on Mr. Smollett's behalf on February 21, 2019,
and forfeited to the City of Chicago upon the dismissal of charges against him on March 26,
2019. Thus, in addition to the civil rights violations noted above, any further prosecution of Mr.
Smollett for filing a false report would also violate the federal and state ban against double
jeopardy because it would constitute double punishment. See United States v. Benz, 282 U.S.

304, 307-09 (1931); People v. Milka, 211 TIL. 2d 150, 170 (2004).
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C. The Appointment Is Vague and Overbroad.

The Order's broad prescription of authority to the special prosecutor, namely that the
special prosecutor may "further prosecute” Mr. Smollett if reasonable grounds exist, is vague and
overbroad. Exhibit A [Order at 21]. If it was intended that such further prosecution could only
be the result of some potential new discovery of wrongdoing by Mr. Smollett during the
pendency of the case (which does not exist), this must be clarified in the Order. But if the court
intended to authorize the special prosecutor to further prosecute Mr. Smollett for filing a false
police report on January 29, 2019 (as alleged in the indictment that has since been dismissed),
then the Order is overbroad. As noted above, among other issues, any future prosecution of Mr.
Smollett for filing a false report about the January 29, 2019 attack would violate the ban against
double jeopardy. In any event, the Order is vague as to this critical issue.

Furthermore, the Order does not limit the investigation in any way or specify a date or
event that would terminate the special prosecutor's appointment. Illinois courts have held that
such a deficiency renders the appointment vague and overbroad. See, e.g., In re Appointment of
Special Prosecutor, 388 I1l. App. 3d 220, 233 (2009) ("The order's definition of the scope of the
subject matter and the duration of Poncin's appointment is vague in that it does not specify an
event for terminating the appointment or the injunction. The circuit court should not have issued
the appointment without a specific factual basis, and the court should have more clearly limited
the appointment to specific matters. Under the circumstances, we view the circuit court's
prescription of Poncin's authority to be overbroad and, therefore, an abuse of discretion.").

WHEREFORE, Jussie Smollett, by his attorneys, Geragos & Geragos, respectfully
requests that this Court grant his Motion, vacate the June 21, 2019 Order, and deny the Petition

to Appoint a Special Prosecutor. In the alternative, Mr. Smollett, by his attorneys, Geragos &
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Geragos, respectfully requests that this Court grant his Motion and schedule this cause for a full

hearing for a determination as to whether there is sufficient cause to justify the appointment of a

special prosecutor.

In the event the Court is not inclined to grant the Motion, Mr. Smollett, by his attorneys,
Geragos & Geragos, respectfully requests that the Court modify the June 21, 2019 Order to
clarify that the special prosecutor may investigate and prosecute potential misconduct only, and

may not further prosecute Mr. Smollett for the charges that were previously brought and

dismissed against him.

Dated: July 19, 2019
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Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Tina Glandian

Tina Glandian, Rule 707 Admitted
Mark J. Geragos, Rule 707 Admitted
Geragos & Geragos, APC

256 5th Avenue

New York, NY 10010

&

Geragos & Geragos, APC

644 South Figueroa Street

Los Angeles, CA 90017-3411
(213) 625-3900
tina@geragos.com
mark@geragos.com

Attorneys for Jussie Smollett
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CRIMINAL DIVISION

IN RE: APPOINTMENT OF A SPECIAL ) No.19 MR 00014
PROSECUTOR )
)  Hon.
ORDER

This cause coming before the Court on a Motion for Reconsideration of the June 21, 2019
Order Granting the Appointment of a Special Prosecutor (“Motion”), due notice having been
given and the Court being fully advised in the premises, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the
Motion is granted, the June 21, 2019 Order is vacated, and the Petition for the Appointment of a
Special Prosecutor is denied.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

ENTERED:

Circuit Court of Cook County
Criminal Division
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CRIMINAL DIVISION

_ No. 19 MR 00014
IN RE APPOINTMENT OF SPECIAL PROSECUTOR

Michael P. Toomin
Judge Presiding

S S S ' ' ' ' '

ORDER

Petitioner, Sheila O’Brien, seeks the appointment of a special prosecutor to reinstate and
further prosecute the case of the People of the State of Illinois v. Jussie Smollett, No. 19 CR
0310401, to investigate the actions of any person or office involved in the investigation,
prosecution and dismissal of tha‘; maﬁer, and to also investigate the procedures of the Cook
County State’s Attorney’s Office regarding charging decisions, bonds, deferred prosecutions and
recusals. Respondent, Kim Foxx, State’s Attorney of Cook County, denies that that .the Smollett |
prosecution was compromised, impeded or undermined by any illegal or improper action and
further contends that petitioner cannot meet the standards for appointment of a special
prosecutor. Accordingly, respondent maintain§ the petition should be denied.

The issues have been joined by the pleadings and exhibits and following oral argument

the matter was taken under advisement. The court will now address the merits of the petition.
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BACKGROUND

The instant petition has its genesis in a story unique to the anals of the Criminal Court.
The principal character, Jussie Smollett, is an acclaimed actor known to the public from his
performances in the television series, “Empire.” But his talents were not destined to be confined
to that production. Rather, in perhaps the most prominent display of his acting potential,
Smollett conceived a fantasy that propelled him from the role of a sympathetic victim of a
vicious homophobic attack to that of Ia charlatan who fomented a hoax the equal of any twisted
television intrigue. |

Pe';titioner’s factual allegations stem from a number of articles published in the Chicago
Tribune, the Chicago Sun-times and other newspapers as well as local broadcasts, together with
redacted Chicago Police Department reports and materials recently released by ‘the State’s
Attorney’s Office. Although the court recognizes that portions of these sources may contain
hearsay rather than “facts” within the semblance of a trial record, the materials provide a
backdrop for consideration of the legal issues raised by the pf:tition;1

The story begins on January 22, 2019, when Smollett first sought the aid of the Chicago
Police Department. Smollett reported thé.t he was the recipient of an envelope delivered to the
“Empire” studio on Chic#go’s West Side. Inside, was an unsettling note with letters apparently
cut out from an unidentifiable publication, forming what appeared to be a racial and homophobic

message that Smollett 'perceived as a threat. His fear was further heightened bf; the stick figure

1 Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted therein, its value depending upon
the credibility of the declarant. People v. Murphy, 157 Ill. App. 3d 115, 118, (1987); see also IIL. R. Evid. 801 (a)-
(c) (eff. Jan. 1, 2011). Yet, certain of such statements may be admissible for other purposes (People v. Davis, 130
I1l. App. 3d 41, 53, (1984), including to simply show that a statement was made, to characterize an act, to show its
effect on the listener, or to explain the steps in an investigation. See M. Graham, Graham’s Handbook of Illinois
Evidence § 801.5, at 763-78 (10th ed. 2010); and IIl. R. Evid. 803 and 804. Admissions and prior inconsistent

statements, which appear prominently in the parties’ submissions, are likewise not considered hearsay. Graham, §§
801.9 and 801.14; and I11. R. Evid. 801(d)(1), (2).
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.displayed on the note, holding a gun pointed at the figure’s head. Additionally, the envelope
contained a white powder substance that the police later determined to be aspirin.

A week later, on January 29, 2019, Smollett’s production manager called 9il to report
that Jussie had been attacked by two men outside a local sandwich shop at two o’clock that
morning. Smollett, who is black and gay, later told the police he was physically attacked as he
returned home from an early morning stop at the nearby Subway store. Smollett claimed that
two masked men shouted homophobic and racié.l slurs, and as they beat him yelled “This is
MAGA country.” After looping a rope around his neck, t_he offenders who reportedly were
white, poured “an unknown substance” on him before running away.

When news of the attack was released to the public, members of the United Sates
Congress, television talk show hosts and other public figures expressed outrage. This included
even the President of the United States who after viewing this story declared, “It doesn’t get
worse, as far as I’'m concerned.”

Acting on the belief that what had transpired was potentially a hate crime, the response of
law enforcement was swift and certain. On the day following the attack, at least a dozen
detectives combed hundreds of hours of surveillance camera footage in the area Smollett
designated as the scene of the attack. None of the footage revealed anything resembling the

attack. However, detectives did observe images of two people in the area, but their faces were

indistinguishable.

As the investigation progressed the police began to focus on two brothers who soon came
to be viewed as suspects. On February 13, 2019, as they returned from Nigeria, the brothers

were taken into custody and questioned. The following day their apartment was searched.
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Smollett’s story then began to unravel. Detectives eventually concluded that he had lied
about the attack. The investigation shifted to whether Smollett orchestrated the scenario, paying’
the Nigerians to stage the event. The police learned that both brothers had actgally worked with
Smollett at his television studio. Smollett had now become a suspect, well on his way to
becoming an accused.

On February 21, 2019, in the early morning, Smollett turned himself in to custody at
Chicago Police Headquarters where he was arrested and charged with filing a false police report,
a form of disorderly conduct. The offense is a Class 4 felony, carrying a potential sentence of up
to three years imprisonment. That same day, Police Superintendent, Eddie Johnson, held a press
conference where he essentially confirmed what anonymous sources had been leaking to the
media; that Smollett had staged the attack because he was dissatisfied with his “Empire” salary

and that he had sent the threatening letter to himself.

On March 8, 2019, a Cook County grand jury indicted Smollett on 16 felony counts of

L

disorderly conduct. A plea of not guilty was entered at his arraignment and the cause was
continued to April 17, 2019. However, that date never materialized; rather, at an emergency
court appearance on March 26, 2019, the case was nolle prossed, a disposition that shocked

officialdom as well as the community. The State’s Attorney’s Ofﬁce then issued the following

statement:

“After reviewing all the facts and circumstances of the case

including Mr. Smollett’s volunteer service in the

community and his agreement to forfeit his bond to the City

of Chicago, we believe the outcome is a just disposition
- and appropriate resolution of this case”
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The State’s Attorney’s revelation was widely condemned. The secrecy shrouding the
disposition prompted a backlash from both Superintendcnt Johnson as well as Mayor Rahm
Emanuel, who derided the decision as a “whitewash of justice.” President Trump again weighed
in, announcing that the F.B.I and the Department of Justice would revliew the case, which he
called “an embarrassment to our nation.”

Internal documents recently released by the State’s Attorney’s Office and the Chicago
Police Department contradict the impression that the sudden disposition was only recently
conceived. In reality, negotiations extended back to Fel;mary 26, 2019, a date close to the initial

charges when First Assistant Magats wrote:

“We can offer the diversion program and restitution. If we
can’t work something out, then we can indict him and go
from there.”

On February 28, 2019, the Chief of the Criminal Division, Risa Lanier, told detectives that they
could no longer investigate the crime; she felt the case would be settled with Smollett paying
$10,000 in restitution and doing communit)'v service. Although the detectives assumed the
disposition would include a guilty plea, there was no admission of guilt or plea when the
agreement was consummated. The public also found unsettling that the prosecutors had left
open the question of Smollett’s wrongdoing.

As with many unwinding plots, this case has a back story offering further insight into the
workings behind the scenes. The details of that story became public over the course of the
prosecution and was supplemented on May 31, 2019 through the release of reports, text
messages and other internal documents released by the State’s Attoney’s Office and the Chicago
Police Department and reported by the media.

On February 1, 2019, two days after Jussie Smollett reported his staged hate crime,

State’s Attorney Kim Foxx was contacted by Tina Tchen, a local attorney who previously served
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as Michelle Obama’s Chief of Staff. Tchen, é Smollett family friend, informed Foxx of the
family’s concern over the investigation and particularly, leaks from the police department to the
media.

In turn, Foxx reached out to Superintendent Johnson, seeking to have the investigation
taken over by the F.B.I. She later exchanged text messages with a member of the Smollett
family who was grateful for Foxx’s efforts.

The same day, Ms. Foxx discussed the likelihood of the F.B.I. taking over the
investigation with her Chief Ethics Officer, April Perry. On February 3, 2019, Foxx told Perry to

“impress upon them [the FBI] this is good.” Perry later responded that she had spent 45 minutes

giving her “best sales pitch” to the F.B.I, but they would likely want to hear more from
Superintendent Johnson.
In another text, Ms. Foxx wondered if it was worth the effort and the transfer never

" materialized:

“I don’t want to waste any capital on a celebrity case that
doesn’t involve us. I’'m just trying to move this along,
since it’s a distraction and people keep calling me.”

On February 13, 2019, Foxx quietly announced that she was leaving the case. April

Perry sent an internal email informing staff:

“Please note that State’s Attorney Foxx is recused from the
investigation involving Jussie Smollett. First Assistant
State’s Attorney, Joe Magats is serving as the Acting
State’s Attorney for this matter.”
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Six days later, the recusal was confirmed by Foxx’s spokewoman, Tandra Simonton:

“Out of an abundance of caution, the decision to recuse
herself was made to address potential questions of
impropriety based upon familiarity with potential witnesses
in the case.”

Additionally, an ABC 7-I-Team press release recounted that Alan Spellberg, supervisor
of the State’s Attorney’s Appeals Division, had sent a four-page memo to office brass indicating
that the appointment of Magats was against legal precedent:

“My conclusion from all of these authorities is that while
the State’s Attorney has the complete discretion to recuse
herself from the matter, she cannot simply direct someone
(even the First Assistant) to act in her stead”

Mounting questions over Foxx’s withdrawal prompted various responses from her office.
Foxx, they explained, did not legally recuse herself from the Smollett case; she did so only
“colloquially.” According to Foxx’s spokewoman, Keira Ellis:

“Foxx did not formally -recuse herself or the [State’s
Attorney] Office based on any actual conflict of interest.
‘As a result she did not have to seek the appointment of a
special prosecutor”

The confusion continued, as well as the widespread doubt. On May 31,
2019, the State’s Attorney added yet another explanation for her recusal:

“False rumors circulated that I was related or somehow
connected to the Smollett family, so I removed myself from

all aspects of the investigation and prosecution...so as to -
avoid even the perception of a conflict.”
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ANALYSIS

Petitioner, Sheila O’Brien, seeks the appointment of a special prosecutor to reinstate and
further prosecute the charges in the matter entitled the People of the State of Illinois v. Jussie
Smollett, dismissed by the Cook County State’s Attorney on March 26, 2019, and inter alia, to
investigate the actions of any person or office involved in the investigation, prosecution and
dismissal of that matter. Petitioner asserts _that appointment of a special prosecutor is appropriate
where, as here, the State’s Attorney is unable to fulfill her duties, has an actual conflict of
interest or has recused herself in the proceedings.

State’s Attorney, Kim Foxx, denies that petitioner has the requisite standing to bring this
action, Ms. Foxx further maintains that petitioner cannot meet the standard for the appointment
of a special prosecutor as she had no actual in conflict in this case, and at no time filed a formal
recusal motion as the law requires. Additionally, the State’s Attorney posits that appointment of
a special prosecutor would be duplicative of the inquiry she requested into her handling of the
matter, currently being conducted by the Cook County Inspector General.

Any a.nalysjs must be prefaced by reference to governing legal principles. As a threshold
matter it is generally recognized that section 3-9005 of the Counties Code, 55 ILCS 5/3-9005
(West 2018), cloaks the State’s Attﬁmey with the duty to commence and prosecute all actions,
civil or criminal, in the circuit court for the county in which the people of the State or county
may be concerned. People v. Pankey, 94 1ll. 2d 12, 16 (1983). As a member of the executive
branch of govémment, the public prosecutor is vested with exclusive discretion in the initiation
and management of a criminal prosecution. People v. Novak, 163 IIl. 2d 93, 113 (1994).
Essentially, it is the responsibility of the State’s Attorney to evaluate the evidence and other

pertinent factors to determine what offenses, if any, can and should properly be charged. People
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ex rel. Daley v. Moran, 94 111. 2d 41, 51 (1983).

It is well-settled that prosecutorial discretion is an essential component of our criminal
justice system. As noted, the State’s Attorney is cloaked with broad prosecutorial power in
decisions to bring charges or decline prosecution. Novak, 163 Il 2d at 113. Control of‘criminal
investigations is the prerogative of the executive branch, subject only to. judicial intervention to
protect rights. Dellwood Farms, Inc. v. Cargill, Inc., 128 F. 3d 1122, 1125 (1997).

In derogaﬁon of these long-standing principles, our legislature has codified certain
limitations on the powers and duties of our elected State’s Attorneys. Thus, the current iteration

of Section 3-9008 of the Counties Code, 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (West 2018) provides in relevant

parts:

(a- 5) The court on its own motion, or an interested person
in a cause or proceeding,...may file a petition alleging that the
State’s Attorney is sick, absent, or unable to fulfill his or her
duties. The court shall consider the petition, any documents filed
in response, and ... If the court finds that the State’s Attorney is
sick, absent, or otherwise unable to fulfill his or her duties, the
court may appoint some competent attorney to prosecute or defend
the cause or proceeding.

(a-10) The court on its own motion, or an interested person
in a cause or proceeding,...may file a petition alleging that the
State’s Attorney has an actual conflict of interest in the cause or
proceeding. The court shall consider the petition, any documents
filed in response, and... If the court finds that the petitioner has
proven by sufficient facts and evidence that the State’s Attorney
has an actual conflict of interest in a specific case, the court may

appoint some competent attorney to prosecute or defend the cause
or proceeding.

(a-15) Notwithstanding subsections (a-5) and (a-10) of this
Section, the State’s Attorney may file a petition to recuse himself
or herself from a cause or proceeding for any other reason he or

she deems appropriate and the court shall appoint a special
prosecutor as provided in this Section.
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This limitation upon the public prosecutor’s statutory powers has endured for more than
170 years, providing the sole standards for determining when a State’s Attorney should be
disqualified from a particular cause or proceeding. See Laws 1847, §1, p. 18; People v. Lang,
346 Ill. App. 3d 677, 680 (2004). The abiding purpose of the enactment is to “prevent any
influence upon the discharge of the duties of the State’s Attorney by reason of personal interest.”
In re Harris, 335 1. App. 3d 517, 520 (2002), qu;:)ting People v. Morley, 287 11l. App. 3d 499,
503-04 (1997). The term “interested” as used in the former statute was interpreted_ by our
supreme.court to mean that the State’s Attorney must be interested as: (1) a private individual; or
2) an actual party to the action. Environmental Protection Agency v. Pollution Control Board,
69 111. 2d 394, 400-01 (1977).
| Over time, the reach of Secti.on 3-9008 was expanded to include situations in which the
State’s Attorney has a per se conflict of interest in the case. Guidance as to what may constitute
a per se conflict may be found in an unbroken line of pfecedent. In People v. Doss, 382 111. 307
(1943) and People v. Moretti, 415 111. 398 (1953), where the State’s Attorneys were potential
witnesses before the grand jury, appointment of a special prosecutor was the regular and proper
procedure to be followed. Likewise, in Sommer v. Goetze, 102 1ll. App. 3d 117 (1981), a special
prosecutor was mandated in a civil proceeding where an assistant State’s Attorney was both the
complainant and key witness. See also People v. Lanigan, 353 1ll. App. 3d 422 (2004) (State’s
Attorney’s representation of deputy sheriffs on their fee petitions contemporaneously with their
prosecution created a per se conflict of interest). |
Prevailing precedent dictates that the decision to appoint a special prosecutor under
section 3-9008 is not mandatory, but rather within the sound discretion of the circuit court. [nre

Appointment of Special Prosecutor, 388 11l. App. 3d 220, 232, (2009); Harris, 335 Ill. App. 3d at

10
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520 and People v. Arrington, 297 111. App. 3d 1, 3 (1998).. Even where a disqualifying ground is

found, “the appointment of a special state’s attorney is not mandatory, the statute only requiring
that such an appointment may bé made.” Lanigan, 353 Ill. App. 3d at 429-30, quoting Sommer,
102 111. App. 3d at 120.

Moreover, the authority of a special state’s attorney is strictly limited to the spécial
matter for which he was appointed. Franzen v. Birkett (In re Special State’s Attorney, 305 1Il.
App. 3d 749, 761 (1999). His powers are restricted to those causes or proceedings in which the
State’é Attorney is disqualified. (f‘As to all other matters the State’s Attorney continues to
exercise all of the duties and enjoys all of the emoluments of his office.”) Aiken v. County of
Will, 321 11l. App. 171, 178 (1943). . Addltmnally, the appointment of a special prosecutor is
appropriate only where the petitioner pleads and proves specific facts showing that the State’s

: Attoniey would not zealously represent the i"eople m a given case. Harris, 335 Ill. App. 3d at .
522, citing Baxter v. Peterlin, 156 11l. App. 3d 564, 566 (1987).

Standing to seek appointment of a special prosecutor may also be at issue. Under two
provisi;:}ns of the current statute, commencement of actions to disqﬁaliﬁl the State’s Attorney are
limited to motions brm;ght by the court. or by an interested person in a cause or proceeding.
Section 3-9008 (a-5) and (a-10).

The issue was earlier addressed by our supreme court in People v. Howarth, 415 111. 499,
513 (1953), where the court concluded that citizens associated with the Good Government
Council could properly invoke the court’s jurisdiction. See also, Lavin v. Board of
Commissioners of Cook County, 245 Ill. 496, 502 (1910), where the court recognized that “the
filing of a petition by the State’s attorney setting up facts... to appoint a special State’s attorney
gave the court jurisdiction of .thc subject matter....” Similarly, in People ex rel. Baughman v.

Eaton, 24 111. App. 3d 833, 834 (1974), the Fourth District found it was appropriate for a private

11
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citizen to seek a special prosecutor to call the court’s attention to circumstances that may warrant
that appointment. Nor is it necessary that a private citizen petitioning to invoke the -
disqualification statute be a party tb the action. In re Appointment of Special Prosecutor, 388 IIL
App. 3d 220, 229 (2009); Franzen, 305 I1l. App. 3d at 758.

With these principles in.mind; consideration will be given to the merits of the case at
hand. Petitioner first asserts that she is an “interested persc;n” within the purview of Section 3-
9008 by reason of her professional background and personal attributes. As a member of the
judiciary from 1985 to 20'11, petitioner alleges that she has sustained personal harm from the
derogatory manner in which the Smollett case was handled; that she and alllresidents of the
community have been subjected to ridic‘ultle and disparaging media commentary to the extent that
her ability to live peacefully has been diminished.

The State’s Attorney denies that petitioner’s status as a taxpayer and active member of
her community is sufficient to confer stam.iing. Rather, peti'tioner'is merely a casual observer
who should not be allowed to invoke the jurisdiction of Section 3-9008 absent some showing of
particular pecuniary interest to intervene.

Although the State’s Attorney’s argument has a degree of merit, the authorities
previously discussed do not foreclose the application of petitioner’s personal attributes and
feelings in determining her status as an interested person. There is no requirement that she be a
party to the action nor need she have any financial interest in this cause. Her assertion of
standing will be sustained.

Petitioner next contends that State’s Attorney Foxx was unable to fulfill her duties. in the
Smollett case because Foxx’s recusal indicated her acknowledgement of a potential conflict of
interest stemming from her “fﬁmiliarity with potential witnesses in the case.” Petitioner’s

argument appears to be grounded on the first basis for appointment of a special prosecutor

12
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providing that an interested person in a cause or proceeding may file a petition where the State’s
Attorney is sick, absent or unable to fulfill his or her duties. 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (a-5).
An identical argument was recently rejected.in In re. Appointment of Special Prosecutor
(Emmett Farmer), 2019 IL. App. (1%) 173173, where the First District determined that subsection
(a-5) is limited to situations where the State’s Attorney is physically unable to perform due to
sickness, absence or similar circumstances beyond her control:
“By grouping ‘sick, absent or unable to fulfill his or her
duties’ together in subsection (a-5), the legislature
indicated that the inability to fulfill one’s duties is of a
kind with sickness and absence” 28

Accordingly, petitioner’s argument on subsection (a-5) must fail.

In-hér second ground of disqualification, petitionerl submits that Ms. Foxx’s use of the
word “recuse” reflects her subjective belief that “she had a conflict w1th prosecuting Jussie
Smollett and thus was unable to perform her duties as defined.” Although the existence of an
actual conﬂict of interést is indeed a récognized ground of disqualification under subsection (a-
10), petitioner essentially fails to plead aild prove specific facts identifying the interest or the
conflict. |

In petitioner’s “Fact Timeline” one might perhaps discern that the conflicting interest of
which petitioner speaks was a manifest desire to aid and assist Mr. Smollett. If so, adherence to
that motive would certainly intersect with and be in derogation of the State’s Attorney’s statutory
duties and responsibilities. Petitioner’s Timeline, together with other facts established during the
course of the proceedings, might offer some supp(;rt for a claim of interest. First, Ms. Foxx’s
receipt of text messages requesting her assistance when Smollett was a purported victim in the

early stages of the case, coupled with the seﬁés of conversations with Smollett’s family could be

indicative of a desire to help. Likewise, Foxx’s request that Police Superintendent, Eddie
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Johnson facilitate the transfer of the case to the F.B.I. could manifest a desire to aid. Again, after
Smollett had been indicted, Foxx’s approval of the dismissal on an unscheduled court date in
return for the favoréble disposition Smollett received might also be indicative of bias. Finally,
Foxx’s public statements, first upholding the strength of the State’s case, then justifying the
agreement because the evidence turned out to be weaker than was initially presented were
additional factors showing favor. -

Although petitioner*s allegations raise some disquieting concerns they do not rise to a
clear showing of interest. To be sure, other facts such as the initial charging of Smollett, the
engagement of the grand jury, the return of the indictment, the arraignment and ongoing
prosecution of Smollett are opposing facts that tend to undermine a claim of interest. Petitioner
has failed to show the existence of an actual conflict of interest in the Smollett proceeding.

Finally, petitioner posits that this court must appoint a special prosecutor because Kim
Foxx recused herself in the Smollett case. Petitioner grounds this assertion on staff’s public
statement on Febfuary 19, 2019 that Foxx had decided to recuse herself “01_1t of an abundance of -_
caution” because .Of her “familiarity with potential witnesses in the case.” The announcement
mirrored the internal acknowledgement, of February 13, 2019 that Foxx “is recused” from the
Smollett investigations.

Although the statutory authority relied upon by Ms. Foxx was not articulated, a
reasonable assumption exists that it was bottomed on subsection 3-9003 (a-15), authority for the-
proposition that permissive recusals can be invoked by the State’s Attorney for “any other reason
he or she deems appropriate.” However, Foxx di.d not file a petition for recusal, nor did she alert
the court of her recusal, thereby depriving the court of notice that appointment of a special
prosecutor was mandated. Instead, she simply turned the Smollett case over to her First

Assistant, Joseph Magats. As will be shown, her ability to bypass the mandate of the statute was
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in opposition to well-established authority.

Curiously, public announcements that flowed from the State’s Attorney’s Office offered
the rather novel view that the recusal was not actually a recusal. Rather, in an exercise of
creative lawyering, staff opined that Foxx did not formally recuse herself in a legal sense; that
the recusal was only in a cdlloquial sense. Under that rubric, Foxx could carry on as public
prosecutor, ﬁnhampered by her contradictory state.ments. However, discerning members of the
public have come to realize that the “recusal that really wasn’t” was purely an exercise in
sophistry. In this regard, the court takes judicial notice of the recently released memo penned by
Chief Ethics Officer, April Perry, under the title, State’s Attorney Recusal, dated February 13,

2019:

“Please note that State’s Attorney Kim Foxx is
recused from the investigation involving victim
Jussie Smollett. First Assistant Joe Magats is
serving as the Acting State’s Attorney for this
matter. ' '

Experience confirms that the term “recusal” is most often used to signify a voluntary
action to remove oneself as a judge. Black’s Law Dictionary, 4™ Ed. p.1442 (1951). However,
recusals are not the sole province of the judiciary, but may be invoked by most public officials.
Thus, recusals are a species of the disqualification process courts typically encounter in
processing motions for substitution of judges or change of venue. In Brzowski v. Brzowski, 2014

IL. App. 3d 130404, the Third District held that the same rules should apply when a judge.is

disqualified from a case, either by recusal or thrbugh a petition for substitution:

“...it is a generally accepted rule in both state and
federal courts that once a judge recuses, that judge
should have no further involvement in the case
outside of certain ministerial acts.” §19.

A review of the record confirms our understanding that what was intended by Ms. Foxx,
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and what indeed occurred, was an unconditional legal recusal. Her voluntary act evinced a
relinquishment of any future standing or authority over the Smollett proceeding. Essentially, she
announced that she was giving up all of the authority or power she possessed as the duly elected
chief prosecutor; she was no longer involved.

The procedure invoked by the State’s Attorney necessarily raises pi'oblematic concerns.
Particularly so, as they relate to the prdsccution of Jussie Smollett and the ultimate disposition of
his case. Under subsection 3-9008 (a-15), there is no doubt Ms. Foxx was vested with the
authority to recuse herself from any cause or proceeding for “any other reason” than those
enumerated in subsection (a-5) and (a-10). Notably, this statutory grant appearing as it does in
the Counties Code, is the sole legislative authority that enables a duly elected State’s Attorney to
voluntarily step down from a particular case for any reason. | |

Given Ms. Foxx’s earlier involvement with the Smollett family when Jussie occupied the
status of victim, her decision to recuse was understandable. But once that decision became a
reality, section 3-9008 was the only road she could traverse and that statute unequivocally
recjuires that a special prosecutor be appointed by the court. Yet, for reasons undisclosed even to
this day, Foxx instead chose to detour from that mandated course, instead appointing Mr. Magats
as “the Acting State’s Attorney for this matter.”

The State’s Attorney’s decision not only had far reaching consequences but also, quite
likely, unintended results. Not because of her choice of Joe Magats, an experienced and capable
prosecutor, but rather because his appointment was to an entity that did not exist. There was and
is no legally cognizable office of Acting State’s Attorney known to our stétutes or to the
common law. Its existence was only in the eye or imagination of its creator, Kim Foxx. But, she
was possessed of no authority, constitutionally or statutorily, to create that office. That authority

reposes solely in the Cook County Board pursué.nt to section 4-2003 of the Counties Code, 55
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ILCS 5/4-2003 (2018), People v. Jennings, 343 1IL. App. 3d 717, 724 (2003), People ex rel.

Livers v. Hanson, 290 111 370, 373 (1919).

The State’s Attorney is a constitutional officer, (Ill. Const. 1970, Art. 6, §19). Although
reposing in the juﬁici'al article, the office is a part of the executive branch of State Government
and the powers exercised by that office are executive powers. People v. Vaughn, 49 11l. App. 3d
37,39 (1977,

Itis axiomatic that the State’s Attorney is endowed with considerable .authority under the
Counties Code, 55 ILCS 5/3-9005 (a) (West 2018), ’yet none of the 13 enumerated powers and

duties vests her with the power to create subordinate offices or to appoint prosecutors following

disqualification or recusal. Pursuant to the statute, in addition to those enumerated duties, the

State’s Attorney has the power:

1) To appoint special investigators to serve subpoenas,
make returns... and conduct and make investigations
which assist the State’s Attorney. 55 ILCS 5/3-9005(b);

2) To secure information concerning putative fathers and
non-custodial ~parents for the purpose of
establishing...paternity or  modifying  support
obligation; 55 ILCS 5/3-9005 (c);

3) To seek appropriations.... for the purpose of providing
assistance in the prosecution of capital cases...in post-
conviction proceedings and in ...petitions filed under
section 2-1401 of the Code of Civil Procedure. 55
ILCS 5/3-9005(d); and, '

4) To enter into ...agreements with the Department of
Revenue for pursuit of civil liabilities under the Illinois
Criminal Code. 55 ILCS 5/3-9005 (e).

Nor do decisions of our reviewing courts offer any hint of approval for the unprecedented
exercise of power witnessed in the Smollett prosecution. Rather, attention is directed to a series
17
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B o R e .53 5 ol i s et & A

of cases arising from the practice in downstate counties whereby agency attorneys appeared to
assist county prosecutors in specific cases pursuant to section 4-01 of the State’s Attorneys
Appellate Prosecutors Act, 725 ILCS 210/4.01 (West 2018). Indeed, this was a common practice
in counties containing less than 3,000,000 inhabitants. In each instance, the common thread
connecting the cases involved appearances on crimes not specifically enumerated in the enabling

Act, coupled with the absence of court orders authorizing the appointments mandated under 55
ILCS 5/3-9008.

In People v. Jennings, 343 1ll. App. 3d 717 (2003), the record showed that appointed
counsel actually displaced the elected State’s Attorney, with total responsibility for the
prosecution. Counsel acted pursuant to the State’s Attorney’s order naming him as a special
assistant State’s Attqmey and an oath of office was taken. Yet, no order was entered by the trial
court appointing him as a duly authorized prosecutor in the case. In disapproving this procedure,
the Jennings court stated: “This type of appointment cannot be condoned. State’s Attorneys are
clearly not meant fo have such unbridled authority in the appointment of special prosecutors.”
Jennings, 343 Ill. App. 3d at 724. -

Similarly, in People v. Woodall, 333 Ill. App. 3d 1146 (2002), the court having found no
legitimate basis for any of the agency a;ttomeys to conduct the prosecution on the State’s behalf

cautioned:

“The use of special assistants is limited by statute. They
can be appointed by circuit court order only after a judicial
determination that the elected State’s Attorney is ‘sick or -
absent, or [is] unable to attend, or is interested in any cause

or proceeding’ 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 (West 1998).” Woodall,
333 11l. App. 3d at 1154

The Woodall court was qlso troubled by the State’s Attorneys effrontery in professing

they were at liberty to create the assistant State’s Attorney positions in derogation of the
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/

authority of the County Board:

The_ position of “special assistant
position unknown to our laws,

recogmze an appointment process that would create a new
hybrid office, an assistant State’s Attorney who is special in
several ways, but not in the way that the adjective ‘special’
nor-mally defines the office of special prosecutor...the
assistant would hold a special position never authorized by

the county board.” See 55 ILCS 5/4-2003 (West 1998).”
Woodall, 333 11l. App. 3d at 1153-54.

State’s Attorney” is a
The State asks us to

Earlier, in People v. Ward, 326 TIl. App. 3d 897 (2002), the Fifth District sounded the

death knell for prosecutions conducted by attorneys who lacked legitimacy:

“If a case is not prosecuted by an attorney properly acting
as an assistant State’s Attorney, the prosecution is void and
the cause should be remanded so that it can be brought by a
. proper prosecutor. Ward, 326 Ill. App. 3d at 902
The specter of a void prosecution is surely not confined to Ward. Our jurisprudence
speaks to many cases, civil and criminal, where the nullity or voidness rule has caused
judgements to be vacated on collateral review. Most prominent perhaps are challengeé directed
to the standing of unlicensed attorneys to attend or conduct the proceedings. For example, In
People v. Munson, 319 1l1. 596 (1925), the supreme court considered the effect of participation in
the securing of an indictment by one elected as State’s Attorney but not licensed to practice law.
In quashing the indictment, the court reasoned:
“If one unauthorized to practice law or appear in courts of
record may assist the grand jury in returning an indictment
merely because he has been elected to the office of State’s

Attorney, no reason is seen why one not so elected and not

otherwise qualified may not do the same. Munson, 319 IlL.
App. 3d at 605.”

An identical result obtained in People v Dunson, 316 Ill. App. 3d 760 (2000), where the
defendant, who was prosecuted by an unlicensed attorney, sought post-conviction relief from two

disorderly conduct convictions. Although the court recognized the prejudice that inured to the
19
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316 1lL. App. 3d at 770,

CONCLUSION
In summary, Jussie Smollett’s case is truly unique among the countless prosecutions
heard in this building. A case that purported to have been brought and supervised by a
prosecutor serving in the stead of our duty elected State’s Attorney, who in fact was appointed to
a fictitious office having no legal existence. It is also a case that deviated from the statutory
mandate requiring the appointment of a special prosecutor in cases where the State’s Attorney is
recused. And finally, it is a case where based upon similar factual scenaribs, resulting
dispositions and judgments have been deemed void and held for naught.
Here, the ship of the State ventured from its profected harbor without the guiding hand of
its captain. There was no master on the bridge to guide the ship as it floundered through
unchartered waters. And it ultimately lost its bearings. As with that ship, in the case at hand:

There was no duly elected State’s Attorney when Jussie
Smollett was arrested;

There was no State’s Attorney when Smollett was initially
charged; :

There was no State’s Attoméy when Smollett’s case was
presented to the grand jury, nor when he was indicted;

There was no State’s Attorﬁey when Smollett was
arraigned and entered his plea of not guilty; and

There was no State’s Attorney in the courtroom when the
proceedings were nolle prossed.
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Adherence to the long-

stan inci -

anding principles discussed herein mandates that a special
rosecutor be appoint .
P ppointed to conduct an independent investigation of the actions of any person or

office involved in all aspects of the case entitled the People of the State of Illinois v. Jussie
Smollett, No. 19 CR 0310401, and if reasonable grounds exist to further prosecute Smollett, in
the interest of justice the special prosecutor may take such action as may be appropriate to
effectuate that result. Additionally, in the event the investigation establishes reasonable grounds
to believe that any other criminal offense was committed in the course of the Smollett matter, the
special prosecutor may commence the prosecution of any crime as may be suspected.

Although disqualification of the duly elected State’s Attorney necessarily impacts
constitutional concerns, the unpreced_ented- irregularities identified in this case warrants the

appointment of ihdependent counsel to restore the public’s confidence in the integrity of our

criminal justice system.

ENTERED/ W i Z/

Michael P. Toomin,
Judge of the
Circuit Court of Cook County
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BOND PROFFER

Defendant: Jussie Smollett (DOB 6/21/82) - 36 years old
Charge: Disorderly Conduct-False Report (Class 4 Felony)

The Defendant Jussie Smollet is an Actor and Singer-Songwriter, who currently appears
as a character on the Fox television show “Empire.” Defendant Smollett currently
resides in an Apartment in Chicago’s Streeterville neighborhood.

The People expect the evidence to show that:

On Tuesday, January 22, 2019, Defendant Smollett received a written letter at the Cinespace
Chicago Film Studios, which is a facility on the Southwest Side of Chicago where the
Empire Television Show is filmed. This letter contained written threats directed toward
Defendant Smollett, and contained a then unknown white powdery substance. The letter
also contained cut out letters pieced together which stated "Smollett Jussie you will die black
f--", and the word "MAGA" was hand written on the envelope where the return address is
typically located. This powdery substance has since been determined to be crushed
ibuprofen tablets. The letter also contained a drawing of a stick figure, which appears to
have a rope around the neck and a gun pointed at it. Law enforcement authorities were
contacted, and the letter was turned over to the Federal Bureau of Investigation, which is
currently conducting forensic analysis of the letter.

In January of 2019, and at all times relevant hereto, Defendant Smollett was close friends
with an individual by the name of Abimbola “Abel” Osundairo, who is 25 years old.

Smollett and Abel initiated their friendship in the fall of 2017. During the course of this
friendship, Defendant Smollett and Abel socialized together, exercised together, as well as
worked together on the Fox television series Empire. Within that working relationship, Abel
was a stand-in for a character named “Kai”, who is a love interest of Deféendant Smollet’s
character on the Empire TV Show. Additionally, text messages between Defendant Smollett
and Abel revealed that Abel was a source of designer drugs for Defendant Smollett.
Specifically, since the spring of 2018, on several occasions, Defendant Smollett requested
Abel to provide him with “Molly”, which is a street name for the narcotic Ecstasy.

Text messages generated by Defendant Smollett to Abel, specifically starting on the morning
of January 25, 2019, reveal Defendant Smollett asking Abel when he would be leaving on
his upcoming trip to Nigeria. This trip was scheduled to take place on the evening of
January 29, 2019, and it had been planned by Abel and his brother Olabinjo “Ola” Osundairo
(27 years old) two months prior.

After Abel confirmed the date and time of his trip, Defendant Smollett texted Abel stating
“Might need your help on the low. You around to meet up and talk face to face?” The
two then made arrangements to meet at the Cinespace Studios that afternoon, where
quendant Smollett subsequently drove Abel home to Abel’s apartment in the Lakeview
neighborhood. During the ride, Defendant Smollett indicated to Abel his displeasure with
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the Empire Studio’s handling of the racist and homophobic letter he received three days
prior. Defendant Smollett then stated that he wanted to stage an attack where Abel would
appear to batter him. Defendant Smollett also suggested that Abel’s older brother Ola assist
him with the attack. Defendant Smollett had met Ola on several previous occasions through
Abel. Additionally, Ola had also appeared as an extra of the Empire TV show. Abel and
Ola are both dark skinned, black males, born in the United States, with Nigerian decent.

When Defendant Smollett and Abel reached Abel’s apartment at approximately 5:00 PM on
January 25, 2019, Ola, who was then living with Abel, was summoned into Defendant
Smollett’s vehicle. Once inside, Smollett asked Ola if he could trust him. When Ola said he
could, Smollett detailed his plans of the attack to the brothers. Defendant Smollett stated
that he wanted them to appear to attack him on the evening of January 28, 2019 near his
apartment building in Streeterville. Defendant Smollett also stated that he wanted the
brothers to catch his attention by calling him an “Empire F----- Empire N-----.” Defendant
Smollett further detailed that he wanted Abel to attack him, but not hurt him too badly and
give him a chance to appear to fight back. Defendant Smollett also included that he wanted
Ola to place a rope around his neck, pour gasoline on him and yell “This is MAGA country.”
Prior to the brothers getting out of Smollett’s car, Smollett provided Abel with a $100 bill to
purchase the rope, gasoline, ski masks, gloves and red baseball caps which resemble the ones
that say “Make America Great Again.” The ride from Cinescape Studios to the Osundairo
brothers’ home and the meeting between Smollett and the brothers is corroborated by CPD
POD videos and cellular phone tower data of Smollett’s phone number. v

On the late morning of Sunday January 27, 2019, Smollett drove his vehicle back to the
Lakeview neighborhood to pick up the brothers and show them the scene where he wanted
the staged attack to take place. Smollett then drove the brothers to the corner of New Street
and North Water Street in Chicago where the staged attack was to take place. This was just
outside Smollett’s apartment building. Further details were provided by Smollett which
included that the staged attack was to take place near the stairs on the southwest corner of
New and NorthWater Streets at 10:00PM the following night. Smollett also instructed the
brothers not to bring their cell phones with them. Smollett directed the brothers’ attention
toward a surveillance camera on the corner, which he believed would capture the incident.
There was a change in the plan that bleach was going to be used rather than gasoline during
the simulated attack. Smollett then drove the brothers home and provided them with a
$3500 personal check made payable to Abel, which was backdated to January 23, 2019.

On the morning of January 28, 2019, the date of the planned incident, the brothers purchased
the clothing items at a local beauty supply store and the rope at a nearby hardware store,
using the $100 bill that Smollett had given them. These purchases were corroborated by
surveillance video and a receipt. Abel also deposited Smollett’s check that same day in his
own bank account. Later that evening, the plan had changed and the time of the attack had
to be pushed back because Smollett’s flight into O’Hare Airport from New York had been
delayed by four hours. Smollett’s plane eventually landed at O’Hare at 12:30 AM on
January 29, 2019. At 12:49 AM, there was a phone call between Smollett and Abel which
lasted three minutes. During this call, Smollett told Abel the attack would take place at
exactly 2:00 AM at the preset location. Minutes later Ola ordered an Uber ride share to his
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home to leave for the crime scene. Cell phone records and Uber records confirm this call and
the Uber ride.

The brothers then took the Uber to the 1400 block of North Wells where they exited the Uber
and flagged down a taxi which took them to within three blocks of the arranged scene at
approximately 1:22 AM. The taxi’s in-car video captures the brothers flagging the cab and

riding in the back seat.

From approximately 1:22A.M. until approximately 2:03A.M., video evidence showed the
brothers on foot in an area bordered by Lake Shore Drive on the east, Columbus Drive on the
west, Illinois Street to the north, and the Chicago River to the south. Video evidence also
showed that Smollett returned back to his apartment from the airport at approximately 1:30
AM. At 1:45 AM, Smollett left his building to walk to a nearby Subway restaurant at
Ilinois Street and McClurg Court At 2:00 AM, the brothers were at the intersection of New
St. and North Water Street; however, Defendant Smollett did not arrive exactly at the preset
time. The brothers then proceeded a quarter block north and waited near a bench until
Smollett arrived, which was four minutes later. Surveillance cameras captured the brothers
waiting at this location just prior to the staged attack. During Smollett’s interview on ABC’s
Good Mormning America which aired on February 14, 2019, he identified the people shown in
a still of this surveillance video as his attackers. Also, during this interview, Smollett
indicated that he was positive that these were his attackers. The two men in this video are in

fact that Osundairo brothers.

¥

It was at this time, that the brothers staged the attack of Defendant Smollett just how Smollett
had instructed them. While the staged attack was occurring, a witness, who is an employee
of NBC News Chicago, had just parked and exited her vehicle just around the corner from
the location of the staged attack. This witness indicated that she heard nothing at the time the
staged attack was occurring, despite the fact that Defendant Smollett told CPD detectives that
his attackers were “yelling” racial and homophobic slurs at him, and he in turn was “yelling”
back at them. The staged attack lasted 45 seconds, and it was just outside the view of the
desired nearby camera that Smollett had pointed out to the brothers approximately 15 hours

earlier.

Approximately one minute later, video evidence showed the brothers run from the location,
southbound toward the Chicago River and westbound toward Columbus Drive Video
evidence also captured the brothers entering a taxi at the Hyatt Regency Hotel across the

river at 02:10 A.M. _

Video evidence then showed that at 2:25 AM, the brothers exit the taxi on the 3600 block of
North Marshfield Ave. and walk northbound. This was only a few blocks from the brothers’
Lakeview apartment, which was also the original Uber pick up location to the staged crime
scene. Video shows the brothers walking from where they were dropped off toward their
home. Two minutes after the brothers exited the taxi, at 2:27 A.M., Defendant Smollett’s
manager called the police to report the incident. At approximately 2:42 A.M., Chicago
Police arrived at Smollett’s apartment. Chicago Police Officers observed that Smollett had a
rope draped around his neck. This was captured on police body worn camera. Seconds later,
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Smollett asked the Police to shut off the cameras. Smollett then made a police report where
he claimed he was the victim of an attack in which the offenders struck him while yelling
racial and homophobic slurs. Smollett also reported that the offenders placed a rope around
his neck, poured a liquid chemical on him, and told him this is “MAGA Country.”

Defendant Smollett also reported for the first time, that three days prior, on January 26, 2019,
he received a phone call from an unidentified phone number in which an unidentified male
caller stated, "Hey you little F----" before ending the call. Smollett also told police that the
incident happened near a camera, which he stated should have captured the attack. This is
the same camera that Defendant Smollett pointed out to the Osundairo brothers in
preparation of this staged attack. Smollett also told police that the initial and primary
attacker (now known to be Abel Osundairo) was wearing a ski mask which covered his entire
face, with the exception of his eyes and the area all around his eyes. Smollett stated to the
police that he could see that the area around this person’s eyes was white-skinned. As stated
earlier in this proffer, the Osundairo brothers are dark skinned male blacks. During the Good
Morning America interview referenced earlier, Smollett stated “And it feels like if I had said
it was a Muslim, or a Mexican, or someone black, I feel like the doubters would have
supported me much more. A lot more...” These statements by Smollett further misled the
police and the public to believe that his attackers were white.

On January 29, 2019 at 7:45 PM, just less than 18 hours following reported attack, Defendant
Smollett placed a phone call to Abel and the duration of the call was five seconds. Two
minutes later, Abel called back Smollett and the call lasted 1 minute and 34 seconds. The
brothers then boarded their flight to Nigeria and left the country. On January 30, 2019 at
10:46 AM, Defendant Smollett called Abel, who was in Istanbul Turkey, and the duration of
the call lasted 8 minutes and 48 seconds.

For the next two weeks, the Chicago Police Department investigated this matter as a Hate
Crime. Chicago police were able to identify the Osundairo brothers as the alleged attackers
through an extensive investigation using Surveillance Videos, Police Pod Videos, in-car taxi
camera videos, rideshare records, credit card records, bank records, and a store receipt. On
February 13, 2019, the brothers returned from Nigeria, landing at Chicago O'Hare
International Airport, and they were detained by US Customs. Members of the Chicago
Police Department then placed them into custody. That same evening, the Chicago Police /

- executed a Search Warrant upon the Osundairo brothers’ residence where they recovered
evidence which linked Abel to the Empire TV show. Chicago Police already had determined
that Ola was affiliated with the show as well.

Following their arrest and through consultation with their attorneys, the brothers agreed to
cooperate in the investigation. As more evidence, such as text messages, phone records,
social media records, bank records, surveillance video and the receipt from the purchase of
the rope was obtained by investigators, the investigation shifted from a Hate Crime to a
Disorderly Conduct investigation. The Cook County State’s Attorney’s Office approved
charges of Disorderly Conduct against Defendant Smollett at 6:10 PM on February 20, 2019.
At 5:00 AM this morning (January 21, 2019), Defendant Smollett was placed into custody at
Area Central Chicago Police Headquarters.
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Osundairo brothers were reading dozens of news stories about the developments in the Smollett
investigation, including the following pertinent articles:

2/8/2019 10:28:14PM (UTC+0) - Chicago PD Intend to Charge Jussie Smollett If
a False Report Was Filed

2/10/2019 8:46:56PM (UTC +0) - Jussie Smollett noose news, by Steve Sailer -
The Unz Review (discussing some "of the most publicized hate hoaxes")

2/10/2019 8:52:54PM (UTC +0) - Jussie Smollett To Be "Held Accountable" For
Potential False Report, Police Claims

Exhibit A.

Osundairo Brothers' Lawyer Helps Advance '""Hoax" Narrative,
Resulting in Their Release from Custody Uncharged

In numerous television and radio interviews, the Osundairo brothers' attorney, Gloria
Schmidt, revealed that her clients' version of what happened on the night of January 29, 2019
was lawyer-driven, namely that after doing her own investigation of the timeline of events, she
came up with a story that allowed her clients to be released from policy custody uncharged. For
instance, in a television interview on CNN on March 11, 2019, when asked by Anderson Cooper
how she came to believe her clients' story, Ms. Schmidt told Anderson that it was actually her
and her co-counsel who "pieced everything together." She explained:

Number one, I want to just put it out there that [the Osundairo brothers] fully

cooperated with the police. Obviously that starts with cooperating with your

attorney. And myself, my co-counsel, Jorge Rodriguez, we walked through the

actual timeline. We pieced everything together. This took us a lot of time

ourselves. So my own law firm doing our own private investigation. We were

able to, to fish it out, if you will, and tell the Commander there's something that

doesn't match with the narrative that had been put out by Mr. Smollett.

(Full interview available at https://www.facebook.com/watch/?v=526875264504960.)

Furthermore, in a radio interview on Chicago's Morning Answer (AMS560), which aired

on March 29, 2019, Ms. Schmidt admitted that she was the one who told the brothers the details

of the attack (as Mr. Smollett had described in a televised interview the prior day) and she was
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the one who convinced the brothers to tell police that the attack was a hoax. In the interview,

Ms. Schmidt explained:

(Full interview available at https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CS8xuU4DxDM) (emphasis

added.)

From beginning, we had, I went down to Area Central, which is where the guys
were being held up after they were detained in, at customs in O’Hare. So it was
Valentine's Day I remember. That first day the police were just kind of feeling
me out, seeing what it is [ was . . . you know, there is kind of always a little bit of
a rift between a defense attorney and the police. And then I told them, "I’m sorry
guys I can’t work like this." They were giving me the room with the bulletproof
glass and I could barely hear the clients and I spent basically the whole day just
trying to get to meet them, having a very logistically difficult time. So that first
day for me was a real throw away. But what I did after I met them, I did my own
investigation. I drove the route. I got out of my car, I walked around where, you
know, the alleged attack happened. I walked up the stairwell and I'm like,
something does not smell right with this, there’s just no way -- this was too
planned, why would they be standing there, it's like polar vortex weather. So, and
the guys, you know, like I said, it was very hard to hear them because we were in
the lock up and I'm sitting through the glass. Okay so the next day that I go,
which is Friday, I said to the police, "please can you let me have a contact visit,"
which means you get to sit in a room with your client and they don’t usually do
that. But the police in this case said, "you know what, it is noisy, it is hard to
understand, so yes." So, that’s when | really got to, you know, got to talk to
them and tell them about the details. What had happened the day before that had
infuriated everyone, really, was Robin Roberts’ . . . the interview. Right. So that
had aired I think on Thursday. And so they let me bring in my laptop, the police
were like, "you know what, do what you need to do, we’ll give you time." And so
I started talking to them and told them: "Hey, they lawyered up, that’s good for
me, we’ll have a trial on a hate crime." [Clears throat.] Excuse me. So the police
were there really to just let me do my thing. I brought my co-counsel, Jorge, and
umm, then once, once I told them that the interview had aired and this was a lot
bigger than they probably had thought, if you were helping your friend do a
publicity stunt that you thought wouldn’t go further than the Fox people on
your show, then this is, this is your, you know, this is the time, if you’re going to
set the record straight, this is the time. Or you can stay lawyered up, and I’'m
happy to do that too, no problem, I can take this to trial. I am confident that you
didn't do a hate crime so stay lawyered up, it's completely up to you. And they
both said to me, "Gloria, we don’t want to be part of this fraud, like that’s not,
that's not how we were raised."
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In another radio interview, which aired on WGN Radio on March 27, 2019, Ms. Schmidt
explicitly acknowledged that it was the statements to police that the Osundairo brothers were
acting at Mr. Smollett's direction which shifted the trajectory of the investigation to Mr. Smollett
and allowed the brothers to be released from police custody uncharged. Ms. Schmidt stated:

And at the end of the day, it was thanks to that cooperation that the trajectory of
their investigation switched. Remember, my clients were persons of interest at
the start. Then they became suspects. They were arrested. Then they went home.
And obviously that shift is because of the evidence that came to light and it was
because this was something that was at Mr. Smollett's direction. So I can't speak
for Mr. Smollett but obviously that is the key difference in making the
investigation shift towards Mr. Smollett.

(Full interview available at https://wgnradio.com/2019/03/27/jussie-smollett-alleged-attackers-

attorney-gloria-schmidt-im-quite-surprised-at-how-nefarious-people-think-this-case-is/.)

Ms. Schmidt also took the untenable position that her clients' "cooperation" with police

was entirely selfless and not motivated in any way by their desire to avoid criminal charges. In
a television interview which aired on Fox32 Chicago on March 11, 2019, the following exchange
took place with Ms. Schmidt:

HOST: Now when you say they cooperated with police, my sources are saying
that the police threatened to charge them with assault and in the 47th hour they
eventually agreed to help police in exchange for not being charged. You were in
that room. What can you tell us about what happened during that interrogation?

SCHMIDT: I was in the room for all those 47, 48 hours with them and I can tell
you the threat of being charged was not a concern to them. It really was not.
What was a concern to them, what they realized in that entire process was how
much this was going to affect people, not just them, their family . . . people across
the board, people that have actually suffered hate crimes themselves. That is the
impetus, not, not immunity, not a plea deal, that, that is the real focus for them.

(Full interview available at https://www.facebook.com/Fox32Chicago/posts/gloria-schmidt-the-

attorney-for-the-osundairo-brothers-who-allegedly-helped-juss/10157819710633797/.)
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No Independent Corroboration of the Osundairo Brothers' Statements
Following the dismissal of the criminal charges against Mr. Smollett and pursuant to a
court order,' thousands of pages of discovery were unsealed and publicly disclosed as well as
over 70 hours of video footage. The discovery reveals an overwhelming amount of evidence of
the Osundairo brothers' involvement in the attack on Mr. Smollett. But critically, other than the
Osundairo brothers' self-serving statements which resulted in their release from custody with no

criminal charges being filed against them, not a single piece of evidence independently

corroborates their claim that the attack was a hoax.
Continued False Reporting of the ""Evidence" in this Case

Despite the lack of credible evidence against Mr. Smollett and the fact that all criminal
charges have been dismissed against him, he has been presumed guilty of the charges due to the
widespread false reporting of the "evidence" in this case, which began long before any such
evidence was officially made public. And even after the discovery in this case was unsealed and
publicly disclosed, reporters have continued to irresponsibly and falsely report on the evidence in
the case. For instance, on June 25, 2019, CBS Chicago reported that Jussie Smollett’s search
history showed that in the days following the reported attack, Mr. Smollett Googled his name
more than fifty times. However, after Mr. Smollett's attorney contacted the network and
demanded a retraction because the information was inaccurate, CBS Chicago corrected its
original story. See Charlie De Mar, "Jussie Smollett Correction: Records Show Osundairo
Brother, Not Actor, Was Googling News Of Alleged Attack," CBS Chicago (June 25, 2019),
available at https://chicago.cbslocal.com/2019/06/25/jussie-smollett-update-actor-googled-him

self-more-than-50-times-in-days-after-alleged-attack/ ("CBS 2 initially reported that Smollett

' On May 23, 2019, Judge Steven G. Watkins granted the Media Intervenors' "Emergency Motion to Intervene for
Purposes of Objecting to and Vacating the Sealing Order" which had been filed on April 1, 2019. The records in
this case were unsealed on a rolling basis following the Court's May 23, 2019 Order.
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searched himself. However, after questions were raised by Smollett’s attorney, we have verified
that the search results are from one of the Osundairo brothers."). But despite the fact that the
original story was corrected by CBS Chicago, numerous other media outlets picked up the
original story with the inaccurate reporting and did not correct their stories despite being made
aware that the information they were reporting was incorrect. See, e.g., Tim Pearce, "Jussie
Smollett Googled himself over 50 times after reported hate crime: Report," Washington
Examiner (June 26, 2019), available at https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/news/jussie-
smollett-googled-himself-over-50-times-after-reported-hate-crime. This is only one example of
the way in which false accounts of the "evidence" in this case have dominated the news cycle,
tainted public opinion, and led to an unfair presumption of guilt against Mr. Smollett.
Need for Public Disclosure of the Grand Jury Transcripts

Now, in the face of ongoing investigations into this matter and two related pending civil
lawsuits, Mr. Smollett is requesting that the Court allow the immediate public disclosure of the
transcripts of the grand jury testimony of Abimbola and Olabinjo Osundairo so Mr. Smollett can
defend against this ongoing media onslaught against him and the public can be informed of the
actual evidence in this case. While the Osundairo brothers' attorney has held press conferences
and done numerous television and radio interviews about her clients' account of what happened,
their actual sworn testimony before the grand jury has not been disclosed to the public. To
compound matters, despite having released over 70 hours of video footage, for some inexplicable
reason, the Chicago Police Department has not released the videos of the February 15, 2019
interviews of Abimbola and Olabinjo Osundairo while they were in police custody. The public
disclosure of the grand jury transcripts of the Osundairo brothers' testimony is therefore

necessary to level the playing field and inform the public of the actual evidence in this case.
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Argument

725 ILCS 5/112-6(c)(3) permits the court to disclose matters occurring before the grand
jury in the interests of justice. The trial court has substantial discretion in deciding whether to
release grand jury matters. Bd. of Educ. v. Verisario, 143 I1l. App. 3d 1000, 1009 (1986) (citing
Douglas Oil Co. of California v. Petrol Stops Nw., 441 U.S. 211, 223 (1979).) In deciding
whether disclosure is required in the interests of justice, the court applies a three-prong
particularized need test: "that the material they seek is needed to avoid a possible injustice in
another judicial proceeding, that the need for disclosure is greater than the need for continued
secrecy, and that their request is structured to cover only material so needed.” Verisario, 143 Ill.
App. 3d at 1009 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

As explained below, Mr. Smollett and the citizens of Cook County are best served by the
disclosure of the grand jury transcripts of the Osundairo brothers' testimony.

A. Secrecy Concerns Do Not Apply.

The veil of secrecy surrounding grand jury proceedings is not impenetrable, and "[w]here
the ends of justice require it, the testimony of a grand jury witness may be disclosed." People v.
French, 61 IlI. App. 2d 439, 443 (1965) (citing United States v. Socony-Vacuum Qil Co., 310
U.S. 150, 234 (1940); People v. Johnson, 31 111.2d 602, 606 (1964)).

Here, the grand jury has concluded its proceedings, an indictment against Mr. Smollett
was returned (and later dismissed), and the complete grand jury testimony at issue has already
been disclosed to the parties in the criminal case. Thus, the primary reasons for grand jury
secrecy no longer apply: there is no danger of undue influence or pressure being exerted on the
grand jurors or on any witnesses appearing before the grand jury, and there is no danger of an

escape by the person against whom an indictment may be returned. See, e.g., Johnson, 31 Ill. 2d
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at 606; People v. Goldberg, 302 I11. 559, 564 (1922); Hoge v. People, 117 I11. 35, 49 (1886); see
also Ill. v. Sarbaugh, 552 F.2d 768, 775 (7th Cir. 1977) ("When transcripts are shared, . . . the
group of potential retaliators who do not know of the grand jury testimony is reduced and so is
the importance of maintaining secrecy.").

Furthermore, the identity of the Osundairo brothers as grand jury witnesses has long been
revealed and their own attorney has made numerous statements to the media, including
statements specifically commenting on the Osundairo brothers' grand jury testimony. For
instance, on February 20, 2019, Ms. Schmidt held a press conference at the courthouse in which
she discussed the fact that the Osundairo brothers had just testified before the grand jury that
day.

REPORTER: Were they before grand jurors at any point this week?

SCHMIDT: Today.

REPORTER: Were they under oath?

SCHMIDT: They were under oath.

REPORTER: How long did they testify for today?

SCHMIDT: Let's see. I'm trying to remember, honestly, I want to say about
two and a half hours.

REPORTER: A piece? Together?
SCHMIDT: Together.
(Full press conference available at https://www.facebook.com/FoxBusiness/videos/gloria-

schmidt-the-attorney-for-two-brothers-associated-with-the-jussie-smollett/2247100895557118/.)
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Moreover, in the March 29, 2019 radio interview on Chicago's Morning Answer
(AM560) referenced above, Ms. Schmidt further commented on the content of her clients' grand
jury testimony: "In the grand jury, I remember, I think one of the questions was well you know,
did Jussie not think he could pull a punch, or something like that. And Ola said 'no,' and the
grand jury members started laughing. Umm, so Ola’s job was simply just to hold the bleach and
the noose and scream that this was MAGA country and, and it was, you know, Abel’s job to kind
of like play fight with him." (Full interview available at https://www.youtube.com/
watch?v=CS8xuU4DxDM.)

The Osundairo brothers should not be able to use the media to advance their narrative on
the one hand, but on the other hand, shield from the public statements they gave under oath to the
grand jury. As the Illinois Supreme Court ruled almost a century ago, "[a] witness has no
privilege to have his testimony treated as a confidential communication but must be considered
as testifying under all the obligations of an oath in a judicial proceeding, and hence his testimony
may be disclosed whenever it becomes material to the administration of justice." Goldberg, 302
I1l. at 564. Further, even if the Osundairo brothers may be embarrassed by public access to their
testimony, that fact is "insufficient to bar public disclosure." Culinary Foods, Inc. v. Raychem
Corp., 151 F.R.D. 297, 301 (N.D. I1l. 1993).

Because grand jury secrecy concerns do not apply here and disclosure is necessary in the
interests of justice, as further explained below, the Court should permit the immediate public
disclosure of the transcripts of the grand jury testimony of Abimbola Osundairo and Olabinjo

Osundairo.
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B. Mr. Smollett Has Demonstrated a Particularized and Compelling Need for the
Grand Jury Transcripts at Issue.

Because secrecy concerns do not apply in this case, the showing of need that is required
to warrant disclosure of the transcripts is de minimus. See In the Matter of Grand Jury
Proceedings, Miller Brewing Co., 687 F.2d 1079, 1091 (7th Cir. 1982) ("As considerations
justifying secrecy become less relevant, a party asserting a need for grand jury transcripts will
have a lesser burden in showing justification for disclosure."). Here, Mr. Smollett has
demonstrated a sufficiently particularized and compelling need for disclosure because the
Osundairo brothers' grand jury testimony is material and necessary to the ongoing investigation
of this matter as well as to two pending civil lawsuits, one of which was brought by the
Osundairo brothers themselves. The Cook County Inspector General's Office is currently
investigating the handling of the Smollett case by the State Attorney's Office. Furthermore,
Judge Toomin's June 21, 2019 order granted the appointment of a special prosecutor to conduct
an independent investigation of the actions of any person or office involved in the prosecution of
Mr. Smollett and to further prosecute Mr. Smollett, if reasonable grounds exist.>

In addition to the ongoing investigations mentioned above, there are two pending civil
lawsuits in which the grand jury testimony of the Osundairo brothers is material and necessary.
Specifically, following the dismissal of the criminal charges against Mr. Smollett, on April 11,
2019, the City of Chicago filed a civil complaint in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois,
Law Division, styled City of Chicago v. Smollett, No. 2019L003898, in which the City is seeking
to recover civil penalties, treble damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs under the Municipal

Code of Chicago for the alleged false statements made by Mr. Smollett to the City.’

* Concurrent with this Motion, Mr. Smollett is filing a Motion for Reconsideration of the June 21, 2019 Order.

* On July 3, 2019, Mr. Smollett removed this case to federal court.
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Additionally, on April 23, 2019, the Osundairo brothers filed a civil complaint in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, styled
Olabinjo Osundairo, et al. v. Mark Geragos, et al., Case No. 19-cv-2727, against Mr. Smollett’s
attorneys Mark Geragos, Tina Glandian, and the Geragos & Geragos Law Firm for defamation,
false light, and respondeat superior based on statements allegedly made in the course of their
representation of Mr. Smollett. In the Complaint, the Osundairo brothers specifically allege that
"[o]n February 20, 2019, Plaintiffs testified truthfully before a grand jury regarding the facts of
what happened on or around January 29, 2019."  Complaint, § 17, available at
https://dig.abclocal.go.com/wls/documents/2019/0423 19-wls-smollett-suit.pdf.

Mr. Smollett is in possession of the grand jury transcripts in question, which show
inconsistencies between the Osundairo brothers' testimony under oath and public statements
made about this matter, as well as certain other evidence that has now been publicly disclosed.
Indeed, grand jury transcripts can be used for a variety of purposes during civil depositions and
at trial for impeachment purposes. See, e.g., Sarbaugh, 552 F.2d at 776-77; lll. v. Harper & Row
Publishers, Inc., 50 F.R.D. 37, 40 (N.D. I1l. 1969); see, e.g., People v. Wurster, 83 Ill. App. 3d
399, 407 (1980) (allowing the State to use a portion of defendant's grand jury testimony for
purposes of impeachment during cross-examination of the defendant). Therefore, disclosure of
the Osundairo brothers' testimony is material and necessary to Mr. Smollett's defense and the
ascertainment of the truth. See United States v. Procter & Gamble Co., 356 U.S. 677, 683
(1958) ("the use of the grand jury transcript at the trial to impeach a witness, to refresh his
recollection, to test his credibility and the like [constitute] "particularized need").

Moreover, the public has expressed substantial concerns regarding the handling of this

case. And the public still demands to know the facts and circumstances underlying the
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investigation of this matter as well as the reasons for the dismissal of the charges against Mr.
Smollett, as evidenced, in part, by the media's motion to unseal the records in this case as well as
the petition for the appointment of a special prosecutor. Therefore, the disclosure of the sworn
testimony of the two key witnesses against Mr. Smollett will also serve the public interest.

C. Mr. Smollett Is Seeking Disclosure of a Limited Amount of Material.

At the time the Osundairo brothers testified before a grand jury on February 20, 2019, the
State Attorney's Office was not seeking an indictment against Mr. Smollett. Rather, on February
21, 2019, a felony complaint signed by Detective Michael Theis was filed against Mr. Smollett.
Several weeks later, on March 7, 2019, an indictment was returned against Mr. Smollett based on
the testimony of Detective Theis. Mr. Smollett is not seeking the disclosure of the grand jury
transcripts of Detective Theis' testimony. His request, is therefore, narrowly structured to cover
only the material needed.

D. Mr. Smollett Is Prejudiced by the Non-Disclosure of the Transcripts.

While there is no reason to maintain the secrecy of the grand jury transcripts in question,
Mr. Smollett will be prejudiced by the continued non-disclosure of this information.

The media attention in this case has been staggering. Dozens of camera crews and
reporters flooded the courthouse for Mr. Smollett's initial bond hearing on February 21, 2019.
Police superintendent Eddie Johnson and assistant state's attorney Risa Lanier gave press
conferences before and after the bond hearing, respectively, in which they extensively discussed
the State's "evidence." Helicopters and news vans followed Mr. Smollett as he left the
courthouse. The media subsequently requested extended media coverage for all proceedings in

the case.
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Furthermore, during the pendency of the criminal case against Mr. Smollett, police
superintendent Eddie Johnson and then-mayor Rahm Emanuel each separately went on national
television to discuss the evidence and improperly opine on Mr. Smollett's guilt. Days after an
indictment was filed against Mr. Smollett, the Osundairo brothers' attorney, Gloria Schmidt, also
made numerous TV appearances in which she discussed the expected testimony of her clients
and continued to improperly opine on Mr. Smollett's guilt. Specifically, on March 11, 2019, Ms.
Schmidt appeared on Good Morning America, CNN's Anderson Cooper, CBS News, and NBC's
Access, repeatedly stating that Mr. Smollett abused his power and took advantage of the
Osundairo brothers in asking them to participate in a hoax.* The result of all these public
statements has been massive and widespread misinformation, which has deprived Mr. Smollett
of the presumption of innocence and deprived him of his constitutional right to a fair trial. This
case has been tried to the media to the extent that Judge Toomin's June 21, 2019 Order Granting
the Appointment of a Special Prosecutor was based in large part on information contained in
inaccurate media reports, as opposed to actual evidence.

But as it turns out, much of what was widely reported as "evidence" in this case has

already proven to be demonstrably false, including the police superintendent's public statements

* Rule 3.6(a) of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct provides that "[a] lawyer who is participating or has
participated in the investigation or litigation of a matter shall not make an extrajudicial statement that the lawyer
knows or reasonably should know will be disseminated by means of public communication and would pose a serious
and imminent threat to the fairness of an adjudicative proceeding in the matter." Comment 5 to the Rule explains
that there are "certain subjects that would pose a serious and imminent threat to the fairness of a proceeding,

particularly when they refer to . . . a criminal matter, or any other proceeding that could result in incarceration."
Comment 5 lists the following subjects as ones that would pose a serious and imminent threat to the fairness of a
proceeding:

(1) the character, credibility, reputation or criminal record of a party, suspect in a criminal
investigation or witness, or the identity of a witness, or the expected testimony of a party or
witness; ...

(4) any opinion as to the guilt or innocence of a defendant or suspect in a criminal case or
proceeding that could result in incarceration.

Cmt. 5, I1l. R. Prof'l C. 3.6(a).
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that (1) Mr. Smollett was dissatisfied with his salary on the Fox show ‘Empire,” (2) the $3,500
check from Mr. Smollett to Abimbola Osundairo was for the staged attack, and (3) Mr. Smollett
had sent himself a threatening letter one week prior to the attack. Moreover, a review of the
recently unsealed discovery reveals further false and misleading statements by the police:

Eddie Johnson, the police superintendent, said after Mr. Smollett’s arrest that one

of the Osundairo brothers had spoken with the actor on the phone about an hour

after the attack. But the search warrant records show their next phone call was

actually about 18 hours later. (A police spokesman, Anthony Guglielmi, said last

week that the superintendent had misspoken.)

Julia Jacobs, "Jussie Smollett Case: What Do We Know, and What’s Left to Investigate?," The
N.Y. Times (July 1, 2019), available at https://www.nytimes.com/2019/07/01/arts/jussie-
smollett-video-case.html.

The interests of justice require equalizing the playing field and allowing the public access
to all the information in this case, not just the information the Chicago Police Department has
selectively disclosed. As noted above, despite having released over 70 hours of video footage,
for some inexplicable reason, the Chicago Police Department has not released the videos of the
February 15, 2019 interviews of Abimbola and Olabinjo Osundairo while they were in police
custody. The public disclosure of the grand jury transcripts of the Osundairo brothers' testimony
is therefore in the interests of justice, both for Mr. Smollett individually as well as the citizens of
Cook County generally, and is far outweighed by any privacy concerns the brothers may have in
their grand jury testimony.

I
I

1

14
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WHEREFORE, Jussie Smollett, by his attorneys, Geragos & Geragos, respectfully

requests that this Court allow the immediate public disclosure of the grand jury transcripts of the

testimony of Abimbola Osundairo and Olabinjo Osundairo.

Dated: July 19, 2019

15

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Tina Glandian

Tina Glandian, Rule 707 Admitted
Mark J. Geragos, Rule 707 Admitted
Geragos & Geragos, APC

256 5th Avenue

New York, NY 10010

&

Geragos & Geragos, APC

644 South Figueroa Street

Los Angeles, CA 90017-3411
(213) 625-3900
tina@geragos.com
mark@geragos.com

Attorneys for Jussie Smollett
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY
COUNTY DEPARTMENT, CRIMINAL DIVISION

IN RE: APPOINTMENT OF A SPECIAL ) No.19 MR 00014
PROSECUTOR )
)  Hon.
ORDER

This cause coming before the Court on a Motion pursuant to 725 ILCS 5/112-6(c)(3) to
permit the immediate public disclosure of the transcripts of the grand jury testimony of
Abimbola Osundairo and Olabinjo Osundairo (“Motion”), due notice having been given and the
Court being fully advised in the premises, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Motion is
granted.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

ENTERED:

Circuit Court of Cook County
Criminal Division
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
CRIMINAL DIVISION

IN RE: APPOINTMENT OF A SPECIAL PROSECUTOR No. 19 MR 00014

RESPONSE OF PETITIONER
10
MOTION FOR SUBSTITUTION OF JUDGE FOR CAUSE

Comes now Petitioner, Sheila O’Brien, pro se, and subject to and alternatively to the
Information to Spread of Record filed July 25, 2019 and attached letter of July 24, 2019, and in

response to the Motion for Substitution of Judge for Cause filed by Jussie Smollett, states:

Petitioner incorporates the Information to Spread of Record filed July 25, 2019 and
attached letter of July 24, 2019 in this Response to the Motion for Substitution of Judge for

Cause.

Illinois Rules of Civil Procedure - not Illinois Rules of Criminal Procedure -
control this proceeding.

Smollett is incorrect in stating that 725 ILCS 5/114-5 (d) of the Illinois Statutes controls
in this proceeding. This is a civil proceeding — not a criminal proceeding. As such, 735 ILCS
5/2-1001 controls motions for substitution of judge in civil proceedings. Smollett and his

attorneys rely upon the wrong statute and thus, this motion is not well taken.

Further, in both Illinois criminal and Illinois civil rules of procedure, motions for

substitution of judge for cause must be supported by affidavit. Smollett’s motion is not
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supported by affidavit and as such, does not comply with the law of Illinois. Smollett has not

met his burden on this Motion for Substitution of Judge.

Respectfully Submitted,

Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro se

Sheila M. O’Brien

Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
Chicago, Illinois 60601
224.766.1904

SR266



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Sheila M. O’Brien, the undersigned, pro se, certifies that she sent an exact copy of
the above pleading/document Response of Petitioner to Motion for Substitution of Judge

for Cause filed by Jussie Smollett by electronic mail to the following before the hour of

5:00 p.m. on Thursday, July 25, 2019 to:

Kim Foxx, Cook County State's Attorney
Cathy McNeil Stein, ASA

Amy Crawford, ASA

50 W Washington St., Suite 500

Chicago, Illinois 60602
risa.lanier@cookcountyil.gov,
AMY.CRAWFORD@cookcountyil.gov
CATHYMCNEILSTEIN@cookcountyil.gov
jose.trujillo@cookcountyil.gov

Patricia Holmes, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Brian Watson, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
70 West Madison Street, Suite 2900

Chicago, Illinois 60602
pholmes@rshc-law.com

BWatson@rshc-law.com

Tina Glandian, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Mark J. Geragos, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Geragos & Geragos, APC

256 5th Avenue

New York, NY 10010

&

Geragos & Geragos, APC

644 South Figueroa Street

Los Angeles, CA 90017-3411
tina@geragos.com

mark@geragos.com

Valerie L. Hletko, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Scott Sakiyama, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Buckley LLP

2001 M Street NW, Suite 500

Washington, DC 20036

&

353 N Clark Street, Suite 3600

Chicago, IL 60654
vhletko@buckleyfirm.com
ssakiyama@buckleyfirm.com

Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro se
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Pro Se
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
CRIMINAL DIVISION

IN RE: APPOINTMENT OF A SPECIAL PROSECUTOR No. 19 MR 00014

RESPONSE OF PETITIONER
10
MOTION TO INTERVENE FILED BY JUSSIE SMOLLETT

Comes now Petitioner, Sheila O’Brien, pro se, and subject to and alternatively to the
Information to Spread of Record filed July 25, 2019 and attached letter of July 24, 2019, and in

response to the Motion to Intervene filed by Jussie Smollett, states:

Petitioner incorporates the Information to Spread of Record filed July 25, 2019 and

attached letter of July 24, 2019 in this Response to the Motion to Intervene.

[linois Statutes provide:

Sec. 2-408. Intervention. (a) Upon timely application anyone shall be permitted as of
right to intervene in an action: (1) when a statute confers an unconditional right to
intervene; or (2) when the representation of the applicant's interest by existing parties is
or may be inadequate and the applicant will or may be bound by an order or judgment in
the action; or (3) when the applicant is so situated as to be adversely affected by a
distribution or other disposition of property in the custody or subject to the control or
disposition of the court or a court officer. 735 ILCS 5/2-408) (from Ch. 110, par. 2-408.

Smollett’s Motion to Intervene is Untimely

Mr. Smollett is not surprised about these proceeding nor has he plead surprise. Smollett

has known about these proceedings from the filing of the original Petition for Appointment of a
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Special Prosecutor until this moment. Smollett and his attorneys from two law firms — the
Geragos & Geragos California/NY law firm and the Riley Shafer Holmes & Cancila Chicago
law firm received notice of these proceedings and received every pleading in this case. The
certificates of service of every pleading in this cause show that Geragos & Geragos and Riley
Safer received every pleading. (See attached Exhibits 1-10). Geragos & Geragos and Riley
Safer have communicated with the petitioner and other counsel on this case in numerous
emails. (See attached Exhibit 11 - 29).

Brian Watson of Riley Safer was present in court several times at hearings, stepped up to
the bench when the case was called, appeared before the court and identified himself as being
present for Mr. Smollett.

Smollett filed pleadings in this proceeding on April 30, 2019 styled Objections and

Motion to Quash Notice to Appear and Produce Pursuant to Supreme Court Rule 237

Directed to Jussie Smollett in opposition to pleadings of the petitioner. In that pleading,

Geragos & Geragos on behalf of Jussie Smollett, plead:

“Finally, there is no good cause to compel Mr. Smollett to appear at
this hearing or at any future hearing in this matter, and doing so would cause
him undue hardship. Even where a Rule 237 notice is proper, "[c]ompelling
the appearance of a party at trial pursuant to Rule 237(b) is a matter of the
court's discretion and not a mandatory requirement." Pros Corp. Mgmt. Savs.,
Inc. v. Ashley S. Rose, Ltd., 228 Ill. App. 3d 573, 581, 592 N.E.2d 609, 614
(1992). "A court's power to order a party to appear should only be exercised
for good cause and not to subject a party to harassment, oppression or
hardship." Id. (citing Pacemaker Food Stores, Inc. v. Seventh Mont Corp., 117 Ill.
App. 3d 636,648,453 N.E.2d 806, 815 (1983)); see also Oakview New Lenox
School Dist. No. 122 v. Ford Motor Co., App. 3 Dist.1978, 19 lll.Dec. 43, 61
lIl.App.3d 194, 378 N.E.2d 544.

On March 26, 2019, hours after the case against Mr. Smollett was
dismissed and the records ordered sealed, the Chicago Police Departmént
released a number of police reports pursuant to a Freedom of Information
Act FOIA request. Although certain identifying information of witnesses was
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redacted in these reports, Mr. Smollett's home address was not. As a result,
to ensure his safety and privacy, Mr. Smollett immediately moved out of his
apartment in Chicago.

As of March 27, 2019, Mr. Smollett has returned to California and he
does not currently maintain a residence in Chicago. Therefore, requiring Mr.
Smollett's appearance out of state in a matter in which he is not a party would
be an undue burden, particularly given the additional security measures
which would be required if he were compelled to travel to Chicago to attend
such a hearing.”

It is clear from this pleading of April 30, 2019 - filed by Smollett and Geragos &
Geragos - that Smollett and his attorneys had knowledge of these proceedings, were
conversant in the facts and status of the proceedings/pleadings and had formulated a legal
theory about his participation in these proceedings.

It is also clear that Mr. Smollett was requested to appear by Petitioner and participate
in these proceedings, could have appeared, could have been heard, but refused to appear and
participate and indeed, fought hard NOT to participate in these proceedings.

Mr. Smollett and his attorneys chose NOT to appear and participate throughout the
entirety of these proceedings, but approximately 55 days after the close of evidence at the
trial and on the last day of the 30 day time period after judgment has been rendered, they
appear in court and ask to be heard.

The original parties to this proceeding would be seriously prejudiced by allowing Mr.
Smollett to intervene because the entire matter would have to be re-tried. A re-trial would
take precious time away from the work of the courts, the work of the State’s attorney and
the time of the petitioner.

Smollett’s Motion to Intervene is untimely and not well taken.
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Smollett’s interest was adequately represented by the Office of the State’s Attorney
at all stages of these proceedings.

Mr. Smollett and the State’s Attorney have the same goal — to prevent the appointment
of a special prosecutor. They may have different reasons for the same goal, but their goal is
the same - no special prosecutor. The State’s Attorney adequately represented that goal in court
throughout these proceedings — moving to quash Rule 237 notices and subpoenas, filing motions
and argument in open court. Ms. Stein — the lead counsel for the State’s Attorney - is a graduate
of Harvard Law School and a worthy opponent. The court can take judicial notice of Ms. Stein’s
performance and the adequacy of the State’s attempts to deny the relief requested in the Petition
to Appoint a Special Prosecutor.

Smollett’s interests were adequately represented by the parties, specifically, the
Office of the State’s Attorney of Cook County; thus, Smollett has not prevailed in his

burden on this Motion to Intervene.

Respectfully Submitted,

Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro se

Sheila M. O’Brien

Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
Chicago, Illinois 60601
224.766.1904
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Sheila M. O’Brien, the undersigned, pro se, certifies that she sent an exact copy of the
above pleading/document Response of Petitioner to Motion to Intervene Filed by Jussie Smollett

by electronic mail to the following before the hour of 5:00 p.m. on Thursday, July 25, 2019

to:

Kim Foxx, Cook County State's Attorney
Cathy McNeil Stein, ASA

Amy Crawford, ASA

50 W Washington St., Suite 500

Chicago, Illinois 60602
risa.lanier@cookcountyil.gov,
AMY.CRAWFORD@cookcountyil.gov
CATHYMCNEILSTEIN@cookcountyil.gov
jose.trujillo@cookcountyil.gov

Patricia Holmes, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Brian Watson, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
70 West Madison Street, Suite 2900

Chicago, Illinois 60602
pholmes@rshc-law.com

BWatson@rshc-law.com

Sheila M. O’Brien

Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
Chicago, Illinois 60601

224.766.1904

Tina Glandian, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Mark J. Geragos, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Geragos & Geragos, APC

256 5th Avenue

New York, NY 10010

&

Geragos & Geragos, APC

644 South Figueroa Street

Los Angeles, CA 90017-3411
tina@geragos.com

mark(@geragos.com

Valerie L. Hletko, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Scott Sakiyama, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Buckley LLP

2001 M Street NW, Suite 500

Washington, DC 20036

&

353 N Clark Street, Suite 3600

Chicago, IL 60654
vhletko@buckleyfirm.com
ssakiyama@buckleyfirm.com

Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro se
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS

CRIMINAL DIVISION

IN RE: APPOINTMENT OF A SPECIAL PROSECUTOR

No. 19 MR 00014

RESPONSE OF PETITIONER

T0

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

Comes now Petitioner, Sheila O’Brien, pro se, and subject to and alternatively to the

Information to Spread of Record filed July 25, 2019 and attached letter of July 24, 2019, and in

response to the Motion for Reconsideration filed by Jussie Smollett, states:

Petitioner incorporates the Information to Spread of Record filed July 25, 2019 and

attached letter of July 24, 2019 in this Response to the Motion for Reconsideration.

Smollett’s Rambling Thirty (30) page Motion for Reconsideration is Fatally Flawed.

735 ILCS 5/2-1203 states:

(735 ILCS 5/2-1203) (from Ch. 110, par. 2-

1203)

Sec. 2-1203. Motions after judgment in non-

Jjury cases.

(a) In all cases tried without a jury, any
party may, within 30 days after the entry of the
judgment or within any further time the court may

allow within the 30 days or any extensions

thereof, file a motion for a rehearing, or a
retrial, or modification of the judgment or to

vacate the judgment or for other relief.

(b) Except as provided in subsection (a) of

Section 413 of the lllinois Marriage and

Dissolution of Marriage Act, a motion Ffiled in apt
time stays enforcement of the judgment except that
a judgment granting injunctive or declaratory
relief shall be stayed only by a court order that
follows a separate application that sets forth

Just cause for staying the enforcement.
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(Source: P.A. 95-902, eff. 1-1-09; 96-1072, eff.
1-1-11.)

Smollett is not a party and, thus this motion is not well taken.

Even if this Honorable Court were to grant Smollett’s Motion to Intervene, Smollett’s
Motion to Reconsider is not well taken. This Honorable Court is aware of the record in this
proceeding and evidence in this proceeding. Smollett’s Motion to Reconsider is so replete
with hearsay, misinformation, misconstruing of evidence and misstatements that it would take
Petitioner at least 60 pages to attack each and every sentence; further, Smollett’s Motion to

Reconsider has not met the burden necessary to be granted.

This Honorable Court knows the record, the law and the history of this proceeding.
Petitioner voices her objection to the Motion to Reconsider and trusts that this Honorable

Court needs no further comment from Petitioner.

Respectfully Submitted,

Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro se

Sheila M. O’Brien

Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
Chicago, Illinois 60601
224.766.1904
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Sheila M. O’Brien, the undersigned, pro se, certifies that she sent an exact copy of
the above pleading/document Response of Petitioner to Motion to Reconsider Filed by

Jussie Smollett_by electronic mail to the following before the hour of 5:00 p.m. on

Thursday, July 25, 2019 to:

Kim Foxx, Cook County State's Attorney
Cathy McNeil Stein, ASA

Amy Crawford, ASA

50 W Washington St., Suite 500

Chicago, Illinois 60602
risa.lanier@cookcountyil.gov,
AMY.CRAWFORD@cookcountyil.gov
CATHYMCNEILSTEIN@cookcountyil.gov
jose.trujillo@cookcountyil.gov

Patricia Holmes, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Brian Watson, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
70 West Madison Street, Suite 2900

Chicago, Illinois 60602
pholmes@rshc-law.com

BWatson@rshc-law.com

Tina Glandian, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Mark J. Geragos, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Geragos & Geragos, APC

256 5th Avenue

New York, NY 10010

&

Geragos & Geragos, APC

644 South Figueroa Street

Los Angeles, CA 90017-3411
tina@geragos.com

mark(@geragos.com

Valerie L. Hletko, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Scott Sakiyama, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Buckley LLP

2001 M Street NW, Suite 500

Washington, DC 20036

&

353 N Clark Street, Suite 3600

Chicago, IL 60654
vhletko@buckleyfirm.com
ssakiyama@buckleyfirm.com
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Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro se
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Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
CRIMINAL DIVISION

IN RE: APPOINTMENT OF A SPECIAL PROSECUTOR No. 19 MR 00014

RESPONSE OF PETITIONER
T0
MOTION TO DISCLOSE TRANSCRIPTS OF GRAND JURY TESTIMONY

Comes now Petitioner, Sheila O’Brien, pro se, and subject to and alternatively to the
Information to Spread of Record filed July 25, 2019 and attached letter of July 24, 2019, and in

response to the Motion to Disclose Transcripts of Grand Jury Testimony filed by Jussie Smollett,

states:

Petitioner incorporates Information to Spread of Record filed July 25, 2019 and attached

letter of July 24, 2019 into this Response to Motion to Disclose Transcripts.

Testimony before the Grand Jury is not the subject of this proceeding.

Although the Circuit Courts of Illinois are courts of general jurisdiction, the initial
pleadings in any proceeding inform the court of the matter to be litigated. This petition
was brought pursuant to 55 ILCS 5/3-9008 — a specific statute for a specific purpose. The
secrecy of the grand jury is not before this court. There has been no motion for joinder

of claims from other proceedings. Accordingly, this motion is not well taken.
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Respectfully Submitted,

Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro se

Sheila M. O’Brien

Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
Chicago, Illinois 60601
224.766.1904
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Sheila M. O’Brien, the undersigned, pro se, certifies that she sent an exact copy of
the above pleading/document Response of Petitioner to Motion to Disclose Transcripts of

Grand Jury Testimony_by electronic mail to the following before the hour of 5:00 p.m. on

Thursday, July 25, 2019 to:

Kim Foxx, State's Attorney

Cathy McNeil Stein, ASA

Amy Crawford, ASA

50 W Washington St., Suite 500
Chicago, Illinois 60602
risa.lanier@cookcountyil.gov,
AMY.CRAWFORD@cookcountyil.gov
CATHYMCNEILSTEIN@cookcountyil.gov
jose.trujillo@cookcountyil.gov

Patricia Holmes, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Brian Watson, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
70 West Madison Street, Suite 2900

Chicago, Illinois 60602
pholmes@rshc-law.com

BWatson@rshc-law.com

Sheila M. O’Brien

Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
Chicago, Illinois 60601

224.766.1904

Tina Glandian, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Mark J. Geragos, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Geragos & Geragos, APC

256 5th Avenue

New York, NY 10010

&

Geragos & Geragos, APC

644 South Figueroa Street

Los Angeles, CA 90017-3411
tina@geragos.com

mark(@geragos.com

Valerie L. Hletko, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Scott Sakiyama, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Buckley LLP

2001 M Street NW, Suite 500

Washington, DC 20036

&

353 N Clark Street, Suite 3600

Chicago, IL 60654
vhletko@buckleyfirm.com
ssakiyama@buckleyfirm.com

Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro se
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS
CRIMINAL DIVISION

IN RE: APPOINTMENT OF A SPECIAL PROSECUTOR No. 19 MR 00014

Information to Spread of Record Concerning
Pleadings Filed on July 19, 2019

Comes now Petitioner, Sheila M. O’Brien, pro se, and spreads of record the

following information:

Neither Glandian, Geragos or the Geragos law firm
are licensed to practice law in Illinois.

Petitioner incorporates by reference into this Information to Spread of Record,and

attaches here, the letter sent to the court on July 24, 2019.

Glandian, Geragos and the Geragos law firm
have a conflict of interest with Smollett as alleged in their own pleadings.

In Smollett’s Motion to Disclose Transcripts of Grand Jury Testimony, Smollett
through his attorneys Glandian, Geragos and Geragos & Geragos, asks this court to allow
Smollett and his attorneys to disclose the grand jury testimony of the Osundairo brothers “for

truth”. His attorneys allege:

Additionally, on April 23, 2019, the Osundairo brothers filed a civil
complaint in the United States District Court for the Northern District of lllinois,
Eastern Division, styled Olabinjo Osundairo, et al. v. Mark Geragos, et al., Case No.
19-cv-2727, against Mr. Smollett’s attorneys Mark Geragos, Tina Glandian, and
the Geragos & Geragos Law Firm for defamation, false light, and respondeat
superior based on statements allegedly made in the course of their
representation of Mr. Smollett. In the Complaint, the Osundairo brothers
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specifically allege that "[o]n February 20, 2019, Plaintiffs testified truthfully before
a grand jury regarding the facts of what happened on or around January 29,
2019." Complaint, 4 17, available at
https://dig.abclocal.go.com/wls/documents/2019/042319-wls-smollett-suit.pdf.

Mr. Smollett is in possession of the grand jury transcripts in question, which show
inconsistencies between the Osundairo brothers' testimony under oath and
public statements made about this matter, as well as certain other evidence that
has now been publicly disclosed. Indeed, grand jury transcripts can be used for a
variety of purposes during civil depositions and at trial for impeachment
purposes. See, e.qg., Sarbaugh, 552 F.2d at 776-77; lll. v. Harper & Row Publishers,
Inc., 50 F.R.D. 37, 40 (N.D. Ill. 1969); see, e.g., People v. Wurster, 83 Ill. App. 3d
399, 407 (1980) (allowing the State to use a portion of defendant's grand jury
testimony for purposes of impeachment during cross-examination of the
defendant). Therefore, disclosure of the Osundairo brothers' testimony is material
and necessary to Mr. Smollett's defense and the ascertainment of the truth.

RULE 1.7: CONFLICT OF INTEREST: CURRENT CLIENTS

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not represent a client if the
representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest. A concurrent conflict of interest exists if:

(2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially
limited by the lawyer’s responsibilities to another client, a former client or a third person or by
a personal interest of the lawyer.

Comments: Personal Interest Conflicts

[10] The lawyer’s own interests should not be permitted to have an adverse effect on
representation of a client. For example, if the probity of a lawyer’s own conduct in a transaction is
in serious question, it may be difficult or impossible for the lawyer to give a client detached advice.

Trial courts are instructed to engage in a two-step analysis to determine whether disqualifications
of counsel is warranted. Initially the trial court must determine whether there is an actual conflict
of interest or a showing of a "serious potential for conflict" between the interests of an attorney
and his client. People v. Ortega, 2019 111.2d 354, 361 (2004). Then, if it is determined that a
conflict or serious potential conflict exists, the trial court must determine whether the presumption
in favor of defendant's chosen counsel is overcome by the conflict after considering the following
factors: "(1) the defendant's interest in having the undivided loyalty of counsel: (2) the State's right
to a fair trial in which defense counsel acts ethically and does not use confidential information to
attack a State's witness; (3) the appearance of impropriety should the jury learn of the conflict; (4)
the probability that continued representation by counsel of choice will provide grounds for
overturning a conviction. Ortega 209 I11.2d at 361-62.
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Here, the conflict is obvious. Glandian, Geragos and Geragos & Geragos have a personal
interest in the outcome of the Motion to Disclose Transcript of Grand Jury Testimony of the
Osundairo brothers — Glandian and Geragos have been sued by the brothers and are opposing

them and hope to put the veracity of the brothers at issue.

Are Glandian and Geragos filing this Motion to Disclose Transcript of Grand Jury
Testimony to benefit their client Smollett or to benefit themselves? If there is any question, the
conflict of Glandian and Geragos is at issue and they are precluded from representing Smollett in

any proceedings involving the Osundairo brothers.

Petitioner spreads this information of record in this proceeding.

Respectfully Submitted,

Sheila M. O’Brien
Petitioner, pro se

Sheila M. O’Brien

Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
Chicago, Illinois 60601
224.766.1904
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Sheila M. O’Brien, the undersigned, pro se, certifies that she sent an exact
copy of the above pleading/document Information to Spread of Record Concerning

Pleadings Filed on July 19, 2019 by electronic mail to the following before the hour

of 5:00 p.m. on Thursday, July 25, 2019 to:

Kim Foxx, Cook County State's Attorney
Cathy McNeil Stein, ASA

Amy Crawford, ASA

50 W Washington St., Suite 500

Chicago, Illinois 60602
risa.lanier@cookcountyil.gov,
AMY.CRAWFORD@cookcountyil.gov
CATHYMCNEILSTEIN@cookcountyil.gov
jose.trujillo@cookcountyil.gov

Patricia Holmes, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Brian Watson, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
70 West Madison Street, Suite 2900

Chicago, Illinois 60602
pholmes@rshc-law.com

BWatson@rshc-law.com

Sheila M. O’Brien

Pro Se

360 E. Randolph #1801
Chicago, Illinois 60601

Tina Glandian, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Mark J. Geragos, Attorney for Jussie Smollett
Geragos & Geragos, APC

256 5th Avenue

New York, NY 10010

&

Geragos & Geragos, APC

644 South Figueroa Street

Los Angeles, CA 90017-3411
tina@geragos.com

mark(@geragos.com

Valerie L. Hletko, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Scott Sakiyama, Attorney for Tina Tchen
Buckley LLP

2001 M Street NW, Suite 500

Washington, DC 20036

&

353 N Clark Street, Suite 3600

Chicago, IL 60654
vhletko@buckleyfirm.com
ssakiyama@buckleyfirm.com

Sheila M. O’Brien, Pro se
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STATE OF ILLINOIS

)
) SS.
COUNTY OF COOK )
Special Grand Jury No. 2019 MR 00014 of the
Circuit Court of Cook County,

The Grand Jurors chosen, selected and sworn, in and for the County of Cook, in the State of Illinois,
in the name and by the authority of the People of the State of Illinois, upon their oaths present that,
on or about January 29, 2019, at and within the County of Cook:

Jussie Smollett
Committed the offense of’ DISORDERLY CONDUCT

in that HE, KNOWINGLY TRANSMITTED OR CAUSED TO BE TRANSMITTED, IN ANY
MANNER, TO ANY PEACE OFFICER, TO WIT: CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER
MUHAMMED BAIG, A REPORT TO THE EFFECT THAT AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN
COMMITTED, TO WIT: ON JANUARY 29, 2019, AT AROUND 2:45 AM., JUSSIE
SMOLLETT REPORTED, IN PERSON, THAT HE WAS THE VICTIM OF A HATE CRIME,
A VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 12-7.1(a) OF THE ILLINOIS COMPILED
STATUTES, REPORTING THAT ON JANUARY 29,2019, AT APPROXIMATELY 2:00 A.M.,,
NEAR 341 EAST LOWER NORTH WATER STREET, IN CHICAGO, COOK COUNTY,
ILLINOIS, TWO UNKNOWN MALES APPROACHED JUSSIE SMOLLETT, CALLED
JUSSIE SMOLLETT RACIAL AND HOMOPHOBIC SLURS, AND STRUCK JUSSIE
SMOLLETT, AND THE TWO UNKNOWN MALES MADE PHYSICAL CONTACT OF AN
INSULTING OR PROVOKING NATURE WITH JUSSIE SMOLLETT BY PUTTING A ROPE
AROUND HIS NECK, AND JUSSIE SMOLLETT KNEW THAT AT THE TIME OF THIS
TRANSMISSION THERE WAS NO REASONABLE GROUND FOR BELIEVING THAT
SUCH AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN COMMITTED,

IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 26-1(a)(4) / (12-7.1(a)) OF ILLINOIS
COMPILED STATUTES ACT 1992 AS AMENDED AND,

contrary to the Statute and against the peace and dignity of the same People of the State of Illinois.

COUNT NUMBER: 1
CASE NUMBER: 20 CR 03050-01

FEE DL 200
DORUYU?BROWN

CLERK OF CIRCUIT COMRT
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The Grand Jurors chosen, selected and sworn, in and for the County of Cook, in the State of Illinois,
“in the name and by the authority of the People of the State of Illinois, upon their oaths present that,
on or about January 29, 2019, at and within the County of Cook:

Jussie Smollett
Committed the offense of’ DISORDERLY CONDUCT

in that HE, KNOWINGLY TRANSMITTED OR CAUSED TO BE TRANSMITTED, IN ANY
MANNER, TO ANY PEACE OFFICER, TO WIT: CHICAGO POLICE OFFICER
MUHAMMED BAIG, A REPORT TO THE EFFECT THAT AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN
COMMITTED, TO WIT: ON JANUARY 29, 2019, AT AROUND 2:45 AM., JUSSIE
SMOLLETT REPORTED, IN PERSON, THAT HE WAS THE VICTIM OF A BATTERY, A
VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 12-3(a)(2) OF THE ILLINOIS COMPILED
STATUTES, REPORTING THAT ON JANUARY 29,2019, AT APPROXIMATELY 2:00 A.M.,
NEAR 341 EAST LOWER NORTH WATER STREET, IN CHICAGO, COOK COUNTY,
ILLINOIS, TWO UNKNOWN MALES APPROACHED JUSSIE SMOLLETT AND STRUCK
JUSSIE SMOLLETT, AND THE TWO UNKNOWN MALES MADE PHYSICAL CONTACT
OF AN INSULTING OR PROVOKING NATURE WITH JUSSIE SMOLLETT, POURING AN
UNKNOWN CHEMICAL SUBSTANCE, BELIEVED TO BE BLEACH, ONTO JUSSIE
SMOLLETT, AND JUSSIE SMOLLETT KNEW THAT AT THE TIME OF THIS
TRANSMISSION THERE WAS NO REASONABLE GROUND FOR BELIEVING THAT
SUCH AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN COMMITTED,

IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 26-l(a)(4) / (12-3(a)) OF ILLINOIS
COMPILED STATUTES ACT 1992 AS AMENDED AND,

contrary to the Statute and against the peace and dignity of the same People of the State of Illinois.

COUNT NUMBER: 2
CASE NUMBER: 20 CR 03050-01

EERR
DORGY. Y BROWN

CLERK OF CGIRCUIT COYRT
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The Grand Jurors chosen, selected and sworn, in and for the County of Cook, in the State of Illinois,
in the name and by the authority of the People of the State of Illinois, upon their oaths present that
on or about January 29, 2019, at and within the County of Cook:

Jussie Smollett
Committed the offense of: DISORDERLY CONDUCT

in that HE, KNOWINGLY TRANSMITTED OR CAUSED TO BE TRANSMITTED, IN ANY
MANNER, TO ANY PEACE OFFICER, TO WIT: CHICAGO POLICE DETECTIVE
KIMBERLY MURRAY, A REPORT TO THE EFFECT THAT AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN
COMMITTED, TO WIT: ON JANUARY 29, 2019, AT AROUND 5:55 AM., JUSSIE
SMOLLETT REPORTED, IN PERSON, THAT HE WAS THE VICTIM OF A HATE CRIME,
A VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 12-7.1(a) OF THE ILLINOIS COMPILED
STATUTES, REPORTING THAT ON JANUARY 29, 2019, AT APPROXIMATELY 2:00 AM,
NEAR THE INTERSECTION OF NEW STREET AND LOWER NORTH WATER STREET,
IN CHICAGO, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, JUSSIE SMOLLETT HAD RACIAL AND
HOMOPHOBIC SLURS CALLED OUT AT HIM, AND TWO UNKNOWN OFFENDERS
APPROACHED JUSSIE SMOLLETT FROM BEHIND, AND JUSSIE SMOLLETT WAS
PUNCHED IN THE FACE AND KICKED IN THE BACK, CAUSING BODILY HARM TO
JUSSIE SMOLLETT, AND JUSSIE SMOLLETT KNEW THAT AT THE TIME OF THIS
TRANSMISSION THERE WAS NO REASONABLE GROUND FOR BELIEVING THAT
SUCH AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN COMMITTED,

IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 26-1(a)(4) / (12-7.1(a)) OF ILLINOIS
COMPILED STATUTES ACT 1992 AS AMENDED AND,

contrary to the Statute and against the peace and dignity of the same People of the State of Illinois.

COUNT NUMBER: 3
CASE NUMBER: 20 CR 03050-01

DORG iy HROWN

GLERK OF CIRCUIT COURT
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The Grand Jurors chosen, selected and sworn, in and for the County of Cook, in the State of Illinois,
in the name and by the authority of the People of the State of Illinois, upon their oaths present that
on or about January 29, 2019, at and within the County of Cook:

Jussie Smollett
Committed the offense of: DISORDERLY CONDUCT

in that HE, KNOWINGLY TRANSMITTED OR CAUSED TO BE TRANSMITTED, IN ANY
MANNER, TO ANY PEACE OFFICER, TO WIT: CHICAGO POLICE DETECTIVE
KIMBERLY MURRAY, A REPORT TO THE EFFECT THAT AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN
COMMITTED, TO WIT: ON JANUARY 29, 2019, AT AROUND 5:55 A.M., JUSSIE
SMOLLETT REPORTED, IN PERSON, THAT HE WAS THE VICTIM OF A BATTERY, A
VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 12-3(a)(1) OF THE ILLINOIS COMPILED
STATUTES, REPORTING THAT ON JANUARY 29, 2019, AT APPROXIMATELY 2:00 AM,
NEAR THE INTERSECTION OF NEW STREET AND LOWER NORTH WATER STREET,
IN CHICAGO, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, TWO UNKNOWN OFFENDERS
APPROACHED JUSSIE SMOLLETT FROM BEHIND, AND JUSSIE SMOLLETT WAS
PUNCHED IN THE FACE AND KICKED IN THE BACK, CAUSING BODILY HARM TO
JUSSIE SMOLLETT, AND JUSSIE SMOLLETT KNEW THAT AT THE TIME OF THIS
TRANSMISSION THERE WAS NO REASONABLE GROUND FOR BELIEVING THAT
SUCH AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN COMMITTED,

IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 26-l(a)(4) / (12-3(a)) OF ILLINOIS
COMPILED STATUTES ACT 1992 AS AMENDED AND,

contrary to the Statute and against the peace and dignity of the same People of the State of Tllinois.

COUNT NUMBER: 4
CASE NUMBER: 20 CR 03050-01

DORGYI Y HROWN

GLERIK OF CIRGCUIT COURT
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The Grand Jurors chosen, selected and sworn, in and for the County of Cook, in the State of Illinois,
in the name and by the authority of the People of the State of Illinois, upon their oaths present that
on or about January 29, 2019, at and within the County of Cook:

Jussie Smollett
Committed the offense of: DISORDERLY CONDUCT

in that HE, KNOWINGLY TRANSMITTED OR CAUSED TO BE TRANSMITTED, IN ANY
MANNER, TO ANY PEACE OFFICER, TO WIT: CHICAGO POLICE DETECTIVE
KIMBERLY MURRAY, A REPORT TO THE EFFECT THAT AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN
COMMITTED, TO WIT: ON JANUARY 29, 2019, AT AROUND 7:15 P.M., JUSSIE
SMOLLETT REPORTED, IN PERSON, THAT HE WAS THE VICTIM OF A BATTERY, A
VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 12-3(a)(1) OF THE ILLINOIS COMPILED
'STATUTES, REPORTING THAT ON JANUARY 29, 2019, AT APPROXIMATELY 2:00 AM,
NEAR THE INTERSECTION OF NEW STREET AND LOWER NORTH WATER STREET,
IN CHICAGO, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, TWO UNKNOWN OFFENDERS
APPROACHED JUSSIE SMOLLETT FROM BEHIND AND ENGAGED IN A PHYSICAL
ALTERCATION WITH JUSSIE SMOLLETT, CAUSING BODILY HARM TO JUSSIE
SMOLLETT, AND JUSSIE SMOLLETT KNEW THAT AT THE TIME OF THIS
TRANSMISSION THERE WAS NO REASONABLE GROUND FOR BELIEVING THAT
SUCH AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN COMMITTED,

IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 26-1(a)(4) / (12-3(a)) OF ILLINOIS
COMPILED STATUTES ACT 1992 AS AMENDED AND,

contrary to the Statute and against the peace and dignity of the same People of the State of Illinois.

COUNT NUMBER: 5
CASE NUMBER: 20 CR 03050-01

DorGyiy HROWN

CLERK OF clrouly COURT

SR377




The Grand Jurors chosen, selected and sworn, in and for the County of Cook, in the State of Illinois,
in the name and by the authority of the People of the State of Illinois, upon their oaths present that
on or about February 14, 2019, at and within the County of Cook:

Jussie Smollett
Committed the offense of: DISORDERLY CONDUCT

in that HE, KNOWINGLY TRANSMITTED OR CAUSED TO BE TRANSMITTED, IN ANY
MANNER, TO ANY PEACE OFFICER, TO WIT: CHICAGO POLICE DETECTIVE ROBERT
GRAVES, A REPORT TO THE EFFECT THAT AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN COMMITTED, TO
WIT: ON FEBRUARY 14, 2019, AT AROUND 12:15 P.M., JUSSIE SMOLLETT REPORTED,
IN PERSON, THAT HE WAS THE VICTIM OF AN AGGRAVATED BATTERY, A
VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 12-3.05(f)(2) OF THE ILLINOIS
COMPILED STATUTES, REPORTING THAT ON JANUARY 29, 2019, NEAR 341 EAST
LOWER NORTH WATER STREET, IN CHICAGO, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, TWO
UNKNOWN MALES, ONE OF WHOM WORE A MASK, APPROACHED JUSSIE
SMOLLETT AND ENGAGED IN A PHYSICAL ALTERCATION WITH JUSSIE SMOLLETT,
AND THE TWO UNKNOWN MALES MADE PHYSICAL CONTACT OF AN INSULTING
OR PROVOKING NATURE WITH JUSSIE SMOLLETT BY PUTTING A ROPE AROUND
HIS NECK, AND JUSSIE SMOLLETT KNEW THAT AT THE TIME OF THIS
TRANSMISSION THERE WAS NO REASONABLE GROUND FOR BELIEVING THAT
SUCH AN OFFENSE HAD BEEN COMMITTED,

IN VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 720 ACT 5 SECTION 26-I(a)(4) / (12-3.05(f)(2)) OF ILLINOIS
COMPILED STATUTES ACT 1992 AS AMENDED AND,

contrary to the Statute and against the peace and dignity of the same People of the State of Illinois.

COUNT NUMBER: 6
CASE NUMBER: 20 CR 03050-01

L2
DORGYY UROWN

GLERIK OF CIRGCUIT COMRT
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SPECIAL GRAND JURY NO. 2019 MR 00014
General No. 20 CR 03050-01

Circuit Court of Cook County
County Department
Criminal Division
Special Grand Jury No. 2019 MR 00014

The People of the State of Illinois

V.
Jussie Smollett FIRoL L e
INDICTMENT FOR DR ok e ROMIN
DISORDERLY CONDUCT
A TRUE BILL

rson of the Grand Jury
WITNESS

Forepe

Investigator Thomas C. Wilson, Office of the Independent Inspector General, Cook County,
Ilinois

Detective Michael Theis, Chicago Police Department

Filed [eBouAA Yy || ,2020
Bail $ Wt 2w g, Clerk
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